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UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K

(Mark One)
ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT

OF 1934
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013

OR

O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE
ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from to

Commission file number: 333-193639-02

APX Group Holdings, Inc.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its chaefr)

DELAWARE 46-1304852
State or other jurisdiction of (I.R.S. Employer
incorporation or organization Identification No.)

4931 North 300 Wes
Provo, UT 84604

(Address of principal executive offices (Zip Code)

Registrant’s telephone number, including area code(801) 377-9111

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) dfie Act: NONE

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) ¢iie Act: NONE

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a welbwn seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405edb#turities Act.  Yed No
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is notuieed to file reports pursuant to Section 13 orti®ecl5(d) of the Act. Yes[d No
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant € filed all reports required to be filed by Sewti® or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for sstobrter period that the registrant was requirdilésuch reports), and (2) has been subjec
to such filing requirements for the past 90 day¥es [ No

(Note: From January 1, 2014 until the effectiverefdhe registrant’s Registration Statement on F8rdh (File No. 333t93639) on February
2014, the registrant was a voluntary filer not sgbjo the filing requirements of Section 13 ord)5{f the Exchange Act; as a voluntary fi



the registrant filed all reports required to bediby Section 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act dutire preceding 12 months (or for such shi
period that the registrant would have been requindde such reports) as if it were subject totstiing requirements.)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant ldsstted electronically and posted on its corpo¥atb site, if any, every Interactive Data
File required to be submitted and posted pursuaRile 405 of Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this ¢bgpduring the preceding 12 months (or
for such shorter period that the registrant wasired to submit and post such files). Y&d No O

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquilets pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K (828% of this chapter) is not contained
herein, and will not be contained, to the beskgistrant's knowledge, in definitive proxy or infoation statements incorporated by reference
in Part Ill of this Form 10-K or any amendmenthgstForm 10-K.

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantlerge accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, maccelerated filer or a smaller reporting
company. See the definitions of “large acceleréited” “accelerated filer” and “smaller reportirgpmpany” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange
Act. (Check one):

Large accelerated file [J Accelerated filel O

Non-accelerated file (Do not check if a smaller reporting compa Smaller reporting compar [
Indicate by check mark whether the registrantskell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Actyes [ No

The aggregate market value of voting common stettt hy non-affiliates of the registrant as of J80e2013, the last business day of the
registrant’s most recently completed second figcalrter, was zero.

As of March 24, 2014, there were 100 shares ofégestrant’'s common stock par value $0.01 per shssaed and outstanding.
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CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENT S

This annual report on Form 10-K includes forwardkimg statements regarding, among other thingsplaurs, strategies
and prospects, both business and financial. Thasengents are based on the beliefs and assumpfias management. Although we believe
that our plans, intentions and expectations redlat or suggested by these forward-looking statésn@re reasonable, we cannot assure you
that we will achieve or realize these plans, inters or expectations. Forward-looking statemenddraterently subject to risks, uncertainties
and assumptions. Generally, statements that argistotical facts, including statements concerrongpossible or assumed future actions,
business strategies, events or results of opestaye forwardeoking statements. These statements may be pradsgéollowed by or includ
the words “believes,” “estimates,” “expects,” “peojs,” “forecasts,” “may,” “will,” “should,” “seek$ “plans,” “scheduled,” “anticipates” or
“intends” or similar expressions.

Forward-looking statements are not guaranteesrfdqmeance. You should not put undue reliance osdhstatements which
speak only as of this date hereof. You should wtdad that the following important factors, in amudi to those discussed in “Risk Factors”
and elsewhere in this annual report on Form 10eki|ccaffect our future results and could causedtresults or other outcomes to differ
materially from those expressed or implied in aarard-looking statements:

. risks of the security and home automation itrguisncluding risks of and publicity surroundinlget sales, subscriber
origination and retention proce:

. the highly competitive nature of the securitgldnome automation industry and product introdungtiand promotional
activity by our competitors

. litigation, complaints or adverse publicit

. the impact of changes in consumer spendin@ett consumer preferences, local, regional, atidrred economic
conditions, crime, weather, demographic trendseangloyee availability

. adverse publicity and product liability clairr

. increases and/or decreases in utility and athergy costs, increased costs related to utitiyozernmental
requirements; an

. cost increases or shortages in security and hotoeenation technology products or compone

In addition, the origination and retention of nawbscribers will depend on various factors, inclgglibut not limited to,
market availability, subscriber interest, the aaaility of suitable components, the negotiatioraofeptable contract terms with subscribers,
local permitting, licensing and regulatory comptianand our ability to manage anticipated expanaiahto hire, train and retain personnel,
financial viability of subscribers and general emmic conditions.

These and other factors that could cause actualtsde differ from those implied by the forwardsking statements in this annual
report on Form 10-K are more fully described in‘tRésk Factors” section this annual report on FAi®aK. The risks described in “Risk
Factors” are not exhaustive. Other sections ofahisual report on Form 10-K describe additionaldiecthat could adversely affect our
business, financial condition or results of operagi New risk factors emerge from time to time &gl not possible for us to predict all such
risk factors, nor can we assess the impact ofiah sisk factors on our business or the extenthizlvany factor or combination of factors may
cause actual results to differ materially from #hesntained in any forward-looking statements.féivard-looking statements attributable to
us or persons acting on our behalf are expresslifepd in their entirety by the foregoing cautiopatatements. We undertake no obligatior
update or revise publicly any forward-looking staénts, whether as a result of new information,reievents or otherwise.

BASIS OF PRESENTATION

On November 16, 2012, APX Group, Inc. and two shittorical affiliates, V Solar Holdings, Inc. @&r”) and 2GIG
Technologies, Inc. (“2GIG"), were acquired by amastor group (collectively, the “Investors”) comg@d of certain investment funds affiliated
with Blackstone Capital Partners VI L.P. (“Blackstd or the “Sponsor”), and certain co-investors armhagement investors. This acquisition
was accomplished through certain mergers and tetatirganization transactions (collectively, theeiiger”) pursuant to which each of APX
Group, Inc., Solar and 2GIG became indirect whollyaed subsidiaries of 313 Acquisition LLC (“Acquisn LLC"), an entity wholly-owned
by the Investors. Upon the consummation of the MergPX Group, Inc. and 2GIG became consolidatésisiiaries of APX Group Holdings,
Inc. (“Holdings” or “Parent Guarantor”), which iorh is wholly-owned by APX Parent Holdco, Inc., watin turn is wholly-owned by
Acquisition LLC, and Solar became a direct whollyreed subsidiary of Acquisition LLC. Acquisition LLLG\PX Parent Holdco, Inc. and
Parent Guarantor have no independent operationg/arelformed for the purpose of facilitating theriyter.

The Merger, the equity investment by the Investensering into our revolving credit facility and®0 million of borrowings
thereunder, the issuance of $925.0 million aggeeganhcipal amount of 6.375% Senior Secured Notes2aD19 (the “2019 notes”) and $380.0
million aggregate principal amount of 8.75% semiotes due 2020 (the “2020 notes”) and the paymiergiated fees and expenses are
collectively referred to in this annual report corfa 10-K as the “Transactions.” In May 2013, wauess and sold an additional $200.0 million
aggregate principal amount of the 2020 notes. ®fiating is referred to in this annual report omfdL(-K as the*May 2013 Notes Offerin”



In December 2013, we issued and sold $250.0 miliiggregate principal amount of the outstanding 26#8s. That offering is
referred to in this annual report on Form 10-Kles‘December 2013 Notes Offering” (and togethehwlie May 2013 Notes Offering, the
“2013 Notes Offerings”).

Unless the context suggests otherwise, referenddssi annual report on Form 10-K to “Vivifit” the “Company,” “we,” “us” and
“our” refer (1) prior to the Merger, to APX Grouimc. and its subsidiaries and 2GIG and Solar, whiehe consolidated variable interest
entities prior to the Merger and (2) after the Mardo the Parent Guarantor and its subsidiametyding 2GIG to the date of the 2GIG Sale
defined below). References to the “Issuer” refeAlRX Group, Inc., exclusive of its subsidiariesfé&ences to “Parent Guarantor” refer to
Holdings, exclusive of its subsidiaries.

Our historical and pro forma results of operatiprier to the Merger include the results of Solanjet was considered a variable
interest entity. As a result of the Merger, whitd&8 remains a variable interest entity, we ardonger its primary beneficiary. Accordingly,
Solar is no longer required to be included in thesplidated financial statements of the Companwdidition, the historical and pro forma
financial information included in this annual repon Form 10K include the results of operations of 2GIG up thgl April 1, 2013, which we
the date we completed the sale of 2GIG and itsidiang (the “2GIG Sale”) to Nortek, Inc. (“Nortek”)n connection with the 2GIG Sale, we
entered into a five-year supply agreement with 2@@suant to which they will be the exclusive pdav of our control panel requirements,
subject to certain exceptions as provided in thppluagreement. Due to our continuing involvemeith\2GIG under the supply agreement, it
is not considered a discontinued operation. Seendgament’s Discussion and Analysis of Financialdion and Results of Operations—
Recent Transactions.” Solar and 2GIG do not antneil provide any credit support for any of ourebtkedness, including indebtedness
incurred under our revolving credit facility, oudI9 notes or our 2020 notes.

The consolidated financial statements for periagsgding the Merger are presented for APX Group,dnd its wholly-owned
subsidiaries, as well as Solar, 2GIG and theireetye subsidiaries (the “Predecessor Period” oedBcessor” as context requires). The
consolidated financial statements for periods sedicg the Merger present the financial position eesililts of operations of Parent Guarantor
and its wholly-owned subsidiaries (“the Successmidel” or “Successor” as context requires). Theit@ddconsolidated financial statements for
the year ended December 31, 2012 are presentéddqgreriods: the Predecessor Period from Janua@12 through November 16, 2012, anc
the Successor Period from November 17 through Dbee8il, 2012, which relate to the period precethiegMerger and the
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period succeeding the Merger, respectively. Thanfimal position and results of operations of thecggsor are not comparable to the financial
position and results of operations of the Prederedise to the Merger and the application of purefa=zcounting in accordance with
Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 8@\Isiness Combinations

The unaudited pro forma statement of operationghi®year ended December 31, 2012 (“Pro Forma Yé&as been prepared to
give pro forma effect to the Transactions as if/thad occurred on January 1, 2012. The unauditedopma consolidated statement of
operations data included in this annual report om10-K does not give effect to the 2013 Notesfis.

The pro forma financial information is for inforni@atal purposes only and should not be considerdidative of actual results that
would have been achieved had the Transactionslgcheen consummated on the dates indicated angbtipurport to indicate results of
operations as of any future date or for any fupggod. See “Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Infoforat

The term “attrition” as used in this annual repmitForm 10-K refers to the aggregate number of eléadt subscribers during a
period divided by the monthly weighted average nends total subscribers for such period. Subscsilaee considered cancelled when they
terminate in accordance with the terms of theirtiam, are terminated by us or if payment from ssuibscribers is deemed uncollectible (120
days past due). Sales of contracts to third paatiglscertain subscriber residential moves are drecldirom the attrition calculation. The term
“CAGR” as used in this annual report on Form 10efers to the compound annual growth rate overpieeiied period. The term “net
subscriber acquisition costs” as used in this ahmymrt on Form 10-K refers to the gross costgenerate and install a subscriber net of any
fees collected at the time of the contract signiftge term “IRR” means the internal rate of retuem pubscriber calculated based on our
estimates and assumptions related to net subsertieiisition cost per subscriber, net servicing pes subscriber, average RMR per new
subscriber and attrition. The term “RMR” is theuging monthly revenue billed to a subscriber. Téren “total RMR” is the aggregate RMR
billed to all subscribers. The term “total subser#j is the aggregate number of our active subsisiat the end of a given period. The term
“average RMR per subscriber” is the total RMR déddby the total subscribers. This is also commoefigrred to as Average Revenue per
User, or “ARPU.” The term “average RMR per new suiiier” is the aggregate RMR for new subscribeigioated during a period divided by
the number of new subscribers originated durindy geriod.

Unless specified otherwise, amounts in this anre@drt on Form 10-K are presented in U.S. dolefined terms in the financial
statements have the meanings ascribed to thene ifindincial statements.
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ITEM1. BUSINESS

Company Overview

We are one of the largest residential securitytsmia companies and one of the largest and fagtesting home automation
services providers in North America. In Februarg20we were recognized by Forbes magazine as oAmefica’'s Most Promising
Companies. Our fully integrated and remotely adbéssesidential services platform offers subsaste suite of products and services that
includes interactive security, life-safety, enenggnagement and home automation. We utilize a deatitect-tohome sales model to origin:
a majority of our new subscribers, which allowscaatrol over our net subscriber acquisition codte. have built a high-quality subscriber
portfolio, with an average credit score of 717pBecember 31, 2013, through our underwritingecidt and compensation structure. Unlike
many of our competitors, who generally focus oheasitsubscriber origination or servicing, we orig@anstall, service and monitor our entire
subscriber base, which allows us to control thealeubscriber experience. We seek to deliveralityusubscriber experience with a
combination of innovative development of new prdadwemnd services and a commitment to customer ssnwisich together with our focus on
originating high-quality new subscribers, has eedhls to achieve attrition rates that we belieeehistorically at or below industry averages.
Utilizing this model, we have built a portfolio approximately 796,000 subscribers, as of Decembg2@®13. Approximately 92% of our
revenues during the year ended December 31, 20h8isted of contractually committed recurring raxes) which have historically resulted in
consistent and predictable operating results.

We believe our sales model allows us to originatessribers at a lower net subscriber acquisitist s a multiple of RMR), and
achieve a higher adoption rate of new service ppekaompared to many of our competitors. We geméinat majority of our new subscribers
through our direct-to-home sales channel, whicls tsams of trained seasonal sales representdtivigss channel we have historically
employed between 2,000 and 2,500 sales represerstatnd approximately 1,000 installation technigjavho are both largely commission
based and deployed in targeted geographical latatithis results in a highly variable cost struefwubscriber density, and the ability to
complete same-day installations. We diversify adrseriber origination efforts with an inside satésnnel, which includes our internal-sales
call centers, TV, radio, internet and other mediaeatising, as well as third-party lead generators.

We use underwriting policies that focus on creatirfggh-quality subscriber portfolio with an attiige return profile, with an
unlevered IRR in the low to mid 20% range dependingontractual terms. As of December 31, 2013 dbas FICO score at the time of
contract origination, approximately 94% of our suriisers had a FICO score of 625 or greater, andieeage FICO score of our portfolio is
717. In addition, over 83% of our new subscribar2013 paid activation fees and approximately 88%uo total subscribers pay their montl
bill electronically. We believe that originatingghi-quality subscribers and our commitment to custoservice increases retention, which lead
to predictable cash flows.

Our business generates positive cash flows fronoioggmonitoring and service revenues, which we ekdo invest in new
subscriber acquisition. The direct-to-home saledehis characterized by a highly variable and @isonary cost structure, which allows us to
quickly scale our sales efforts up or down whillyirgg on our existing subscriber base to generddient and recurring cash flows. Our low
attrition and net subscriber acquisition costs hagellted in aggregate costs incurred to replageneldl subscribers that are lower than
historical industry rates of attrition and subseribcquisition costs, based on third-party estimdtéstorically, we have typically generated,
and expect to continue generating, positive cashdlifrom operating activities, primarily due to iherease in total RMR and up-front
activation fees from the growth in our subscribasda During the year ended December 31, 2013, nergied $500.9 million in total revenue,
including $460.1 million in monitoring revenue. Ewermore, substantially all of our subscriber astjioin costs have been tax deductible in
year incurred and, as of December 31, 2013, westgguficant net operating losses of approximatelyddillion in the U.S. and $35.7 millic
in Canada available to minimize any future tax lkeardSee “Management’s Discussion and Analysis médiftial Condition and Results of
Operations—Liquidity and Capital Resources.”

The Residential Security and Automation Industry

According to BarnesAssociates estimates, the méokehonitoring and related residential electrosgcurity services was over $21
billion in revenue in 2013 and has grown every Yeathe past 10 years. We estimate the penetrati@for this market was approximately
19%, as of December 31, 2013. This market is cheiaed by stable revenues from contractually coteahirecurring monthly payments and
has proven to be recession-resistant through ghévi@ economic downturns.

ABI Research estimates the total number of NortreAcan subscribers of home automation servicesgnalv from approximately
877,000 in 2011 to over 13.1 million during 201&i dotal annual North American revenues from theseices to increase from an estimated
$3.3 billion in 2011 to $7.5 billion in 2018.

Products and Service Packag

Our products and service packages allow subscribesmotely control, monitor and manage the seguife-safety, video,
lighting and HVAC systems within their homes. Sideguary 2010, substantially all of the system$aee installed are interactive and home
automation enabled. Each of our service packagea kiferentiated set of equipment and functidpa



We offer four service packages: Home Security, Endfanagement, Security Plus and Home Automation.

Home Security

Our Home Security service package includes twaoogtiBasic and Advanced. This service package geswsubscribers with
residential security monitoring, wireless intrusequipment, emergency alerts and, with the Advamht@ue Security option, non-emergency
alerts. The current standard price of the Home ®ga@ervice package varies by option between $tarad $49.99 per month and includes the
Go!Control panel, which communicates wirelesslyhvather equipment and features an LCD touchsctee&nyay voice communication, and
remote control capabilities, three door or wind@msors, a motion detector, a key fob and a yamd Sigbscribers can select additional
equipment, such as glass-break detectors, ang shfeices, including smoke and carbon monoxideatiete and personal panic pendants; to
customize the systems for their particular needs hll of our home services, subscribers can dpehe system remotely through a smart
phone application or a web-enabled device. Subswibsing the Advanced Home Security option cam s¢¢ nonremergency text alerts for &
activity such as the opening of doors or windows euipment in the Home Security service packageonnected wirelessly to the Go!Con
panel, which then communicates through a wirelefastructure to our two UL listed redundant cdmmanitoring stations.

Energy Management

Our Energy Management service package providesshbss the ability to monitor, control and conseenergy usage through the
Go!Control panel or remotely through a smart phapglication or a welenabled device. The current standard price of tiexrdy Managemel
service package is $57.99 per month and includesaat thermostat, a lamp or appliance control ghdriergy efficient light bulbs, in addition
to all of the services that are included with oalvAnced Home Security package. The Go!Control pamables interaction between motion
sensors, automatic door locks, thermostats andrigho adjust settings based on occupancy. Cdimgoénergy usage allows subscribers to
conserve energy, thus providing subscribers théyatm reduce their energy bills.
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Security Plus

Our Security Plus service package combines ath®firoducts and services included with our Advariéeche Security package as
well as a door lock and video camera. Security ptosides subscribers with the ability to remotelginage their home security and lock,
unlock and monitor the status of the automatic docks as well as the ability to remotely monitotiaty in their home through video
surveillance and text alerts. The current stangarm of the Security Plus service package is 3606 month.

Home Automation

Our Home Automation service package is a fullygnéged suite of home products and services thatexia various in-home
technologies all through a single platform. Therent standard price of the Home Automation serp@ekage is $68.99 per month and inclt
all of the services that are included with the Awhed Home Security, Energy Management and Sed®itity service packages. Subscribers ca
choose additional equipment such as video camerhd@or locks to customize the package. In 2013 6f.new subscribers selected
additional services beyond our Home Security pagkag

Existing subscribers may order additional prodactspgrade their current services. When they dg thé usually have one of our
local field service technicians perform the ingtdin at the subscriberhome. Typically, the subscriber is billed forig tharge, the cost of t
equipment installed, and their RMR increases feratiditional service offerings.

Operations

Our management team has a proven record of stnawgfyand operational excellence and, as a restfiedr leadership, we have
successfully grown revenue and total RMR every gegare 2006. Our CEO, Todd Pedersen, a visionagelewho encourages a highly
entrepreneurial culture that fosters innovationpfded the Company in 1999. Our senior managemamt é¥erages over 15 years of
experience in high growth or large public companiegonnection with the Transactions, senior managnt and employees invested $155.2
million (a portion of which was used for the Invast acquisition of Solar) in the Company.

We are one of the few residential security soligioompanies in North America that generates sutistigrall of its revenue
organically from a fully integrated model that enqmasses all aspects of the subscriber experiemdading sales, installation, servicing and
monitoring. This approach allows us to deliver agistent, quality subscriber experience. We belthigcontributes to a strong adoption rate
(61% in 2013) for service packages beyond Advamtamie Security and attrition rates at or below induaverages. We also enhance the
quality of our subscribergxperience through proven operational performaboeing the year ended December 31, 2013, our agarspons
time to alarms was approximately 10 seconds fratithe the signal was received at our monitorimgiahs. We believe the enhanced
functionality of our offerings, along with the iottuction of innovative new service packages resuliscreased subscriber usage, with an
average of 79% of our surveyed subscribers indigaise of their system at least once per week gl@2@13, which we believe contributes to
higher customer satisfaction and lower attrition.

Our fully integrated subscriber experience allows sales representatives, customer service refetses and installation
technicians to work closely together to provide shbscriber with an integrated process from corgagtnation to daily use. We believe our
field service technicians and customer serviceasgmtatives deliver a quality customer service ggpee that enhances our brand and
improves customer satisfaction. In surveys of anssribers, over 83% of respondents expressedasditis with our customer service. We
also believe we have higher Net Promoter Scoresdely used measure of customer satisfaction ayaltly) than our primary competitors and
we have been recognized by third-party organizatfon providing outstanding customer service.

Field Service

We employ full-time field service technicians thginout North America, who reside in their servicgiteries to provide prompt
service to our subscribers. Field service techniciandergo comprehensive training on our produadssarvice packages. The field service
technicians typically focus on maintenance andiserngsues, but also install products and senfimea portion of our new subscribers,
primarily those originated through inside sales.

We do not maintain costly physical warehouse, retabffice locations for our field service techigios. Instead, we provide field
service technicians with adequate supplies of prtsdand materials and company-branded service leshi€ield service inventories are
replenished by shipments from our central warehouse

We utilize software to schedule appointments, reet@nicians and follow-up with subscribers to eaghat the service was
performed to the subscriber’s satisfaction. Throaghcustomer management system (“CMS”) technolatiyaf our full-time service
technicians receive instant updates via text mesdatgiling their next installation or service ampment.

Customer Service and Alarm Monitoring

Our customer service center is located in Utah.t@orprimary central monitoring facilities are leed in Utah and Minnesota and
are fully redundant. Both our customer service @eand central monitoring facilities are open 2dilsa day, 7 days a week, 365 days a )



We have received general industry awards for ostarner service and alarm monitoring operations.

All employees who work in customer service unddrgming on billing related issues as well as senpackage questions.
Customer service representatives are requireds® fpeckground checks and, depending upon thefujadiion, may require licensing by the
state of Utah. All professionals who work in ourmitoring facilities undergo comprehensive trainangl are required to pass background
checks and, in certain cases, licensing testshar ahecks to obtain the required licensing. Custosarvice representatives generally resolve
over 90% of maintenance and service related questiger the telephone or through remote-acceseetsubscribes panel. Issues not resol
by customer service require a service techniciansiothe subscriber's home, which may result inig charge to the subscriber.

Billing

Our billing representatives are located at our Brdltah offices. We cross-train our billing repnesgives on customer service with
the goal of improving the subscriber experience @fridcreasing personnel flexibility. Billing regentatives are also required to pass
background checks and, depending upon their jottiium may also require licensing by the state t#HJA majority of our subscribers pay
electronically either via ACH or credit card. A sgbiber who pays electronically is generally placad billing cycle based on their contract
origination date and, in certain instances, thesstiber may choose their billing date. Our custadited via direct invoice are either billed
the first day of the month with payment due on1Bth day of the month, or on the 15th day of thethavith payment due on the 25th day of
the month. Subscribers are billed in advance feir ttnonthly services based on the subscriber'mgiltycle and not calendar month.

From time to time, for various reasons we may issueedit to a subscriber for a payment otherwige thcluding addressing
subscriber concerns or obtaining the renewal efsariber contract. Any such credit decreases calddcted on the relevant subscriber
contract in the amount of such credit.
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Key System

Our CMS is an internally developed proprietary tielaship management system. Most of our departmesmging from customer
service to inside sales, use the CMS applicatioma foide variety of functions. CMS integrates salénird-party software packages to provide
a single point of interaction for our employeesjahtenables one-call resolution. It also allowsdperational efficiency by not requiring the
entry of data multiple times and improving datawusacy. The client application is run across deskthypoughout our operations. Additionally,
the data is replicated to both a reporting andsanass intelligence server to reduce processing, s well as to an offsite server used for
disaster recovery purposes.

The company is currently migrating to a new custoreiationship management (CRM) system that isdasea well-established
enterprisegrade solution. We believe this new CRM will scaiéh our business, including the flexibility to asomodate the multiple custon
support and billing models from the anticipatedangion in our products and services over time. 8/8MS will continue to be used for
certain functions, the new CRM will serve as oumarry customer support and billing system.

Alarm.com

We license certain communications infrastructuoftvgare and services to support the Go!Control mditanel from Alarm.com.
The Go!Control panel is connected to the Intermett smart phone and tablet applications throughmJeom’s hosted platform. Alarm.com
provides the web interface and technology to enabitesubscribers using Go!Control panels to actesis systems remotely and it facilitates
communications between the panel and monitorintipsi®a The Alarm.com platform allows our subscribére ability to remotely arm and
disarm their Go!Control security systems, receiegts and notifications regarding activity in thesme, control home automation products
such as thermostats, door locks and lighting césaind view live and recorded video.

Subscriber Contract:

We seek to ensure that our subscribers understamgtoduct and service information, along with kieg terms of their contracts |
conducting two live, interactive telephonic surveyith every subscriber. The first survey is conddaprior to the execution of the contract anc
installation, and the second survey is conducttmst #ie installation is completed. These telephsniweys are recorded and stored in CMS,
enabling easy access and review.

Term and Termination

Historically, we have offered contracts to subsarsithat range in length from 36 to 60 months,exttip automatic monthly
renewal after the expiration of the initial termn#gjority of our 2013 subscriber originations h&nonth contract lengths. Subscribers have
right of rescission period prescribed by applicdhle during which such subscriber may cancel thereat without penalty or obligation. Tht
rescission periods range from 3 to 15 days, depgnati the jurisdiction in which a subscriber resid&s a company policy we provide new
subscribers 70 years of age and older a 30 dayafglescission. Once the applicable rescissioioderxpires, ownership of the equipment
transfers to the subscriber and the subscribesigansible for the monthly services fees undecdmract.

Upfront and Monthly Services Fees

Our subscribers typically pay for the first month&rvice and an activation fee (unless waivedhatime of installation. Under the
contract, we have the right to pass through tcsthscriber any increase in the costs related fityuir governmental requirements. We
generally have the right to increase the monthtyise fees at the time of renewal with prior writteotice.

Other Terms

We provide our subscribers with maintenance freghafge for the first 120 days. After 120 days,wilerepair or replace defecti
equipment without charge, but we typically bill thebscriber a trip charge for each service vikd. Utility or governmental agency requires a
change to equipment or service after installatibthe system, the subscriber must pay for the eneip and labor associated with the requirec
change.

We do not provide insurance or warrant that théesgswill prevent a burglary, fire, hold-up or anych other event. Our contracts
limit our liability to a maximum of $2,000 per exeand, where permissible, provide a one-year satfilimitations to file an action against us.
We may cease or suspend monitoring and repaircgediie to, among other things, work stoppages,heegbhone service interruption,
government requirements, subscriber bankruptcyorpayment by subscribers after we have given adltiat their service is being cancelled
due to such non-payment.

Suppliers

We provide our services through a panel instaltatie@premises of our subscribers. As of DecemlePB13, approximately 87%
of our installed panels were 2GIG Go!Control parsld approximately 13% were Honeywell LYNX and diganels. The Go!Control panel
supplied by 2GIG has been our primary panel fosstibers since the beginning of 2010. On April@12, we completed the 2GIG Sale.



connection with the 2GIG Sale, we entered intove-fiear supply agreement with 2GIG, pursuant tacivifiey will be the
exclusive provider of our control panel requirensestibject to certain exceptions as provided irstipply agreement. 2GIG will manufacture
our new panel, which we designed and developedaasdciated peripheral devices pursuant to theyfae supply agreement.

Generally, our third-party distributors maintaisatety stock of certain key items to cover any mswpply chain disruptions. We
also utilize dual sourcing methods to minimize ttis& of a disruption from a single supplier. Werthi anticipate any major interruptions in
supply chain.

Sales and Marketing

We have two primary sales channels: direct-to-hanginside sales. For the year ended Decembel033B, 2ve generated
approximately 77% of our new subscribers throughdinect-to-home sales channel and 23% througliénsales. We believe our approach to
managing our sales channels allows us to origisdbscribers at a lower net subscriber acquisitast s a multiple of RMR) and achieve a
higher adoption rate of new service packages coaap@rour competitors. We estimate that our nesaiiber acquisition cost in 2013 was in
the $1,625 to $1,675 range, a substantial portiavhich is variable. Our net subscriber acquisitiarst represented approximately 28 times
average RMR per new subscriber added in 2013.

Because attrition is highly correlated with FIC@ms and payment type, our compensation struateemntivizes quality subscriber
generation by tying compensation to these facivies have enhanced our underwriting criteria oveetimcreasing our average FICO score of
our subscriber portfolio to 717, and reducing s@B-BICO score subscribers to approximately 1% f&scember 31, 2013. We plan to
maintain our focus on our underwriting standard$ expect to continue to structure our sales congiamsto incentivize sales representatives
based on the creation of high-quality subscribers.

Direct-to-Home Sales

Our direct-to-home sales operation is typically poised of between 2,000 and 2,500 sales represa#atho benefit from our
recruiting and training programs designed to prenprbfessionalism and sales productivity. Each peawveen April and August, our sales
teams travel to approximately 100 pre-selected atarthroughout North America to sell our servicekages. Because expenses associated
with our sales force are directly correlated wiwrsubscriber acquisition, we avoid a large fixestdase and are able to deploy a flexible go
to-market strategy every year.



Table of Contents

A typical sales team consists of approximately @@srepresentatives and a designated sales maRkagarsales team is supported
by a team of approximately 10 installation techemsi and a manager. There are also regional managergenerally oversee six to eight sales
or installation teams. We believe that turnover aghour sales and installation teams is low comptaryedher companies that utilize a similar
model. Sales and installation teams are often cisegbiof many of the same individuals who were membéthe teams in previous sales
seasons.

Sales managers typically recruit sales represeatabetween late fall and early spring for theolwlihg selling season. Our sales
representatives are generally college studentsrapeknployment between academic semesters. The@paroximately 150,000 college
students in the greater Salt Lake City metropolésea, providing us with a large pool from whicltreoruit. Recruiting occurs at most major
colleges and universities in the region includirriggBam Young University, the University of Utah,dbtState University and Utah Valley
University. We also recruit in Florida, Coloraddaho, Arizona, Minnesota, Texas and Canada.

Prior to the beginning of each selling season sales representatives participate in a comprehemsiining program, which
includes involvement in pre-season sales to ggiemence. Our sales representatives also recey@immptraining, support and feedback
throughout the year. We train our sales represgatabn sales techniques, products, service paskagtapplicable laws and regulations. We
also train our sales representatives to custorhie ¢onsultative presentation according to théviddal homeowner, based on guidelines and
principles outlined in our training materials. Kelgments include identifying the decision makecpgmizing what aspect of home security anc
automation may be most appealing (e.g., monitdiagng frequent traveler or live video feeds and tagrssage reporting for working parents’
life-safety needs) and explaining the functionadibd benefits of our products and services.

We provide sales representatives with real-tima datpotential subscribers through the use of ooprgetary Personal Door
Assistant (“PDA”), an application that runs on stptones and tablets. Before approaching a houssea representative is able to utilize the
PDA to see publicly available data such as mowdaite and names of the homeowner. A sales repréisentan also pre-screen potential
subscribers, view maps, keep track of various rmigioods using a virtual “street sheet” and idgrtifrrent subscribers in the proximity. The
PDA application is fully integrated with CMS.

Our proprietary Install Manager System (“IMS”) is imstallation scheduling and dispatch system fultggrated with CMS, which
is utilized by our direct-to-home installation teatians. A technician is dispatched automaticdilptigh IMS following the successful
completion of a new pre-installation survey. IMS&bles management to track installation progressahtime.

While complaints cannot be eliminated when intdrfgavith millions of potential subscribers duritgtselling season, we
undertake ongoing efforts to enforce compliancé wiir policies and procedures and applicable lawisragulations. We track and analyze
complaints and routinely adjust our training, pi@l&; procedures and our internal controls to addremplaints.

Inside Sales

Subscribers originated through our inside sale® lggown as a percentage of our total originatioosfapproximately 10%
in 2009 to approximately 23% in 2013. Our insidies@hannel utilizes both inbound and outbounddgadvided by our marketing
department. The marketing department generates teaaugh multiple sources both digital and tradiéil. Leads generated through digital
marketing sources include paid, organic and loeatch and display advertising. Traditional leadrsesi include radio and television
advertising, shared mail, email remarketing anditparty lead generation affiliates. Upon receivinigad or an inquiry from a potential
subscriber requesting information on our produots service packages, one of our inside sales repiaEs/es calls the potential subscriber.
Existing subscribers wishing to upgrade equipmemrthange their service packages are also procéissrdyh inside sales.

Sales and Origination Strategy and Compensat

Sales representatives receive weekly compensagiesedoon the number of qualifying sales during leipus week. Criteria for
qualifying sales include, but are not limited toe amount of RMR, the number of points of protatteubscriber FICO score, etc. To motivate
sales representatives and help align compensatthrsubscriber quality, we have created a pointesys The point system provides the sales
representative flexibility to tailor the offering the subscriber’s needs while maintaining corttimugh a direct link to the sales
representative’s compensation. In addition, a §icant portion of the direct-to-home sales représire’s compensation is not paid until after
the completion of the selling season and is palig on those subscribers who satisfy certain cateri

Strategy
Strong Model for Growtt

We have established a history of capitalizing ontmsiness model and technology to offer new prtedand service packages, as
evidenced by our launch of home automation in 2@iir.innovative products and service packages bagbled us to increase average RMR
per new subscriber from $44.50 in 2009 to $58.35He year ended December 31, 2013, while genemallyaising the prices for individual
service packages during this period. Going forwesgl jntend to capitalize on the low incrementaltsdsherent in our business model and
existing technology to increase market penetradimoh inside sales, as well as to expand into snoatingercial and international markets. We
recently expanded our business to New Zealand awe &iso identified Australia as a potentiallyaattive market



Innovation

We strive to bring easy-to-use technology to ounsstibers that allows them to efficiently use owoducts. We have a reputation
for developing and deploying products and servioeshe home that have robust functionality andeasy to install and use. The interactive
Go!Control panel provides a platform to introduesvrproducts and service packages to our subscriBgrf®cusing on innovation, and
enhancing the functionality of our existing produahd service packages, we believe we can incsediseriber usage and customer
satisfaction, thereby potentially lowering our iéittn.

Historically, we have used various third-party mi@cturers and service providers for the equipmadtservices included for our
systems. However, we are currently migrating tbdause development and design of certain productsarvices. We believe that developing,
designing and selling our own products and servicasare differentiated from those of our compesitwill be a critical driver of our future
success. Therefore, we expect to continue intragdueew, innovative products and services, inclugiagels and peripherals, along with
integrated cloud services. We will own the desi§these new products, and in certain circumstandé$everage partnerships with third
parties, particularly Original Design Manufacturéasthe manufacture of new products (e.g., vid@meras, thermostats, door lock hardware,
etc.). By vertically integrating the developmentiatesign of our products and services with ourtigxjssales and customer service activities,
we believe we will be able to more quickly respomdnarket needs, and better understand our subsgribteractions and engagement with
our products and services. This will provide cdtidata enabling us to improve the power, usalsdlity intelligence of these products and
services.

We have invested in a new innovation center in L &kah to facilitate the research and developménew products and services,
both within and beyond our existing service packagofessionals and engineers at our innovatintec&ave expertise in all aspects of the
development process, including hardware developnseftivare development, design and quality asseranc
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Competition

The residential electronic security services inguist highly competitive, but fragmented. Our magompetitors include The ADT
Corporation, Protection One, Inc., Stanley Seci8ijutions, a subsidiary of Stanley Black and Deck®onitronics International, Inc., a
subsidiary of Ascent Capital Group, Inc., ComcastgOration, AT&T Inc. and numerous smaller provaleiith regional or local coverage. \
also face, or may in the future face, competitimmt other providers of information and communicagpwoducts and services, a number of
which have significantly greater capital and ottessources than we do.

Intellectual Property

Patents, trademarks, copyrights, trade secretsotiued proprietary rights are important to our bass and we continuously refine
our intellectual property strategy to maintain angrove our competitive position. We seek protettim new intellectual property to protect
our ongoing technological innovations and strengther brand, and we believe we take appropriaieraeainst infringements or
misappropriations of our intellectual property tigby others. We review third-party intellectuabperty rights to help avoid infringement, and
to identify strategic opportunities. We typicallgter into confidentiality agreements to furthertpit our intellectual property.

We own a portfolio of issued U.S. patents and pamdl.S. and foreign patent applications that refat variety of security, home
automation and wireless internet technologieszatiliin our business. We also own a portfolio aéraarks, including domestic and foreign
registrations for Vivin®, and are a licensee of various patents, fromhiwd-party suppliers and technology partners. @ughé importance
that customers place on reputation and trust wheking a decision on a security provider, our brisnetitical to our business. Patents for
individual products or technologies extend for vagyperiods according to the date of patent filimgyrant and the legal term of patents in the
various countries where patent protection is bsimgght. Trademark rights may potentially extenddoger periods of time and are dependen
upon national laws and use of the marks.

Government Regulations
United States

We are subject to a variety of laws, regulations lE@ensing requirements of federal, state andllagthorities.

We are required to obtain various licenses and pefrom state and local authorities in connectiotih the operation of our
businesses. The majority of states regulate in soarer the sale, installation, servicing, monitgror maintenance of electronic security
systems. In the states that do regulate such ggtsgcurity service companies and/or their empdsyand agents are typically required to ok
and maintain licenses and/or certifications from dkate as a condition to engaging in the secseityices business.

In addition, a number of local governmental auttiesihave adopted ordinances regulating the aeswif security service
companies, typically in an effort to reduce the bemof false alarms in their jurisdictions. Thesdimances attempt to reduce false alarms by,
among other things, requiring permits for indivilakectronic security systems, imposing fines (ithex the customer or the company) for fi
alarms, discontinuing police response to notifmaf an alarm activation after a customer hasehegirtain number of false alarms, and
requiring various types of alarm signal verificatiprior to dispatching authorities.

The sales and marketing practices of security semdmpanies are regulated by the federal, statéoaal agencies and laws and
regulations. These laws and regulations typicdlg@ certain restrictions on the manner in whigttebnic security products and services can
be advertised and sold, and impose an obligatigmdeide residential purchasers with certain resaisrights. In certain circumstances,
consumer protection laws regulations also reqhieedisclosure of certain information in the contfaetween the security services company
and the customer and, in addition, may prohibititiedusion of certain terms or conditions of salesuch contracts.

Canada

Companies operating in the electronic securityiserindustry in Canada are subject to provincigltation of their business
activities, including the regulation of direct-tothe sales activities and contract terms and thes Betallation and maintenance of electronic
security systems. Most provinces in Canada regdia¢et-to-home sales activities and contract teanmd require that salespeople and the
company on whose behalf the salesperson is selbiajn licenses to carry on business in that pailConsumer protection laws in Canada
also require that certain terms and conditionsibkided in the contract between the electronic ritgcservices provider and the customer.

A number of Canadian municipalities require custante obtain licenses to use electronic securdynas within their jurisdiction.
Municipalities also commonly require entities engédn direct-to-home sales within their municipatib obtain business licenses.

Customers

Our business is not dependent on any single custorreefew customers, the loss of which would haveaterial adverse effect on
the respective market or on us as a whole. No iddal customer accounted for more than 10% of ounsolidated 2013 revent



Seasonality

Our direct-tohome sales are seasonal in nature with a substanatjarity of our new subscriber originations oatg during a sale
season from April through August. We make investimé@nthe recruitment of our direct-to-home satmsé and the inventory prior to each
sales season. We experience increases in net sadrsacquisition costs during these time periods.

The management of our sales channels has histgriealilted in a consistent sales pattern thatlesals to more accurately
forecast subscriber originations. The chart belepids the percentage of new subscribers originedett week of the April through August
sales season in 2013, 2012, 2011 and 2010.
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Segment Information

Prior to the date of the 2GIG Sale, the Companylooted business through two segments, Vivint ankiz2Ghese segmer
were managed and evaluated separately by managdoeta the differences in their products and ses:iWe operate primarily in three
geographic regions: United States, Canada and Nea#d. The operations in New Zealand are congidermaterial and are reported in
conjunction with the United States. See Note 1fhiénaccompanying consolidated financial statem@ntore information about our business
and geographic segments.

Employees

As of December 31, 2013, we had approximately 3gi@iployees, excluding our seasonal direct-to-harsllation technicians
and sales representatives. None of our employeesuarently represented by labor unions or tradecits. We believe that we generally have
good relationships with our employees.

Corporate Information

APX Group Holdings, Inc. was incorporated underltives of the state of Delaware on October 26, 2@iR. Principal
executive offices are located at 4931 North 300t\Werevo, Utah 84604 and our telephone numberd&)(877-9111.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

You should carefully consider the following risktfars and all other information contained in thisraual report on Form 1@ The
risks and uncertainties described below are notahly risks facing us. Additional risks and uncenties that we are unaware of, or those we
currently deem immaterial, also may become impariactors that affect us. The following risks comdterially and adversely affect our
business, financial condition, cash flows or resolt operations.

Risks Related To Our Business
Our industry is highly competitive.

We operate in a highly competitive industry. Weef@ompetition from several large electronic resi@¢security companies which
have or may have greater capital and other resstines us. We also face, and may in the future famapetition from other providers of
information and communication products and seryitesduding cable and telecommunications companies, may have greater capital and
resources than us. Competitors that are largerale and have greater resources may benefit fresigreconomies of scale and other lower
costs that permit them to offer more favorable getonconsumers (including lower service costs) tharoffer, causing such consumers to
choose to enter into contracts with such compstitbhese competitors may also benefit from graaere recognition and superior advertis
marketing and promotional resources. To the extattsuch competitors allocate greater resourcesttiets where our business is more
highly concentrated, the negative impact on ouirtass may increase over time. In addition to padéptreducing the number of new
subscribers we are able to originate, increasegettion could also result in higher attrition ratbat would negatively impact us over time.
The benefit offered to larger competitors from emroies of scale and other lower costs may be maghifiy an economic downturn in which
subscribers put a greater emphasis on lower cogupts or services. In addition, we face competiffom regional competitors that
concentrate their capital and other resourcesgeting local market:



We also face potential competition from improversdntdo-it-yourself (“DIY”) and self-monitoring stems, which enable
consumers to install their own systems and mouitar control their home environment without thirdtpanvolvement through the Internet,
text messages, emails or similar communicationstiGaed pricing pressure or improvements in tecbgwland shifts in consumer preference:
towards DIY and self-monitoring could adversely ampour subscriber base or pricing structure ane lamaterial and adverse effect on our
business, financial condition, results of operatiand cash flows.

We rely on long-term retention of subscribers angbscriber attrition can have a material adverse &df on our results.

We incur significant upfront costs to originate ngubscribers. Accordingly, our long term performaigcdependent on our
subscribers remaining with us for several yeasr dffte initial term of their contracts, which isngeally between 36 and 60 months. Our
inability to retain subscribers for a long term kkbmaterially and adversely affect our businessricial condition, cash flows or results of
operations.
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In addition, we amortize or depreciate our capadisubscriber acquisition costs based on the a&ithiife of the subscriber
relationships. If attrition rates were to rise siigantly, we may be required to accelerate the @ization of expenses or the depreciation of
assets related to such subscribers or to impalr asgets, which could adversely impact our repda@4P financial results.

Litigation, complaints or adverse publicity couldegatively impact our business, financial conditi@amd results of operations.

From time to time, we engage in the defense of,raad in the future be subject to, certain claima @wsuits arising in the
ordinary course of our business. See “Legal Pranged In addition, from time to time our subscridave communicated and may in the
future communicate complaints to consumer protagjimups and other organizations such as the Betiginess Bureau, regulators, law
enforcement or the media. Any resulting actionsegative subscriber sentiment or publicity may oedilne volume of our new subscriber
originations, increase attrition of existing suliisers or adversely impact our ability to replacaasled subscribers with new originations. Any
of the foregoing may materially and adversely aftea business, financial condition, cash flowsesults of operations.

We are highly dependent on our ability to attrattain and retain an effective sales force.

Our business is highly dependent on our abilitattoact, train and retain effective sales repregamts and managers, especially for
our peak April through August sales season. Intaddibecause sales representatives become mateqginee as they gain experience,
retaining those individuals is very important far @uccess. If we are unable to attract, trainratein an effective sales force, our business,
financial condition, cash flows or results of ofigmas could be adversely affected.

Privacy and data protection laws and privacy or ddireaches could have a material adverse effecbanbusiness.

In the course of our operations, we gather, prod¢emssmit and store confidential subscriber infation, including personal,
payment, credit and other similar information. e this information for operational and marketimggmses and rely on proprietary and
commercially available systems, software, tools imaitoring to provide security for such informatio

Our collection, retention, transfer and use of thisrmation are regulated by privacy and datagmtion laws and regulations and
industry standards. Our compliance with these laagylations and standards increases our operatistg, and additional laws, regulations or
standards (and new interpretations of existing lamd regulations) in these areas may further iserear operating costs and adversely affect
our ability to effectively market our products asetvices. Our failure to comply with any of theaw$, regulations or standards could result in
fines, sanctions and other liabilities and addaiaestrictions on our collection, transfer or e§subscriber data. In addition, our failure to
comply with any of these laws, regulations or stadd could adversely affect our reputation, subscrattrition, new subscriber origination,
financial condition, cash flows or results of ofinas.

Criminals and other nefarious actors are usingemsingly sophisticated methods, including cydigacks, to capture or alter varic
types of information relating to subscribers, tgage in illegal activities such as fraud and idgrtieft, and to expose and exploit potential
security and privacy vulnerabilities in corporaystems and web sites. Unauthorized intrusion inéoportions of our computer systems that
process and store information related to subsctibaesactions and other confidential informatiorymesult in the theft of subscriber data. Any
such compromises or breaches to the computer sgsthra to the actions of third parties, employeeremalfeasance or otherwise, could
cause interruptions in operations and damage tosputation, subject us to costs and liabilitied araterially and adversely affect sales,
revenues and profits, which in turn could have #eni@ adverse impact on our business, financiadn, cash flows or results of operatio

We may fail to obtain or maintain necessary goverantal licenses or otherwise fail to comply with digable laws and regulations.

Our business is subject to a variety of laws, ratjohs and licensing requirements of federal, prowl, state and local authorities
and may become subject to additional such requingrie the future. In addition, in certain juristiinis, we are required to obtain licenses or
permits to comply with standards governing sengaif subscribers, monitoring station employee $gle@nd training and to meet certain
standards in the conduct of our business. Althauglbelieve we are in material compliance with plplecable laws, regulations, and licensing
requirements, in the event that these laws, reigalabr licensing requirements change, we may feired to modify our operations or to
utilize resources to maintain compliance with slasts and regulations. Our failure to comply witltlsdaws, regulations or licensing
requirements as may be in effect from time to tcoeld have a material adverse effect on us.

If we expand the scope of our products or serviocesur operations in any new markets, with addaidaws, regulations or
licensing requirements, we may be required to alitze applicable licenses and otherwise maintainpti@nce with such additional laws,
regulations or licensing requirements.

New laws or regulations may be enacted that coale lan adverse effect on us. For example, cert@nrdunicipalities have
adopted, or are considering adopting, laws, reguiator policies aimed at reducing the number Isiefalarms, including: (i) subjecting
companies to fines or penalties for transmittirlgdalarms, (ii) imposing fines on subscribersfédse alarms, (iii) imposing limitations on the
number of times law enforcement will respond tarakat a particular location after a specified namif false alarms, and (iv) requiring
further verification of an event giving rise to alarm signal, such as a visual verification, betbeelaw enforcement will respond. These
measures could adversely affect our future operatimd future business by increasing our costscied customer satisfaction or affecting the
public perception of the effectiveness of our sesi In addition, federal, state and local govemtaieuthorities have considered, and ma



the future consider, implementing consumer probecinitiatives, which could impose significant ctaits on the use of our sales
channels.

Increased adoption of laws purporting to characteei certain charges in our subscriber contracts adawful, may adversely affect ot
operations.

If a subscriber cancels prior to the end of theahterm of the contract, other than in accordanith the contract, we may,
under the terms of the subscriber contract, chdmgsubscriber a percentage of the amount thatdAaite been paid over the remaining term
of the contract. Several states have adopted eccarsidering adopting, laws restricting the chauthat can be imposed upon contract
cancellation prior to the end of the initial cortrgerm. Such initiatives could negatively impaat business and the origination of new
subscribers, increase attrition rates and havetarimbadverse effect on our business, financiab@ion, cash flows or results of operations.
Adverse judicial determinations regarding theset@ensicould increase legal exposure to subscrilgainst whom such charges have been
imposed and the risk that certain subscribers raal( o recover such charges through litigatioraddition, the costs of defending such
litigation and enforcement actions could have areesk effect on our business, financial conditaash flows or results of operations.

The technology employed by us may become obsaldtich could require significant capital expendituse

Our industry is subject to technological innovatarer time. Our products and services interact withhardware and software
technology of systems and devices located at cagcsibers’ property. We may be required to impletmew technologies or adapt existing
technologies in response to changing market camdifisubscriber preferences or industry standesttish could require significant capital
expenditures. It is also possible that one or nob@ur competitors
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could develop a significant technical advantagé @llaws them to provide additional or superior lifygroducts or services, or to lower their
price for similar products or services, which copid us at a competitive disadvantage. For exarsplegral cable and telecommunications
companies have introduced home automation andigesarvices packages, including interactive segw@rvices, that are competitive with
our products and services. Our inability to adapthtanging technologies, market conditions or siitbscpreferences in a timely manner could
materially adversely affect our business, financ@idition, cash flows or results of operations.

Our future operating results are uncertain.

Prior growth rates in revenues and other operaigfinancial results should not be considereccatdie of our future
performance. Our future performance and opera#isglts will depend on, among other things: (i) abitity to renew and/or upgrade contracts
with existing subscribers and to achieve high austosatisfaction with existing subscribers; (iiy ability to obtain agreements with new
subscribers to use our products and services,dimgwur ability to scale the number of new sulismns generated through inside sales; (iii)
ability to increase the density of our subscribesebfor existing service locations or continuexjoaad into new geographic markets and/or
services; (iv) our ability to successfully devebopd market new and innovative products and serv{ggshe level of product and price
competition; (vi) the degree of saturation in, @uod ability to further penetrate, existing markétsi) our ability to manage revenues,
origination or acquisition of new subscriber contsaand attrition rates, the cost of servicing existing subscribers and general and
administrative costs; and (viii) our ability torattt, train and retain qualified employees. If future operating results suffer as a result of our
inability to renew our existing subscriber contsadriginate new subscriber contracts, increaseléneity of our subscriber base, introduce
and successful products and services, manage owttgror for any of the other reasons mentionedrapthere could be a material adverse
effect on our business, financial condition, cdetv$ or results of operations.

Our business is subject to macroeconomic and derapgic factors that may negatively impact our resutif operations.

Our business is generally dependent on nationgibmal and local economic conditions. Historicabgth the U.S. and worldwide
economies have experienced cyclical economic dawsfisome of which have been prolonged and seVheese economic downturns have
generally coincided with, and contributed to, irsed energy costs, concerns about inflation, slesenomic activity, decreased consumer
confidence and spending, reduced corporate pnfiiscapital spending, adverse business conditiothdiguidity concerns. These conditions
and concerns result in a decline in business ansgurner confidence and increased unemployment.

Where disposable income available for discretiorspgnding is reduced (due to, for example, higbesimg, energy, interest or
other costs or where the perceived wealth of silbeys has decreased) and disruptions in the fiahntarkets adversely impact the availability
and cost of credit, our business may experienae&sed attrition rates, a reduced ability to oaggmew subscriber contracts and reduced
consumer demand. Demand for our products and ssr@y also be affected by changes in the housargahincluding, in particular,
changes in new single-family housing and turnomehe single-family housing market.

There is no assurance that current conditionstiegutom the most recent economic downturn wiilslize or improve or that
various governmental responses to the disruptiotise financial markets will restore consumer cderfice, stabilize the markets or increase
liquidity or the availability of credit. We cannptedict the timing or duration of any economic siimwn or the timing or strength of a
subsequent economic recovery, worldwide, or instiecific markets where our subscribers are loc&edhermore, any deterioration in new
construction and sales of existing single-familynies could reduce opportunities to originate nevsstibers. Such downturns in the economy
in general, and the housing market in particulaxry megatively impact our business. In additionawnfable shifts in population and other
demographic factors may cause us to lose subssrédsepeople migrate to markets where we have dittheo presence, or if the general
population shifts into a less desirable age, ggaucaor other demographic group from our businessgective.

Also, our subscribers consist largely of homeownet® are subject to economic, credit, financial ather risks, as applicable.
These risks could materially and adversely affemtilascriber’s ability to make required paymentseurideir contracts with us in full or on a
timely basis. Any such decrease or delay in subscpayments may have a material adverse effeasoAs a result of financial distress,
subscribers may apply for relief under bankrupteg ather laws relating to creditors’ rights. In #ieh, subscribers may be subject to
involuntary application of such bankruptcy and otlagvs relating to creditors’ rights. The bankryptd a subscriber could adversely affect out
ability to collect payments due under the applieahlbscriber contract and to protect our righteeunahd otherwise realize the value of, such
contract. This may occur as a result of, amongrdtiiegs, application of the automatic stay, delagd uncertainty in the bankruptcy process
and potential rejection of such subscriber consta@tr subscribers’ inability to pay, whether assult of economic or credit issues,
bankruptcy or otherwise, could have a material estveffect on our financial condition and resuftemerations.

We depend on a limited number of suppliers to pa®/iour control panels, which, in turn, rely on anfiited number of suppliers to
provide significant components and materials usedsuich control panels. A change in our existing fieered supply arrangements or
material interruption in supply of control panelsauld increase our costs or prevent or limit our &b to accept and fill orders for our
products and services.

We provide our services through a panel instaltati@premises of our subscribers. As of DecemheRB13, approximately 87%
of our installed panels were 2GIG Go!Control parseld approximately 13% were Honeywell LYNX or Vig@anels. The 2GIG Go!Control
panel has been our primary panel for subscribaecedhe beginning of 2010. On April 1, 2013, we pteted the 2GIG Sale to Nortek. In
connection with the 2GIG Sale, we entered intove-year supply agreement with 2GIG, pursuant to wiiey will be the exclusive providi



of our control panel requirements, subject to deraceptions as provided in the supply agreemdmbn the expiration or earlier
termination of the initial term of this supply agreent, there can be no assurance that we will leet@lbenew our supply arrangements with
2GIG on commercially reasonable terms or at ally Adverse change in, or the cessation of, theiwaktiip between us and 2GIG could ex;
us to a significant increase in equipment costs.

In addition to 2GIG, we obtain important componesfteur systems from several other suppliers. Sh&@dIG or such other
suppliers cease to manufacture the products wéhasecfrom them or become unable to deliver thes#ugts in accordance with our
requirements, or should such other suppliers chnos® do business with us, we may be requirdddate alternative suppliers. We may be
unable to locate alternate suppliers on a time$isbar to negotiate the purchase of control pametgher equipment on favorable terms, if at
all. In addition, our equipment suppliers, in tudepend upon a limited number of outside unaféliasuppliers for key components and
materials used in our control panels and otherpgent. If any of these suppliers cease to provageponents and materials in sufficient
guantity, especially during our summer selling s@eashen a large percentage of our new subscriliginations occur, and if there are not
adequate alternative sources of supply, we coydemence significant delays in the supply of colnpreinels and other equipment. Any such
delay in the supply of control panels and otheligent could cause our subscribers to delay thesiisibn to enter into, renew or upgrade t
contracts or to choose not to purchase such predudtervices from us. This would result in deli@ysr loss of future revenues and could have
a material adverse effect on our business, finhooradition, cash flows or results of operations.
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We rely on certain third-party providers of softwaiand services integral to the operations of oursiness.

Certain aspects of the operation of our securityamomation systems depend on third-party softwaceservice providers. We
rely on certain software technology that we licefiee third parties and use in our products angises to perform key functions and provide
critical functionality. For example, the Go!Contpnel used by our subscribers is connected thtbeet and smart phone applications
through services hosted by Alarm.com, which progithe web interface and the technology to enahiewaoscribers to access their systems
through their smart phone applications or web esthbevice. With regard to licensed software teabgnglwe are, to a certain extent,
dependent upon the ability of third parties to rteim enhance or develop their products and ses\acea timely and cost-effective basis, to
meet industry technological standards and innomatand to deliver products that are free of defectecurity vulnerabilities, and to ensure
their services are free from disruptions or intptians. Further, these third-party products or tedbgy licenses may not always be available t
us on commercially reasonable terms or at all.

If our agreements with third-party vendors areneoiewed or the third-party software or serviceobee obsolete, are incompatible
with future versions of our products or services, @efective or otherwise fail to address our ngigige is no assurance that we would be abl
to replace the functionality provided by the thpdrty products or services with technology fronemative providers. Furthermore, even if we
obtain licenses to alternative products or servibasprovide the functionality we need, we maydmuired to replace hardware installed at ou
monitoring stations and at our subscribers’ hormesduding security system control panels and peipls, in order to affect our integration of
or migration to alternative software products. Arfthese factors could materially and adverselgafbur business, financial condition, results
of operations and cash flows.

Our operations depend upon telecommunication seeg@roviders to transmit signals to our third-pantyoviders and our monitoring
stations.

Our operations depend upon cellular and otheraedecunications providers to communicate signalsyebfaom our monitoring
stations and subscribers in a timely, cost-efficar consistent manner. The failure of one or nobtbese providers to transmit and
communicate signals in a timely manner could affectability to provide services to our subscrib@isere can be no assurance that tpady
telecommunications providers and signal-processamgers will continue to transmit and communicégeals to our third-party providers and
the monitoring stations without disruption. Any Budisruption, particularly one of a prolonged dimat could have a material adverse effec
our business. In addition, failure to renew cortadth existing providers or to contract with atlpeoviders on commercially acceptable term:
or at all may adversely impact our business.

Certain elements of our operating model have hisitly relied on our subscribers’ continued selgetand use of traditional
landline telecommunications to transmit signalsuo monitoring stations and to provide servicesuposubscribers. There is a growing trend
for consumers to switch to the exclusive use dfita, satellite or Internet communication techmgyidn their homes, and telecommunication
providers may discontinue their landline servigethie future. In addition, many of our subscribgh® use cellular communication technology
for their systems use products that rely on oldgtéchnology, and certain telecommunication prasgdeave advised us that they will, and
others may, discontinue 2G services in the futlire discontinuation of landline, 2G and any otl@wiees by telecommunications provider
the future would require subscribers to upgradaternative, and potentially more expensive, tetdgies. This could increase our subscriber
attrition rates and slow our new subscriber origores. To maintain our subscriber base that usegooents that are or could become obsc
we may be required to upgrade or implement newntglolgies, including by offering to subsidize thpleeement of subscribers’ outdated
systems at our expense. Any such upgrades or ingpiEtions could require significant capital expéundis and also divert management'’s
attention and other important resources away francastomer service and new subscriber originagfforts.

Our interactive services are accessed througmtieenlet and our security monitoring services acegasingly delivered using
Internet technologies. Some providers of broadlzamtgss may take measures that affect their cussdatality to use these products and
services, such as degrading the quality of the plat&ets we transmit over their lines, giving thpaekets low priority, giving other packets
higher priority than ours, blocking our packetsiraty or attempting to charge their customers nforausing our services. In the U.S., there
continues to be some uncertainty regarding wheshepliers of broadband Internet access have a tdijghtion to allow their customers to
access services such as ours without interferémd@ecember 2010, the Federal Communications Cosiomng“FCC") adopted new net
neutrality rules that would protect services likeofrom such interference. Several parties haugltggudicial review of the FCC'’s net
neutrality rules. These appeals are currently pgndnterference with our services or higher chatgecustomers by broadband service
providers for using our products and services caalgse us to lose existing subscribers, impaiability to attract new subscribers and
materially and adversely affect our business, fimgrcondition, results of operations and cash fow

In addition, telecommunication services providerssubject to extensive regulation in the markdierne we operate or may exps
in the future. Changes in the applicable laws gulaions affecting telecommunication services doehuire us to change the way we operate
which could increase costs or otherwise disruptaparations, which in turn could adversely affaat lbusiness, financial condition, cash flows
or results of operations.

We must successfully upgrade and maintain our infieaition technology systems.

We rely on various information technology systemsianage our operations. We are currently impleimgmbodifications and
upgrades to these systems, including making chamwdegacy systems, replacing legacy systems witessor systems with new functiona
and implementing new systen



There are inherent costs and risks associatedrepicing and changing these systems and implengenéw systems, including
potential disruption of our internal control struet, substantial capital expenditures, additiodatiaistration and operating expenses, retentio
of sufficiently skilled personnel to implement ampkerate the new systems, demands on managemergriohaher risks and costs of delays or
difficulties in transitioning to new systems orinfegrating new systems into our current systens.ifformation technology system
implementations may not result in productivity impements at a level that outweighs the costs ofémentation, or at all. In addition, the
implementation of new information technology systemay cause disruptions in our business operasind$ave an adverse effect on our
business, cash flows and operations.

We are subject to unionization and labor and empiognt laws and regulations, which could increase arosts and restrict our operations
the future.

Currently, none of our employees are representeslunyion. From time to time, however, attempts im@aynade to organize all or
part of our employee base. As we continue to geowd, enter different regions, unions may make furat@mpts to organize all or part of our
employee base. If some or all of our workforce werbecome unionized, and the terms of the colledtargaining agreement were
significantly different from our current compensatiarrangements, it could increase our costs anersely impact our profitability.
Additionally, responding to such organization ag¢sncould distract our management and result ireased legal and other professional fees;
and, potential labor union contracts could puttia@eased risk of labor strikes and disruptiomwf operations.

Moreover, as employers, we may be subject to vargaployment-related claims, such as individuallass actions or government
enforcement actions relating to alleged employndédrimination, employee classification and relatéthholding, wage-hour, labor standards
or healthcare and benefit issues, such actiobspifght against us and successful in whole or ity pay affect our ability to compete or hav
material adverse effect on our business, finarmabition, cash flows or results of operations.
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The loss of our senior management could disrupt dwsiness.

Our senior management is important to the sucdessrdiusiness because there is significant comipetior executive personnel
with experience in the security and home automatidastry. As a result of this need and the contipetifor a limited pool of industry-based
executive experience, we may not be able to retairexisting senior management. In addition, we matybe able to fill new positions or
vacancies created by expansion or turnover. Moreavith the exception of our Chief Executive Officeve do not and do not currently expect
to have in the future “key person” insurance onlives of any other member of our senior manageniér loss of any member of our senior
management team without retaining a suitable reph&nt (either from inside or outside our existingnagement team) could have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condiiod results of operations.

If we are unable to acquire necessary intellectymbperty or adequately protect our intellectual grerty, we could be competitively
disadvantaged.

Our intellectual property, including our patentademarks, copyrights, trade secrets, and oth@rigtary rights, constitutes a
significant part of our value. Our success depeindsart, on our ability to protect our brands heglogies and products against dilution,
infringement and competitive pressure by defendimgintellectual property rights. To protect outeltectual property rights, we rely on a
combination of patent, trademark, copyright anddraecret laws of the U.S., Canada and other deansrs well as contract provisions. In
addition, we make efforts to acquire intellectualgerty necessary for our operations. However gtisan be no assurance that these measure
will be successful in any given case, particulamlyhose countries where the laws do not protecpoaprietary rights as fully as in the U.S.

If we fail to acquire necessary intellectual praper adequately protect or assert our intellecpuaperty rights, competitors may
dilute our brands or manufacture and market sinpifaducts or convert our subscribers, which codheesely affect our market share and
results of operations. We may not receive patentsademarks for all our pending patent and trad&rapplications, and existing or future
patents or licenses may not provide competitiveaathges for our products. Our competitors may ehg#, invalidate or avoid the application
of any existing or future patents, trademarks,tbepintellectual property rights that we receivdicense. In addition, patent rights may not
prevent our competitors from developing, usingedlirsy products or services that are similar taddress the same market as our products al
services. The loss of protection for our intelletforoperty could reduce the market value of oanlds and our products and services, reduce
new subscriber originations or upgrade sales tstiagj subscribers, lower our profits, and impair fimancial condition.

We may be subject to claims for infringing the ititectual property rights of others, and such claimgould be costly to defend, could
require us to pay damages or enter into licensimgr@ements with third parties and could limit our dity to use certain technology or
increase our costs to use certain technology anddarcts in the future.

We cannot be certain that our products and serdoamt and will not infringe the intellectual peay rights of others. We have
been in the past, and may be in the future, sulbgditigation and other claims based on allegatiohinfringement or other violations of the
intellectual property rights of others, includintgeged patent infringement. Regardless of theirithgntellectual property claims divert the
attention of our personnel and are often time-comisg and expensive to litigate or settle. In additito the extent claims against us are
successful, we may have to pay substantial monedtmages or discontinue or modify certain prodactservices that are found to infringe
another party’s rights. We also may have to seleease to continue offering certain products amdises, which may significantly increase
our operating expenses.

We have identified a material weakness in our irmat control over financial reporting. If we fail tanaintain effective internal control
over financial reporting at a reasonable assuraniexel, we may not be able to accurately report éinancial results, which could
have a material adverse effect on our operatiomsjdstor confidence in our business and the tradipgces of our securities.

In 2012, we and our independent registered publioanting firm identified a material weakness liaigto the accounting for
certain contract sales that occurred during 20@i72298 (it was determined those transactions didjnalify for immediate gain recognition at
the time of the sale because we had entered inkg@ement to continue providing monitoring servifte these contracts). We restated
financial statements from 2009 through June 20&Pwhe had issued previously to address this acoauatror.

We have implemented processes, policies and adgexlienced staff to remediate the identified materieakness and improve ¢
internal control over our financial reporting amdeirnal audit functions. We have also adopted amfit written policies designed to improve
controls associated with our quarterly and yearferahcial statement close processes. As a rebtliese actions, we believe the identified
material weakness was remediated as of Decemb@033,

If our remediation efforts are insufficient to adss the identified material weakness or if add#ionaterial weaknesses in our
internal controls are discovered in the futureytimaly adversely affect our ability to record, pregesummarize and report financial informa
timely and accurately and, as a result, our firgrstatements may contain material misstatemerasnigsions.

In addition, it is possible that control deficieesicould be identified by our management or byirmdependent registered public
accounting firm in the future or may occur withtweting identified. Such a failure could result iguatory scrutiny, cause investors to lose
confidence in our reported financial condition,dea a default under our indebtedness and othemwviderially adversely affect our business
and financial conditior



Our new products and services may not be successful

We launched our energy management and home autmmpatducts and services in June 2010 and April 2fHspectively. We
launched our wireless Internet on a limited basisng) 2013 and anticipate launching additional picid and services in the near future. These
products and services and the new products orcgsrwe may launch in the future may not be welking by our subscribers and may not
help us to attract new subscribers or lower thetiatt rate of existing subscribers. Any profits way generate from these or other new
products or services may be lower than profits geted from our core products and services and mapa sufficient for us to recoup the
development costs incurred. New products and sesvitay also have lower gross margins, particutarthe extent that they do not fully
utilize our existing infrastructure. In additiorew products and services may require increasedtipeal expenses or subscriber acquisition
costs and present new and difficult technologiballlenges that may subject us to claims or comfddirsubscribers experience service
disruptions or failures or other quality issues.tiie extent our new products and services areunmessful, it could damage our reputation,
limit our new subscriber acquisition and have aamat adverse effect on our business, financialid@m, cash flows or results of operations.

Product or service defects or shortfalls in custonservice could have an adverse effect on us.

Our inability to provide products or services itimely manner or defects with our products or ssgicould adversely affect our
reputation. In addition, our inability to meet satisers’ expectations with respect to our produstsyices or customer service could increase
attrition rates or affect our ability to generagwnsubscribers and thereby have a material adeéfieset on our business, financial condition i
results of operations.

Future transactions could pose risks.

We frequently evaluate strategic opportunities lvathin and outside our existing lines of businé&® expect from time-to-time to
pursue additional business opportunities and maiddeo dispose of or acquire certain businesdessd acquisitions or dispositions could be
material. There are various risks and uncertaimtss®ciated with potential acquisitions and divesds, including: (i) availability of financing;
(i) difficulties related to combining previouslggarate businesses into a single unit, includinglycts and service packages, distribution and
operational capabilities and business culture$;g@neral business disruption; (iv) managing titegration process; (v) diversion of
management’s attention from day-to-day operati@risassumption of liabilities of an acquired buess, including unforeseen or
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contingent liabilities or liabilities in excess thle amounts estimated; (vii) failure to realizei@pated benefits and synergies, such as cost
savings and revenue enhancements; (viii) poteyalbstantial costs and expenses associated vejthisitons and dispositions; (ix) failure to
retain and motivate key employees; and (x) diftieslin applying our internal control over finaridi@porting and disclosure controls and
procedures to an acquired business.

Goodwill and other identifiable intangible assetspresent a significant portion of our total asset)d we may never realize the full
value of our intangible assets.

As of December 31, 2013, we had approximately $illién of goodwill and identifiable intangible ats, excluding deferred
financing costs. Goodwill and other identifiabléaingible assets are recorded at fair value ondke af acquisition. In addition, as of
December 31, 2013, we had $288.3 million of subgercontract costs, net. We review such asseisnfmirment at least annually. Impairms
may result from, among other things, deterioratioperformance, adverse market conditions, adveltaages in applicable laws or regulatic
including changes that restrict the activities o&ffect the products and services we offer, chaks to the validity of certain registered
intellectual property, reduced sales of certairdpots or services incorporating registered intéllacproperty, increased attrition and a variety
of other factors. The amount of any quantified impant must be expensed immediately as a chargestdts of operations. Depending on
future circumstances, it is possible that we mayeneealize the full value of our intangible assétsy future determination of impairment of
goodwill or other identifiable intangible assetsltbhave a material adverse effect on our finarmisition and results of operations.

Insurance policies may not cover all of our openagj risks and a casualty loss beyond the limits of coverage could negatively
impact our business.

We are subject to all of the operating hazardsresikd normally incidental to the provision of owrgices and business operations.
In addition to contractual provisions limiting diability to subscribers and third parties, we ntain insurance policies in such amounts and
with such coverage and deductibles that we bekegageasonable and prudent. Nevertheless, sudtaimsimay not be adequate to protect us
from all the liabilities and expenses that mayeafism claims for personal injury, death or propetamage arising in the ordinary course of
business and current levels of insurance may nableto be maintained or available at economidakp. If a significant liability claim is
brought against us that is not covered by insurahes we may have to pay the claim with our owmdf) which could have a material adverse
effect on our business, financial condition, cdetv$ or results of operations.

We are highly dependent on the proper and efficiémnctioning of our computer, data back-up, infornti@n technology and
processing systems and our redundant monitoringtistas.

Our ability to keep our business operating is higltépendent on the proper and efficient operatfauo computer, information
technology and data-processing systems. We pedatisaster recovery test at least once every quartbalways have two unused servers
ready to be used in a disaster scenario. We haplemented various techniques to deal with certaimwn failures that may arise, such as
setting up two central monitoring facilities housedeparate and distinct locations in differemfioas of the U. S. such that if one facility fails
or goes offline, the other can automatically assaorgrol. Furthermore, our systems are designel that data is replicated every 15 minutes
offsite such that we can obtain a replica of data wo more than 15 minutes of lost inputs. We alilive a next-day hardware service such
that a failed part within a server could be reptaite following day.

Although our redundant central monitoring facikitieave back-up computer and power systems, if isex&atastrophic event,
natural disaster, security breach or other extiaargl event, we may be unable to provide our suibsrs with uninterrupted monitoring
service. Furthermore, because computer and dakaupaand processing systems are susceptible tan@ibns and interruptions (including
those due to equipment damage, power outages, tempruses, computer hacking, data corruptionanange of other hardware, software
and network problems), we cannot guarantee thatill@ot experience monitoring failures in the fteuA significant or large-scale
malfunction or interruption of any computer or dateck-up and processing system could adverselgtadte ability to keep our operations
running efficiently and respond to alarm systenmalg. If a malfunction results in a wider or suséai disruption, it could have a material
adverse effect on our reputation, business, firsrcindition, cash flows or results of operations.

Our business is concentrated in certain markets.

Our business is concentrated in certain marketafAecember 31, 2013, contracts entered into sutbscribers in Texas and
California represented approximately 17% and 6%peetively, of our total subscriber contracts. Adaagly, our business and results of
operations are particularly susceptible to advecsmomic, weather and other conditions in such etaréind in other markets that may becom
similarly concentrated.

Catastrophic events may disrupt our business.

Unforeseen events, or the prospect of such eviaetading war, terrorism and other internationahfticts, public health issues
including health epidemics or pandemics and natlisaisters such as fire, hurricanes, earthquakether adverse weather and climate
conditions, whether occurring in the U.S., Canadalsewhere, could disrupt our operations, dist@toperations of suppliers or subscribel
result in political or economic instability. Theseents could reduce demand for our products anicest These events could also make it
difficult or impossible to receive equipment fronpgliers or impair our ability to deliver produasd services to customers on a timely bz



Any such disruption could damage our reputation@gse subscriber attrition. We could be subjectdims or litigation with
respect to losses caused by such disruptions. ©@pefy and business interruption insurance mayoegr a particular event at all (or the
amount may not be sufficient to fully cover ourdes).

Currency fluctuations could materially and adverseaffect us and we have not hedged this risk.

Historically, a portion of our revenue has beenateimated in Canadian Dollars. For the year endezkBder 31, 2013, before
intercompany eliminations, approximately $27.3 imillor 5% of our revenues were denominated in Ganadollars and as of December 31,
2013, before intercompany eliminations, $140.0iomllor 6% of our total assets and $84.5 milliod&s of our total liabilities were
denominated in Canadian Dollars. In the future gwgect to continue generating revenue denominat&hnadian Dollars, and also generate
revenue denominated in other foreign currenciesoAdingly, we may be materially and adversely a#ddy currency fluctuations in the
U.S. Dollar versus these currencies. Weaker foreigrencies relative to the U.S. Dollar may resulbwer levels of reported revenues with
respect to foreign currenaenominated subscriber contracts, net income,sadetilities and accumulated other comprehenisizeme on ou
U.S. Dollar-denominated financial statements. Weh@ot historically hedged against this exposuoeeign exchange rates are influenced by
many factors outside of our control, including hot limited to: changing supply and demand for dipalar currency; monetary policies of
governments (including exchange-control programstrictions on local exchanges or markets andatioits on foreign investment in a
country or on investment by residents of a couintrgther countries); changes in balances of paysn@md trade; trade restrictions; and
currency devaluations and revaluations. Also, govemts may from time to time intervene in the aucyemarkets, directly and by regulation,
in order to influence prices directly. As such,gh@vents and actions are unpredictable. The irgguiblatility in the exchange rates for the
other currencies could have a material adversetedfe our financial condition and results of opienag.

If the insurance industry changes its practice ofqviding incentives to homeowners for the use ofigential electronic security
services, we may experience a reduction in new stibsr growth or an increase in our subscriber atton rate.

It is common practice in the insurance industrpriavide a reduction in premium rates for insurapakcies written on homes that
have monitored electronic security systems. Tharebe no assurance that insurance companies wiihce to offer these rate reductions. If
these incentives were reduced or eliminated, homemwho otherwise may not feel the need for oadypcets or services would be removed
from our potential subscriber pool, which coulddenthe growth of our business, and existing sifbss may choose to cancel or not renew
their contracts, which could increase our attritiates. In either case, our results of operatiosgrowth prospects could be adversely affe:
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The Issuer is a holding company and its principadset is its ownership of the capital stock of itdsidiaries; accordingly, the Issuer
dependent upon distributions from its subsidiariEsmake payments in respect of the notes and tofaags and any other expenses.

The Issuer is a holding company and its princigakais its ownership of the capital stock of itssidiaries. The Issuer has no
independent means of generating revenue. The Isgeads to cause its subsidiaries to make digtabs to the Issuer following the
consummation of the Transactions in amounts sefiicio make payments in respect of the notes antstluer’s other outstanding
indebtedness. To the extent that the Issuer neldis fand its subsidiaries are unable or otheneisgicted from making such distributions
under applicable law or regulation, the Issuedsilility and financial condition would be adversaffected and the Issuer may be unable to
satisfy its obligations under the notes or undeoiher indebtedness.

Affiliates of the Sponsor own substantially all tfie equity interests in us and may have conflicfdrgerest with us or the holders of
the notes in the future.

As a result of the Merger, the Sponsor owns a aukial majority of our capital stock and has théigtto elect a majority of our
board of directors. As a result, affiliates of Bygonsor have control over our decisions to enterany corporate transaction and will have the
ability to prevent any transaction that requiresdlpproval of stockholders regardless of wheth&tdne of the notes believe that any such
transactions are in their own best interests. kample, affiliates of the Sponsor could cause usdke acquisitions that increase the amou
our indebtedness or to sell assets or businessesuldl cause us to issue additional capital stoakeclare dividends. So long as the Sponsor
continues to indirectly own a significant amounttoé outstanding shares of our common stock, atiiti of the Sponsor will continue to be ¢
to strongly influence or effectively control ourai§ions. The indentures governing our 2019 notelsoam 2020 notes and the credit agreemen
governing our revolving credit facility permit us pay advisory and other fees, dividends and mé#er oestricted payments to the Sponsor
under certain circumstances and the Sponsor effilisites may have an interest in our doing saadidition, the Sponsor has no obligation to
provide us with any additional debt or equity ficany.

Additionally, the Sponsor is in the business of mgknvestments in companies and may from timéme tacquire and hold
interests in businesses that compete directlydirently with us or that supply us with goods ardvices. The Sponsor may also pursue
acquisition opportunities that may be complementargur business and, as a result, those acquigipportunities may not be available to us.
The holders of the notes should consider thatritezésts of the Sponsor and other Investors mégrdibm their interests in material respects.
See “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Ovenand Management and Related Stockholder Mattets™@ertain Relationships and
Related Party Transactions, and Director Indepecelén

Risks Relating to Our Indebtedness

Our substantial indebtedness could adversely affeet financial condition and prevent us from fulfiing our obligations under our
indebtedness.

As of December 31, 2013, we had approximately $illi®n of debt outstanding, which requires sigcéfnt interest and principal
payments. Subject to the limits contained in theglitragreement governing our revolving credit fagithe indenture governing our 2019 no
the indenture governing our 2020 notes and thaegipé agreements governing our other debt instntsngve may be able to incur substantia
additional debt from time to time to finance worioapital, capital expenditures, investments ougsitions, or for other purposes. If we do
the risks related to our high level of debt couldrease. Specifically, our high level of debt coutave important consequences, including the
following:

. making it more difficult for us to satisfy our opéitions with respect to our de

. limiting our ability to obtain additional finaing to fund future working capital, capital expéaces, acquisitions or other
general corporate requiremer

. requiring a substantial portion of our caslwiao be dedicated to debt service payments insteather purposes, thereby
reducing the amount of cash flows available forkirgg capital, capital expenditures, acquisitiond ather general corpor:
purposes

. increasing our vulnerability to general adverseneooic and industry condition

. exposing us to the risk of increased interest rasesertain of our borrowings are at variable rafésterest;

. limiting our flexibility in planning for and reactg to changes in the industry in which we comp

. placing us at a disadvantage compared to other|desraged competitors; a

. increasing our cost of borrowin

Despite our current level of indebtedness, we mayable to incur substantially more debt and entetd other transactions, which
could further exacerbate the risks to our financiabndition described above.

We may be able to incur significant additional intbelness in the future. As of December 31, 2013haek$197.8 million of
availability to incur secured indebtedness underévolving credit facility (after giving effect %2.2 million of outstanding letters of cred



We will be permitted to add, in addition to thealamg credit facility, incremental facilities ofputo $225.0 million, subject to
certain conditions being satisfied, of which ugi®0.0 million may be incurred on the same “superijty” basis as the revolving credit
facility. Moreover, although the indenture govemur 2019 notes, the indenture governing our 2a26s and the credit agreement goveri
the revolving credit facility contain restrictions the incurrence of additional indebtedness anerigig into certain types of other transactions
these restrictions are subject to a number of fications and exceptions. Additional indebtednassiired in compliance with these restricti
could be substantial. These restrictions also dgrevent us from incurring obligations, such aslér payables, that do not constitute
indebtedness as defined under our debt instrumEothe extent new debt is added to our current ldels, the substantial leverage risks
described in the previous risk factor would inceeas

In addition, the exceptions to the restrictive awasgts permit us to enter into certain other tratmsas. For example, the credit
agreement governing our revolving credit facilitye indenture governing our 2019 notes and thenitadle governing our 2020 notes permit
subject to certain conditions, to distribute oresthise use for restricted payments any proceed®alize from the 2GIG Sale. On May 14,
2013, we distributed $60.0 million of such procetmsur stockholders. Subject to the applicabled@@ns, we may distribute the remaining
proceeds in the future.

Our variable rate indebtedness subjects us to ietrate risk, which could cause our indebtedness/ge obligations to increase
significantly.

Borrowings under our revolving credit facility aaevariable rates of interest and expose us todsteate risk. If interest rates
increase, our debt service obligations on the béieate indebtedness would increase even thowghrttount borrowed remained the same
our net income and cash flows, including cash atl for servicing our indebtedness, would corraspwly decrease.
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We may be unable to service our indebtedness.

Our ability to make scheduled payments on andfinaece our indebtedness depends on and is subjeat financial and
operating performance, which in turn is affectedgbyeral and regional economic, financial, competitousiness and other factors beyond
control, including the availability of financing the international banking and capital markets.dAt@not assure you that our business will
generate sufficient cash flow from operations ait fiature borrowings will be available to us ina@nount sufficient to enable us to service our
debt, to refinance our debt or to fund our othguillity needs.

If we are unable to meet our debt service oblignstior to fund our other liquidity needs, we willegkto restructure or refinance all
or a portion of our debt, which could cause usdfadlt on our debt obligations and impair our ldjtyi. Any refinancing of our indebtedness
could be at higher interest rates and may requit® comply with more onerous covenants that chutther restrict our business operations.

Moreover, in the event of a default, the holderswfindebtedness, including the 2019 notes, tl2® 2@tes and borrowings under
our revolving credit facility, could elect to deraall the funds borrowed to be due and payabggther with accrued and unpaid interest. The
lenders under our revolving credit facility couldaelect to terminate their commitments thereundesise making further loans, and institute
foreclosure proceedings against their collaterad,\&e could be forced into bankruptcy or liquidatitf we breach our covenants under our
revolving credit facility, we would be in defaulbder our revolving credit facility. The lenders texercise their rights, as described above,
and we could be forced into bankruptcy or liquidati

The indenture governing our 2019 notes, the inderdgwgoverning our 2020 notes and the credit agreemgoverning our revolving
credit facility impose significant operating andrfancial restrictions on us and our subsidiaries, weh may prevent us from
capitalizing on business opportunities.

The indenture governing our 2019 notes, the indergoverning our 2020 notes and the credit agreegererning our revolving
credit facility impose significant operating anddncial restrictions on us. These restrictionstlonr ability to, among other things:

. incur or guarantee additional debt or issue distjedlstock or preferred stoc

. pay dividends and make other distributions ongdeem or repurchase, capital stc

. make certain investmeni

. incur certain liens

. enter into transactions with affiliates; merge onsolidate

. enter into agreements that restrict the abilityestricted subsidiaries to make dividends or offagiments to the Issue
. designate restricted subsidiaries as unrestrictbdidiaries; ani

. transfer or sell asset

As a result of these restrictions, we are limitedaashow we conduct our business and we may bdeitabaise additional debt or
equity financing to compete effectively or to tad@vantage of new business opportunities. The tefraay future indebtedness we may incur
could include more restrictive covenants. We caasstrre you that we will be able to maintain coamgle with these covenants in the future
and, if we fail to do so, that we will be able totain waivers from the lenders and/or amend thewcants.

Our failure to comply with the restrictive covenadescribed above as well as other terms of ogtiegiindebtedness and/or the
terms of any future indebtedness from time to tameld result in an event of default, which, if motred or waived, could result in our being
required to repay these borrowings before theirdhte. If we are forced to refinance these borrgwion less favorable terms or cannot
refinance these borrowings, our results of openatand financial condition could be adversely aédc

Our failure to comply with the agreements relatirig our outstanding indebtedness, including as aultof events beyond our control,
could result in an event of default that could mai&ly and adversely affect our results of operati® and our financial condition.

If there were an event of default under any ofageeements relating to our outstanding indebtedtiesdolders of the defaulted
debt could cause all amounts outstanding with iepehat debt to be due and payable immediat¥ly cannot assure you that our assets or
cash flows would be sufficient to fully repay bosiogs under our outstanding debt instruments iebrated upon an event of default. Further
if we are unable to repay, refinance or restructunreindebtedness under our secured debt, thedsaddsuch debt could proceed against the
collateral securing that indebtedness. In additmy, event of default or declaration of acceleratiader one debt instrument could also result
in an event of default under one or more of ouepttebt instruments.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.



ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our headquarters, and one of our two monitoringifes, are located in Provo, Utah. These preméesleased under leas
expiring between December 2024 and June 2028. ibddity, we lease the premises for a separate miamdf station located in South St. Paul,
Minnesota. We also lease various other facilitieslfah, Florida, Idaho, Minnesota, Washington aadd#zla for offices, warehousing,
recruiting, and training purposes and own a snealluiting and training facility in Idaho. We belgthat these facilities are adequate for our
current needs and that suitable additional or gukstspace will be available as needed to accorateaghy expansion of our operations.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are engaged in the defense of certain claimdaavglits arising out of the ordinary course andduet of our business and have
certain unresolved claims pending, the outcomeghi¢h are not determinable at this time. Our subscrcontracts include exculpatory
provisions as described under “—Subscriber Corgra€@ther Terms.” We also have insurance policie®dnyg certain potential losses where
such coverage is available and cost effectiveuimopinion, any liability that might be incurred bg upon the resolution of any claims or
lawsuits will not, in the aggregate, have a materiwerse effect on our financial condition or flesof operations. See Note 14 of our
Consolidated Financial Statements included elsesvimethis annual report on Form 10-K for additioimibrmation.
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ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not applicable

PART Il

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT 'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND IS SUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

We are a wholly owned subsidiary of APX Parent kdoldnc., which in turn is wholly owned throughéntnediate holding
companies by the Investor Group. Presently, tremmipublic trading market for our common stock.

ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected historical consolidated fingl information and other data set forth belowwdt be read in conjunction wi
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Finan€iahdition and Results of Operations” and our histdrconsolidated financial statements
and the related notes thereto contained elsewhdhési annual report on Form 10-K.

The selected historical consolidated financial infation and other data presented below for the geded December 31, 2013, the
Successor Period ended December 31, 2012, thedessde Period from January 1, 2012 through Noveri®e?012 and the Predecessor yea
ended December 31, 2011 and the selected congalibatance sheet data as of December 31, 2013042d(3uccessor) have been derived
from our audited consolidated financial statemémtkided in this annual report on Form 10-K. Thiested historical consolidated financial
information and other data presented below foryters ended December 31, 2010 and 2009 (Prederassahe selected consolidated
balance sheet data as of December 31, 2011, 2@1R029 (Predecessor) have been derived from outegucbnsolidated financial statements
which are not included in this annual report onnrdi0-K. The selected historical consolidated finaniaformation and other data of the
Predecessor are presented for the Issuer and abyvdwned subsidiaries, as well as Solar, 2GIG tmair respective subsidiaries. The selecte
historical consolidated financial information arttier data of the Successor Period from Novembe2Q¥2 through December 31, 2012 ref
the Merger presenting the financial position arsiilts of operations of Parent Guarantor and wholiyred subsidiaries. The financial position
and results of the Successor are not comparalte thinancial position and results of the Predemedse to the Merger and the application of
purchase accounting in accordance with ASCB08iness Combinations

The historical financial information for the Predssor Period from January 1, 2012 through Noverh®e2012 and for the year
ended December 31, 2011 (Predecessor) includdikiamnual report on Form 10-K include the resofitSolar, which commenced operations
in early 2011. Since consummation of the Transastiohile Solar remains a variable interest entity,are no longer its primary beneficiary.
Accordingly, Solar is no longer required to be utgd in the consolidated financial statements ®@Qbmpany. The historical financial
information included in this annual report on Fat@iK include the results of 2GIG up through April D13, which was the date we comple
the 2GIG Sale to Nortek. Solar and 2GIG do not, w&itidhot, provide any credit support for any indetness of the Issuer, including
indebtedness incurred under our revolving credilifg or the notes.
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Successo Predecesso Predecessol
Period from Period from
November 17 January 1,
through through
December 31 December 31 November 16 Year Ended December 31
2013 2012 2012 2011 2010 2009
(dollars in thousands)
Statement of Operations Data
Total revenue $ 500,90¢ $ 57,60¢| $ 397,57( $339,94¢ $238,87¢( $172,51:
Total costs and expens 555,78t 85,79¢ 440,56: 300,93 193,64¢ 176,66!
(Loss) Income from operatiol (54,88() (28,197 (42,999 39,01 45,22¢ (4,159
Other expense:
Interest expens (114,479 (12,64%) (106,62() (102,069 (69,539 (41,829
Interest incom: 1,49: 4 61 214 64 73
Gain on 2GIG Sal 46,86¢ — — — — —
Other income (expense 76 (171 (122) (38¢) (399 (2,31%)
Loss from continuing operations before income t¢ (120,92) (41,005 (149,674 (63,227 (24,639 (48,219
Income tax expense (bene! 3,592 (10,909 4,92: (3,739 4,32( 88
Net loss from continuing operatio (124,519 (30,107 (154,59) (59,489 (28,959 (48,30¢)
Discontinued operation
Loss from discontinued operatio — — (239) (2,919 — —
Net loss (124,51)) (30,107 (154,83¢) (62,40%) (28,95¢) (48,30¢)
Net (loss) income attributable to non-controlling
interests — — (1,319 6,141 (5,300 (179
Net loss attributable to APX Group Holdings, | $ (124,51) $ (30,1079 N/A N/A N/A N/A
Net loss attributable to APX Group, Ir N/A N/A | $ (153,51) §$ (68,546 $ (23,65¢) $ (48,12)
Balance Sheet Data (at period end
Cash $ 261,900 $ 8,09( NA ¢ 368 $ 370 $ 1,151
Working capital (deficit 187,78: (32,839 N/A (25,019 (60,58¢) 27,14(
Adjusted working capital (deficit) (excluding caslebt
and discontinued operatior (69,925 (36,927 N/A (7,149 (55,987 26,27¢
Total asset 2,424,43. 2,155,341 N/A 644,98( 456,28 393,20:
Total debt 1,762,04! 1,333,00! N/A 623,74 424,15 355,00(
Total shareholde’ equity (deficit) $ 490,24 $ 679,27 N/A  $(183,499) $(169,207) $(141,68Y)
Ratio of earnings to fixed charges NM NM N/A NM NM NM

NM—Not meaningful.
N/A—Not applicable.

(1) The ratio of earnings to fixed charges is claltad by dividing the sum of earnings (loss) froomtinuing operations before income taxes
and fixed charges, by fixed charges. Fixed chairg#dade interest expense on all indebtedness, &@atian of debt issuance fees and
interest expense on operating leases. Earningsdedicent in all periods presented to cover fixddrges by the following amoun

Successo Predecesso Predecesso
Period from Period from
November 17 January 1,
through through
December 31 December 31 November 16 Year Ended December 31
2013 2012 2012 2011 2010 2009
(dollars in thousands)

$ (120,92) $ (40,789| $ (149,660 $(63,180) $(24,627) $(48,08))
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT 'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AN D RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis providesrimi@tion which management believes is relevant tassessment and
understanding of our consolidated results of ogerat and financial condition. This discussion ceveeriods both prior to and subsequent to
the Transactions (as described below). Accordintig,discussion and analysis of certain historjgatiods do not reflect the significant imp
of the Transactions. The discussion should be ie@dnjunction with the “Unaudited Pro Forma FinaatInformation,” “ Selected Historice
Consolidated Financial Information” and the congtzlted financial statements and notes thereto coathin this annual report on Form X0-
This discussion contains forward-looking statemeamid involves numerous risks and uncertaintieduting, but not limited to, those
described in the “Risk Factors” section of this amah report on Form 10-K. Actual results may diffeaterially from those contained in any
forward-looking statements.

Business Overview

We are one of the largest residential securitytsmia companies and one of the largest and fagtesting home automation
services providers in North America. In Februarg20we were recognized by Forbes magazine as oAmefica’s Most Promising
Companies. Our fully integrated and remotely adbéssesidential services platform offers subsamsbe suite of products and services that
includes interactive security, life-safety, enemygnagement and home automation. We utilize a deadiect-tohome sales model to origin:
the majority of our new subscribers, which allovgscontrol over our net subscriber acquisition cdsts have built a high-quality subscriber
portfolio, with an average credit score of 717ptlgh our underwriting criteria and compensationditrre. Unlike many of our competitors,
who generally focus on either subscriber origimatio servicing, we originate, install, service andnitor our entire subscriber base, which
allows us to control the overall subscriber experéee We seek to deliver a quality subscriber expee with a combination of innovative
development of new products and services and a déonemt to customer service, which together with fmaus on originating high-quality
new subscribers, has enabled us to achieve attrii@s that are historically at or below industvgrages. Utilizing this model, we have built a
portfolio of approximately 796,000 subscriberspf®ecember 31, 2013. Approximately 92% of our rwes during the year ended
December 31, 2013 consist of contractually commhitezurring revenues, which have historically restiin consistent and predictable
operating results.

Recent Transactions

On April 1, 2013, we completed the 2GIG Sale. Pamstio the terms of the 2GIG Sale, Nortek acquélédf the outstanding
common stock of 2GIG for aggregate cash consideratf approximately $148.9 million. In connectiofttwthe 2GIG Sale, we entered into a
five-year supply agreement with 2GIG, pursuant kicl they will be the exclusive provider of our tmh panel requirements, subject to
certain exceptions as provided in the supply ages¢nf\ portion of the net proceeds from the 2GIG& S@s used to temporarily repay $44.0
million of outstanding borrowings under our revaolgicredit facility. The terms of the indentures gming the notes permit us, subject to
certain conditions, to distribute all or a portiofithe net proceeds from the 2GIG Sale to our s$tolders. In May 2013, we distributed $60.0
million of such proceeds to our stockholders. Scitfie the applicable conditions, we may distrikilite remaining proceeds in the future. Our
results of operations include the results of 2@i@dugh the date of the 2GIG Sale.

In May and December 2013, we issued and sold aiti@all $200.0 million and $250.0 million, respeetly, aggregate principal
amount of outstanding 2020 notes.
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Key Factors Affecting Operating Results

Our business is driven through the generation of sigbscribers and servicing and maintaining oustaad subscriber base. The
generation of new subscribers requires significgrfitont investment, which in turn provides predidéacontractual recurring monthly revenue
generated from our monitoring and additional seasidVe market our service offerings through twesahannels, direct-to-home and inside
sales. Historically, most of our new subscriberoacits were generated through direchtone sales, primarily from April through August.W
subscribers generated through inside sales inatdas8% of total new subscriber additions in tearyended December 31, 2013, as comg
to 19% of total new subscribers in the year endedenber 31, 2012. Over time, we expect inside $alesntinue increasing as a percentage
of our overall subscriber originations, resultingm increased advertising and expansion of ouctisales calling centers.

Our operating results are impacted by the followkay factors: number of subscriber additions, néssriber acquisition costs,
average RMR per subscriber, subscriber adopti@nafaddditional services beyond our Advanced HoemuBty package, subscriber attrition,
the costs to monitor and service our subscribbeslavel of general and administrative expensedtamdvailability and cost of capital required
to generate new subscribers. We focus our investdemisions on generating new subscribers anddegvour existing subscribers in the m
cost-effective manner, while maintaining a higheleaf customer service to minimize subscriber @it These decisions are based on the
projected cash flows and associated margins getkoaer the expected life of the subscriber retatidp. Attrition is defined as the aggregate
number of cancelled subscribers during a perioalddsby the monthly weighted average number of gthscribers for such period.
Subscribers are considered cancelled when theyrtatenin accordance with the terms of their confraie terminated by us, or if payment
from such subscribers is deemed uncollectible 8@ past due). Sales of contracts to third paatielscertain subscriber moves are excludec
from the attrition calculation.

Our ability to increase subscribers depends omabeu of factors, both external and internal. Exaéfactors include the overall
macroeconomic environment and competition from iotieenpanies in the geographies we serve, partigulathose markets where our direct-
to-home sales representatives are present. Somg ofirrent competitors have longer operating histp greater name recognition and
substantially greater financial and marketing reésesithan us. In the future, other companies n&y @loose to begin offering services similal
to ours. In addition, because such a large pergerdfour new subscribers are generated througlstelio-home sales, any actions limiting this
sales channel could negatively affect our abilitgtow our subscriber base.

Internal factors include our ability to recruitaim and retain personnel, along with the levehokstment in sales and marketing
efforts. We believe maintaining competitive comimn structures, differentiated product offeriagal establishing a strong brand are critica
to attracting and retaining high-quality persoramedl competing effectively in the markets we seAgea result, we expect to increase our
investment in advertising in the markets we seirvan effort to generate greater awareness of thi@t\brand. Successfully growing our
revenue per subscriber depends on our ability tdimee expanding our technology platform by offgradditional value added services
demanded by the market. Therefore, we continuaiyuate the viability of additional service packadieat could further leverage our existing
technology platform and sales channels. As evidehdas focus on new services, since 2010, we lsaeeessfully expanded our service
packages from residential security into energy rgangent, security plus and home automation, whildwalus to charge higher RMR for
these additional service packages. In additiorinduhe year ended December 31, 2013, we begarirgffeigh-speed wireless internet to a
limited number of residential customers. This seaffering leverages our existing direct-to-horaltirsg model for the generation of new
subscribers. During the year ended December 3B, 2Qiproximately 61% of our new subscribers cotddéor one of our additional service
packages. Due to the high rate of adoption foretteeklitional service packages, our average RMR@ersubscriber has increased from $4
in 2009 to $58.35 for the year ended December @13 2an increase of 31%, while generally not insirgaprices for our services during these
periods.

We focus on managing the costs associated withtoramg and service without jeopardizing our awarithving service quality. We
believe our ability to retain subscribers over lthrgg-term starts with our underwriting criteria asdenhanced by maintaining our consistent
quality service levels.

Subscriber attrition has a direct impact on the benof subscribers who we monitor and service andw financial results,
including revenues, operating income and cash fléwsortion of the subscriber base can be expectedncel its service every year.
Subscribers may choose not to renew or may termihair contracts for a variety of reasons, ingigdielocation, cost, switching to a
competitor’s service and service issues. If a sitbsicrelocates but continues their service, waaiconsider this as a cancellation. If a
subscriber discontinues their service and transferoriginal subscriber’s contract to a new subscrcontinuing the revenue stream, we also
do not consider this as a cancellation. We anabyzeattrition by tracking the number of subscribete cancel as a percentage of the average
number of subscribers at the end of each twelvetimperiod. We caution investors that not all comgsninvestors and analysts in our indu
define attrition in the same manner.

The table below presents our subscriber data toyéars ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011:

Year Ended December 31

2013 2012 2011

Beginning balance of subscribers 671,81¢ 562,00¢ 456,39.
Net new addition: 219,03: 180,34 151,09:
Net contract sale — (4,230

Attrition (95,357) (70,535 (41,24)




Ending balance of subscribe 795,50( 671,81¢ 562,00t

Growth rate 18% 20% 23%
Monthly average subscribe 743,54+ 627,80¢ 518,76¢
Attrition rate 12.8% 11.2% 8.C%

Historically, we have experienced an increasedl lef/subscriber cancellations in the months surdug the expiration of
such subscribers’ initial contract term. Attritionany twelve month period may be impacted by thealner of subscriber contracts reaching the
end of their initial term in such period. Increaseattrition in the year ended December 31, 20é&fiect the effect of the 2008 60-month pool
and a portion of the 2010 42-month pools reachiegeind of their initial contract terms during 20%& believe this trend in cancellation at the
end of the initial contract term is comparable tioeo companies within our industry.

Basis of Presentation

We have historically conducted business throughvivint and 2GIG operating segments. Through thte @& the Transactions, the
historical results of our Vivint operating segmardiuded the results of Vivint, Inc. and its subaites, as well as those of Solar, which was
historically consolidated as a variable interest
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entity. After the date of the Transactions, theultssof our Vivint operating segment exclude theufes of Solar, as it is not a subsidiary of ours
and we are no longer considered a primary beneficgSolar. On April 1, 2013, we completed theesall 2GIG to Nortek. See “—Recent
Transactions.” Therefore, 2GIG is excluded from operating results, beginning on the date of thE32&ale. The results of our 2GIG
operating segment include the results of 2GIG Teldyies, Inc., which prior to the Merger was a &hlé interest entity and after the Merger
was our consolidated subsidiary until its sale totbk.

Revenues from Solar and its subsidiaries were appedely $0.4 million, or less than 1% of our totavenues (excluding
intercompany activity), for the period from Januar2012 through the date of the Transactions.fAkeodate of the Transactions, assets of
Solar and its subsidiaries were approximately $4@I0on, or 5% of our total assets (excluding m@mpany balances), and liabilities of Solar
and its subsidiaries were approximately $27.2 anillior 2% of our total liabilities (excluding intermpany balances). Revenues from 2GIG
its subsidiary were approximately $17.5 million,386 of our total revenues and $58.1 million, or 18P6ur total revenues during the year
ended December 31, 2013 and the Pro Forma Yeaddbelmmber 31, 2012, respectively. As of March281,3, assets of 2GIG and its
subsidiary were approximately $138.5 million, or 6%@ur total assets (excluding intercompany baahcand liabilities of 2GIG and its
subsidiary were approximately $63.2 million, or 4¥%wour total liabilities (excluding intercompanylaaces).

Historically, a substantial majority of 2GIG’s reuees were generated from Vivint through (i) saleisscsecurity systems and
(ii) fees billed to Vivint associated with a thigdrty monitoring platform. Sales to Vivint repretahapproximately 71%, 45%, 54% and 80%
of 2GIG’s total revenues on a stand-alone basigh®period January 1, 2013 through the date 02@kS Sale, the Successor Period ended
December 31, 2012, the Predecessor Period fronadatu2012 through November 16, 2012 and the geded December 31, 2011,
respectively. The results of 2GIG’s operations tigtothe date of the 2GIG Sale discussed in thisi@meport on Form 10-K exclude
intercompany activity with Vivint, as these tranaies are eliminated in consolidation.

The consolidated financial statements for the peaied December 31, 2012 are presented for the d&rest Period from
January 1, 2012 through November 16, 2012 anduleeeSsor Period ended December 31, 2012, whicte teldhe period preceding the
Merger and the period succeeding the Merger, réispdc The consolidated financial statements ef Bredecessor are presented for the Issu
and its wholly-owned subsidiaries. The audited otidated financial statements for the SuccessapBeeflect the Transactions presenting the
financial position and results of operations of Bragent Guarantor and its wholly-owned subsidiafiée financial position and results of the
Successor are not comparable to the financialiposiind results of the Predecessor due to the dctinas and the application of purchase
accounting in accordance with ASC 8B&siness CombinationsThe Transactions have had and are expected tmuaerhaving, a significant
effect on our future financial condition and resuf operations. For instance, as a result of th@3Jactions, our borrowings have increased
significantly, although at lower rates of interesiso, the application of purchase accounting iooadance with ASC 80Business
Combinationgequired that our assets and liabilities be adfutdetheir fair value. These adjustments resulteal decrease in our revenues,
primarily related to activation fees billed to aubscribers prior to the Transactions. The revesgeciated with activation fees is deferred
upon billing and recognized over the estimateddiféhe subscriber relationships. There was deeiméeé no fair value associated with the
deferred activation fee revenues at the time ofdlieransactions. As a result, the recognition efdéferred revenues associated with these
activation fees was eliminated. Our amortizatiopemse also increased due to intangible assetsradduithe Transactions. We also incurred
significant non-recurring charges in connectiortwiite Transactions, including (i) equity-based cengation expense relating to managemen
awards that vested upon the closing of the Traimegt(ii) payment to employees of bonuses andratbmpensation related to the
Transactions and (iii) certain expenses relatatidolransactions that may be required to be expemgaccounting standards.

The unaudited Pro Forma Year statement of opeafmrthe year ended December 31, 2012 has beparprkto give pro forma
effect to the Transactions as if they had occuoredanuary 1, 2012. The pro forma financial infdiorais for informational purposes only and
should not be considered indicative of actual teghiat would have been achieved had the Transactictually been consummated on the
dates indicated and do not purport to indicateltesd operations as of any future date or for aryre period. See “Unaudited Pro Forma
Financial Information.”

How We Generate Revenue
Vivint
Our primary source of revenue is generated thranghitoring services provided to our subscriberadoordance with their
subscriber contracts. The remainder of our revémgenerated through additional services, actindges, upgrades, maintenance and the sal
of subscriber contracts. Monitoring revenues actaalifor 95%, 96%, 94% and 92% of total revenuegeetively for the year ended

December 31, 2013, the Successor Period ended bec&h, 2012, the Predecessor Period from Jany@@12 through November 16, 2012
and the year ended December 31, 2011.

Monitoring revenueMonitoring services for our subscriber contracts laitled in advance, generally monthly, pursuarth®terms
of subscriber contracts and recognized ratably theeservice period. The amount of RMR billed ipeledent upon which of our service
packages the subscriber contracts for. We generdlize higher RMR for our Home Automation, Enekdgnagement and Security Plus
service packages than our Home Security servickagac Historically, we have generally offered caaots to subscribers that range in length
from 36 to 60 months that are subject to autonaatitual or monthly renewal after the expirationhaf initial term. At the end of each monthly
period, the portion of monitoring fees related éovices not yet provided are deferred and recodgraaethese services are provided.

Activation feesActivation fees represent upfront «-time charges billed to subscribers at the timensfallation. The revent



associated with these fees is deferred and recednizing a 150% declining balance method over afsy@nd converts to a
straight-line methodology when the resulting reverecognition is greater than that from the acesdel method for the remaining estimated
life.

Service and other sales revenu@ur service and other sales revenue is primadiyiprised of amounts charged for selling
additional equipment, and maintenance and rephgs& amounts are billed, and the associated revenognized, at the time of installation or
when the services are performed. Service and s#ies revenue also includes contract fulfilmemeneie, which relates to amounts paid by
subscribers who cancel their monitoring contrageim and for which we have no future service ddilign to them. We recognize this revenue
upon receipt of payment from the subscriber.

Contract salesHistorically, we generated a portion of our revenhtigough the sale to third parties of certain stibsr contracts.
However, we do not expect such sales to represesaterial component of future revenues. These satesecognized when ownership of the
contracts transfers to the purchaser and we hal@ngeterm ongoing involvement with any deferredeaue associated with these contracts
also recognized at that time.

2GIG

2GIG’s primary source of revenue was generated thrcugbkdle of electronic home security and automatroducts to dealers a
distributors throughout North America. The remainofethe revenue was earned from monthly recursiexyice fees. System sales, which are
included in service and other sales revenue oransolidated statements of operations through Matcl2013, accounted for approximately
3%, 13%, 12%, 13% and 8% of total consolidatedmaes for the year ended December 31, 2013, th&détroa Year, the Successor Period
ended December 31, 2012, the Predecessor PerindJ&iouary 1, 2012 through November 16, 2012 angdgheended December 31, 2011,
respectively. Product sales accounted for appraeiin87%, 87%, 81%, 88% and 99% of 2GIG’s totakrmyes on a stand-alone basis for the
period January 1, 2013 through the date of the 2&d(@, the Pro Forma Year, the Successor PericedeDdcember 31, 2012, the Predecessc
Period from January 1, 2012 through November 16220hd the year ended December 31, 2011, resplgctive
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Service and other sales revenuéet sales revenue from distribution of the 2GIBducts was recognized when title to the product
transferred to the customer, which occurred up@mnsént from our third-party logistics provider'scfity to the customer. Invoicing occurred
at the time of shipment and in certain cases, dedufreight costs based on specific vendor corgract

Recurring services revenudlet recurring services revenue was based on badlservices for all panels sold to distributorg an
direct-sell dealers and subsequently placed inseim end-user locations. The back-end servicepavided by Alarm.com, an independent
platform services provider. 2GIG received a fixedntily amount from Alarm.com for each of our syssanstalled with customers that used
the Alarm.com platform.

Costs and Expenses
Vivint
Operating expense8perating expenses primarily consists of direcbtassociated with monitoring and servicing sultsss and
labor and equipment expenses related to field seritn addition, a portion of general and admiatste expenses, comprised of certain humat
resources, facilities and information technologiests are allocated to operating expenses. Thisadibn is primarily based on employee
headcount and facility square footage occupiedaBse our field service technicians perform mossetiber installations generated through

our inside sales channels, the costs incurreddy¥i¢ld service associated with these installatemsallocated to capitalized subscriber
acquisition costs.

Cost of contract sale€osts of contract sales reflect the unamortizetigroof capitalized subscriber acquisition costssiabscribe
contracts, which we sell to third parties. As naabdve, we do not expect contract sales to thirtligsato represent a material component of
future revenues.

Selling expenseSelling expenses are primarily comprised of coss®eiated with housing for our direct-to-home sales
representatives, marketing and recruiting, centaiions of sales commissions, overhead (includit@cation of certain general and
administrative expenses) and other costs not diiréet to a specific subscriber origination. Thessts are expensed as incurred.

General and administrative expensé&neral and administrative expenses consist lafdipance, legal, human resources,
information technology and executive managemenéeses, including stock-based compensation exp8isek-based compensation expense
is recorded within various components of our casid expenses. We allocate approximately one-ttiiodiogross general and administrative
expenses into operating and selling expenses &r todeflect the overall costs of those componehtke business. In addition, in connection
with a sublease agreement, we sublease corpoffate sppace and provide certain other administragemrwices to Solar and charge Solar the
costs associated with this sublease agreemeniN&eer).

Depreciation and amortizatioepreciation and amortization consists of depramidrom property and equipment, equipment
leased under capital leases and amortization éfadi@pd subscriber acquisition costs and intaregddsets.

2GIG

Operating expense2GIG did not directly manufacture, assemble, wanskoor ship any of the products it sold. Its prasluere
produced by contract manufacturers, and warehoaisédulfilled through third-party logistics provide Operating expenses primarily
consisted of cost of goods sold, freight chargaglty fees on licensed technology, warehouse esgerand fulfillment service fees charge:
its logistics providers.

General and administrative expens€gneral and administrative expenses consistedlyanfi&nance, research and development
(“R&D"), including third-party engineering costgdal, operations, sales commissions, and exeau@reagement costs. 2GIG’s personnel-
related costs were included in general and admétigé expense.

Depreciation and amortizatioepreciation and amortization consisted of depti&riaf property and equipment.

Key Operating Metrics

In evaluating our results, we review the key perfance measures discussed below. We believe thpteékentation of key
performance measures is useful to investors artelerbecause they are used to measure the vatoenpiinies such as ours with recurring
revenue streams.

Total Subscribers

Total subscribers is the aggregate number of direasubscribers at the end of a given period.

Total Recurring Monthly Reveni



Total RMR is the aggregate RMR billed to all sullsers. This revenue is earned for Home Automatiorergy Management,
Security Plus and Home Security service offerings.

Average RMR per Subscriber

Average RMR per subscriber is the total RMR divitbgdhe total subscribers. This is also commonfgrred to as Average
Revenue per User, or ARPU.

Critical Accounting Estimates

In preparing our Consolidated Financial Statememésmake assumptions, judgments and estimatesdhdtave a significant
impact on our revenue, (loss) income from operatamd net loss, as well as on the value of ceasdets and liabilities on our Consolidated
Balance Sheets. We base our assumptions, judgimethtsstimates on historical experience and vaothuesr factors that we believe to be
reasonable under the circumstances. Actual resoltiel differ materially from these estimates undiffierent assumptions or conditions. At
least quarterly, we evaluate our assumptions, jwddsnand estimates and make changes accordingiaridally, our assumptions, judgments
and estimates relative to our critical accountistineates have not differed materially from actwasults. We believe that the assumptions,
judgments and estimates involved in the accourfingncome taxes, allowance for doubtful accounsdyation of intangible assets, and 1
value have the greatest potential impact on ousGladated Financial Statements; therefore, we clemghese to be our critical accounting
estimates. For information on our significant agting policies, see Note 2 to our Consolidated fana Statements.
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Revenue Recognition

We recognize revenue principally on four typesrahsactions: (i) monitoring, which includes RMR) &ctivation fees on the
subscriber contracts, which are amortized oveettienated life of the subscriber relationship) §grvice and other sales, which includes non.
recurring service fees charged to our subscriberggied on contracts, contract fulfilment revenaesl sales of products that are not part of
our service offerings and (iv) sales of subscritmertracts to third parties.

Monitoring services for our subscriber contracts laitled in advance, generally monthly, pursuarthtterms of subscriber
contracts and recognized ratably over the sendc®@. RMR is recognized monthly as services ao®iged in accordance with the rates set
forth in our subscriber contracts. Costs of praviddngoing monitoring services are expensed impéred incurred.

Activation fees are typically charged upon the gatien of a new subscriber. This revenue is defearsd recognized over a pattern
that reflects the estimated life of a subscrib&tienship.

Any services included in service and other salesmae are recognized upon provision of the applécaérvices. Revenue from
2GIG product sales was recognized when title pass#te customer, which was generally upon shiprfrent the warehouse of our thighrty
logistics provider. Revenue generated by Vivinbirthe sale of products that are not part of theiseiofferings is recognized upon
installation. Contract fulfillment revenue repretefees received from subscribers at the timerodubsequent to, the in-term termination of
their contract. This revenue is recognized whempa is received from the subscriber.

Revenue from the sale of subscriber contractsitd garties is recognized when ownership of thetremts has transferred to the
purchaser. Any unamortized deferred revenue antd celsited to contract sales are recognized atithatof the sale.

Subscriber Acquisition Costs

A portion of the direct costs of acquiring new stridsers, primarily sales commissions, equipmend, iastallation costs, are
deferred and recognized over a pattern that reflibet estimated life of the subscriber relationshge amortize these costs using a 150%
declining balance method over 12 years and coteextstraight-line methodology when the resultingpetization charge is greater than that
from the accelerated method for the remaining edtohlife in both the Successor Period and Predec&eriod. We evaluate attrition on a
periodic basis, utilizing observed attrition ratesour subscriber contracts and industry informatnd, when necessary, make adjustments t
the estimated life of the subscriber relationsimg amortization method.

Subscriber acquisition costs represent the colstieceto the origination of new subscribers. A ortof subscriber acquisition co:
is expensed as incurred, which includes costs @edaowith the direct-to-home sale housing, marigetind recruiting, certain portions of sales
commissions (residuals), overhead and other costsidered not directly and specifically tied te tirigination of a particular subscriber. The
remaining portion of the costs is considered talibectly tied to subscriber acquisition and conpranarily of certain portions of sales
commissions, equipment, and installation costssglmsts are deferred and recognized in a pattetmeflects the estimated life of the
subscriber relationships. Subscriber acquisiticstsare largely correlated to the number of nevsatilbers originated.

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivables consist primarily of amounts ftom subscribers for RMR services and, prich®2GIG Sale, balances
related to 2GIG product shipments to third parthescounts receivable are recorded at invoiced ansoaimd are nomterest bearing. The gro
amount of accounts receivable has been reduced bifaavance for doubtful accounts of approximatkly9 million and $2.3 million at
December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively. We estithés allowance based on historical collectidesaattrition rates, and contractual
obligations underlying the sale of the subscrilmrtiacts to third parties. As of December 31, 2848 2012, no accounts receivable were
classified as held for sale. Provision for doub#atounts recognized and included in general amdrastrative expenses in the accompanying
consolidated statements of operations totaled $hdlibn for the year ended December 31, 2013, $dilBon for the Successor Period ended
December 31, 2012, $8.2 million for the PredeceBsoiod ended November 16, 2012 and $7.0 millioriHe year ended December 31, 2011.

Loss Contingencies

We record accruals for various contingencies irialgitegal proceedings and other claims that arigdé normal course of
business. The accruals are based on judgmentrabalglity of losses and, where applicable, thesaberation of opinions of legal counsel. We
record an accrual when a loss is deemed probalolectar and is reasonably estimable. Factors thatonsider in the determination of the
likelihood of a loss and the estimate of the raofgihat loss in respect of legal matters includererits of a particular matter, the nature of the
litigation, the length of time the matter has beending, the procedural posture of the matter, dreve intend to defend the matter, the
likelihood of settling for an insignificant amouad the likelihood of the plaintiff accepting an@mt in this range. However, the outcome of
such legal matters is inherently unpredictable srtgect to significant uncertainties.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

As discussed above, the Merger was completed oeiber 16, 2012, and was financed by a combinafiowowings under oL



revolving credit facility, the issuance of the datsling 2019 notes and the outstanding 2020 nods$, on hand and the equity
investment of the Investors. The purchase pricgespect of the acquisitions of the Issuer and 2@®I& approximately $1.9 billion, of which
$94.6 million was disposed of as part of the 2GHBESPurchase accounting requires that all asadttabilities be recorded at fair value on
acquisition date, including identifiable intangilzlssets separate from goodwill. Identifiable inthlegassets include customer relationships,
trade names and trademarks and developed technelbgsh equaled $840.7 million at December 31, 2@&odwill represents the excess of
cost over the fair value of net assets acquirednaasl$836.3 million at December 31, 2013.

The estimated fair values and useful lives of idiert intangible assets are based on many fadtuekiding estimates and
assumptions of future operating performance and ftaws of the acquired business, estimates of @esidance, the nature of the business
acquired, the specific characteristics of the itfiexdt intangible assets and our historical experéeand that of the acquired business. The
estimates and assumptions used to determine theafaies and useful lives of identified intangibksets could change due to numerous fa
including product demand, market conditions, retjohe affecting the business model of our operatitechnological developments, econo
conditions and competition. The carrying values aseful lives for amortization of identified intabbg assets are reviewed annually during
fourth fiscal quarter and as necessary if changéacis and circumstances indicate that the cagryalue may not be recoverable and any
resulting changes in estimates could have a mhsehaerse effect on our financial results.

When we determine that the carrying value of inblegassets, goodwill and long-lived assets maybeatecoverable, an
impairment charge is recorded. Impairment is gdlyemgeasured based on valuation techniques coresidmost appropriate under the
circumstances, including a projected discounteti 8asy method using a discount rate determined doymanagement to be commensurate
with the risk inherent in our current business niaderevailing market rates of investment secesitiif available.

We conduct a goodwill impairment analysis annuallpur fourth fiscal quarter, and as necessarhdnges in facts and
circumstances indicate that the fair value of eorting units may be less than their carrying amaunder applicable accounting guidance,
we are permitted to use a qualitative approactvatuating goodwill impairment when no indicatorsimpairment exist and if certain
accounting criteria are met. To the extent thaicaurs exist or the criteria are not met, we ugeantitative approach to evaluate goodwill
impairment. Such quantitative impairment assessiisgrerformed using a two-step, fair value basset #he first
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step requires that we compare the estimated faiewa our reporting units to the carrying valuetud reporting unit's net assets, including
goodwill. If the fair value of the reporting un# greater than the carrying value of its net asgetsdwill is not considered to be impaired and
no further testing is required. If the fair valuetloe reporting unit is less than the carrying eadi its net assets, we would be required to
complete the second step of the test by analyhiaeddir value of its goodwill. If the carrying vawf the goodwill exceeds its fair value, an
impairment charge is recorded.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost and daf@éd on the straight-line method over the esthaitseful lives of the assets or
the lease term, whichever is shorter. Amortizaégpense associated with leased assets is included®&preciation expense. Routine repairs
and maintenance are charged to expense as incWeegeriodically assess potential impairment of gnaperty and equipment and perform ar
impairment review whenever events or changes cunistances indicate that the carrying value maypaaotecoverable.

Income Taxes

We account for income taxes based on the assdiadnility method. Under the asset and liability imed, deferred tax assets and
deferred tax liabilities are recognized for thaufettax consequences attributable to differenctsdam the financial statement carrying
amounts of existing assets and liabilities andrtfesipective tax basis and operating loss andriditacarryforwards. Valuation allowances are
established when necessary to reduce deferregsatsavhen it is determined that it is more likblgn not that some portion of the deferrec
asset will not be realized.

We recognize the effect of an uncertain incomeptasition on the income tax return at the largest@amthat is more-likely-than-
not to be sustained upon audit by the relevanhtpauthority. An uncertain income tax position widlt be recognized if it has less than a 50%
likelihood of being sustained. Our policy for redimg interest and penalties is to record such itasna component of the provision for income
taxes.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In September 2011, the FASB issued authoritativdagice which amends the process of testing gooftwilmpairment. The
guidance permits an entity to first assess quaditdactors to determine whether the existencevefits or circumstances leads to a
determination that it is more likely than not (aefil as having a likelihood of more than fifty perehat the fair value of a reporting unit is
less than its carrying amount. If an entity detewsiit is not more likely than not that the faitueaof a reporting unit is less than its carrying
amount, performing the traditional two-step goodimilpairment test is unnecessary. If an entity dates otherwise, it would be required to
perform the first step of the two-step goodwill iampnent test. If the carrying amount of the repuaytunit exceeds its fair value, then the entity
is required to perform the second step of the gdlbampairment test. However, an entity has thei@pto bypass the qualitative assessment ir
any period and proceed directly to step one ofrtimairment test. The guidance became effectivei$an the fourth quarter of fiscal year 20
The adoption of this guidance did not have a maitaripact on our financial position, results of ogi@ns or cash flows.

In July 2012, the FASB issued authoritative guidambich amends the process of testing indefinitedliintangible assets for
impairment. This guidance permits an entity totfassess qualitative factors to determine whetireeekistence of events or circumstances |
to a determination that it is more likely than fdefined as having a likelihood of more than fifigrcent) that the indefinite-lived intangible
asset is impaired. If an entity determines it ismore likely than not that the indefinitiwed intangible asset is impaired, the entity vadive ar
option not to calculate the fair value of an ind#é-lived asset annually. The guidance becametiffefor us in the fourth quarter of fiscal
year 2013. The adoption of this guidance did neetematerial impact on our financial positionutesof operations or cash flow

In February 2013, the FASB issued authoritativalgnce which expands the disclosure requiremen@nf@unts reclassified out of
accumulated other comprehensive income (“AOCI")e Guidance requires an entity to provide informatbout the amounts reclassified out
of AOCI by component and present, either on the fafiche income statement or in the notes to firmstatements, significant amounts
reclassified out of AOCI by the respective linaviteof net income but only if the amount reclasdiierequired under GAAP to be reclassified
to net income in its entirety in the same reporpegod. For other amounts, an entity is requitedrbss-reference to other disclosures require
under GAAP that provide additional detail aboutsth@mounts. This guidance does not change thentweguirements for reporting net
income or OCI in financial statements. The guidarafective for us in the first quarter of fisgadar 2014. The adoption of this guidance is
not expected to have a material impact on our fir@mosition, results of operations or cash flows.

In July 2013, the FASB issued authoritative guidambich amends the guidance related to the prasantaf unrecognized tax
benefits and allows for the reduction of a defeteedasset for a net operating loss carryforwardmnelver the net operating loss carryforwar
tax credit carryforward would be available to regltice additional taxable income or tax due if #hegosition is disallowed. This guidance is
effective for annual and interim periods for fisgahrs beginning after December 15, 2013, and ealdption is permitted. The adoption of 1
guidance is not expected to have a material impactur financial position, results of operationsash flows.

Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information

The following unaudited pro forma consolidatedextagnt of operations data is presented for supplehiefiormation purpose



only. The unaudited pro forma consolidated stateroBaperations data does not purport to represéiat our results of operations
would have been had the Merger occurred on thes datecified, and it does not purport to projectregults of operations or financial condit
for any future period. The unaudited pro forma cdidsted statement of operations data should beireeonjunction with this “Managemest’
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition &webults of Operations,” as well as “Selected His&htConsolidated Financial Information”
and our audited consolidated financial statememdsralated notes thereto appearing elsewheresratinual report on Form 10-K. The pro
forma adjustments are based upon available inféomaind certain assumptions that we believe asoreble. All pro forma adjustments and
their underlying assumptions are described motg finlthe notes to our unaudited pro forma consdéd statements of operations. We are
providing information on a pro forma basis, givieffiect to the Transactions, to provide a suppleaiemtalysis of our results of operations.

The unaudited consolidated pro forma statementgefations data has been derived by applying prodadjustments to our
historical consolidated statements of operatiomtained elsewhere in this annual report on FornK1The Merger, which occurred on
November 16, 2012, was accounted for as a busawesbination. As a result of the Merger, we apppedchase accounting in accordance
ASC 805Business Combinationsvhich required that our assets and liabilitiesdmorded at their respective fair values as oMleeger date.
Our historical consolidated financial statementstifie year ended December 31, 2012 are presentédd@eriods: the Predecessor Period
from January 1, 2012 through November 16, 2012thedsuccessor Period ended December 31, 2012, wdiate to the period preceding the
Merger and the period succeeding the Merger, réispbe

The unaudited pro forma consolidated statemenpefations data for the year ended December 31, B@4Deen derived by
(i) adding the historical audited consolidatedestagnt of operations for the Predecessor Period Smmuary 1, 2012 through November 16,
2012 and the historical audited consolidated staterof operations for the Successor Period endegmber 31, 2012 and (ii) applying pro
forma adjustments to give effect to the Transastasif they had occurred on January 1, 2012.
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The pro forma consolidated statements of operatiate included in this annual report on Form 1Gx&ude the results of Solar,
which was considered a variable interest entityaAssult of the Merger, while Solar remains aalalg interest entity, we are no longer its
primary beneficiary. Accordingly, Solar is no lomgequired to be included in the consolidated foiahstatements of the Company. In
addition, the pro forma statements of operatiookigted in this annual report on Form 10-K inclulde tesults of 2GIG. On April 1, 2013, we
completed the 2GIG Sale. Solar and 2GIG do notvaifichot provide any credit support for any of dadebtedness, including indebtedness
incurred under our revolving credit facility, oudId notes or our 2020 notes.
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Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Statements of Operatns

Revenue
Monitoring revenue
Vivint
2GIG
Total monitoring revenu
Service and other sales rever
Vivint
2GIG
Total service and other sales reve
Activation fees
Vivint
2GIG
Total activation fee
Contract sale
Vivint
Total contract sale
Total revenue:
Vivint
2GIG
Total revenue:
Costs and expense
Operating expenst
Vivint
2GIG
Total operating expens:
Cost of contract sale
Vivint
Total cost of contract sal
Selling expense
Vivint

Total selling expense

Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2012

Successo Predecesso
Period from Period from
November 17 January 1,
through through
December 31 November 16
2012 2012
(Actual) (Actual) Adjustments
(dollars in thousands)
$ 4898:| $ 324,69 (834)(1)
13€ 58( —
49,12: 325,27: (834
1,79¢ 16,09: —
6,671 50,72( —
8,47: 66,81 —
11 5,331 (3,989 (1)
11 5,331 (3,989
— 157 —

— 157 —
50,79: 346,27 (4,829
6,81% 51,30( —
57,60¢ 397,57 (4,829

16,11¢ 114,25¢ (1,579)(2)
4,584 31,53¢ 1,914(3)

20,69¢ 145,79° 341
_ o5 —
— o5 —
12,28¢ 91,55¢ (34,02)(2)
8,31¢(4)
(64)(5)
12,28« 91,55¢ (25,76%)
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Pro Forma
Year
Ended
December 31
2012

$ 372,84:
71€

373,55¢

17,88
57,39
75,28¢

1,35:%

1,35:

392,23t
58,11¢
450,35!

128,80:
38,03¢
166,83"

95
95

78,07t

78,07t
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General and administrative expen
Vivint

2GIG
Total general and administrative exper
Transaction related expens
Vivint
2GIG
Total transaction related expen:
Depreciation and amortizatic
Vivint
2GIG
Total depreciation and amortization exper
Total costs and expens
Vivint
2GIG
Total costs and expens
Loss from operation
Other expense:
Interest expense, n
Other expense
Loss from continuing operations before income t¢
Income tax (benefit) expen

Net loss from continuing operatio

See Notes to Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Statentgiof Operations

Successo Predecesso
Period from Period from
November 17 January 1,
through through
December 31 November 16
2012 2012
(Actual) (Actual) Adjustments
(dollars in thousands)
$  6,94¢ $ 78,77. $ (35,049(2)
1,204(6)
2,2447)
(1,716)(5)
(181)(8)
2,57¢ 21,20( (436)(5)
9,521 99,97: (33,929
28,11¢ 22,21¢ (50,337)(9)
3,767 1,247 (5,009)(9)
31,88t 23,46 (55,34¢)
10,89¢ 80,61¢ 75,74((10)
514 (937) 6,481(10)
11,41( 79,67¢ 82,22
74,35¢ 387,51¢ (35,429
11,44( 53,04« 2,94¢
85,79¢ 440,56. (32,48)
(28,199 (42,999 27,65¢
(12,647 (106,55¢) 15,23411)
(171) (122) (287)(12)
(41,009 (149,679 42,60¢
(10,909 4,92¢ — (13)
$ (30,10)| $ (154,59) $ 42,60"

Pro Forma
Year
Ended
December 31
2012

$ 52,22¢

23,33¢
75,56¢

167,25:
6,05¢
173,31(

426,44
67,43:
493,88:
(43,52%)

(103,961
(580)
(148,07
(5,980)

$ (142,09
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Notes to Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Statement$ ©Operations

(1) Reflects the adjustment to revenue as a restitie reduction of deferred revenue to its faluedan connection with the Transactions in

accordance with the FASB Accounting Standards @atibn Business Combination Top

(2) Represents nonrecurring bonuses and other paytoeaisployees directly related to the Mert
(3) Represents the impact on the cost of systefdsy®GIG to third parties resulting from the reaation of inventory to its fair value as of

the beginning of the perio

(4) Reflects Company obligations settled in conjunctidtih the Merger that have an ongoing service negoént.

(5) Reflects the elimination of stock-related comgegion expenses associated with equity awards\falited and settled in connection with

the Merger

(6) Reflects the monitoring fee payable by us pamswo the support and services agreement witHféiate of Blackstone. See “Certain

Relationships and Related Party Transact”

(7) Reflects stoc-based compensation costs related to equity awaathéegl in connection with the Merg

(8) Reflects the elimination of certain liabilities asesult of the Merge

(9) Reflects the elimination of naiecurring accounting, investment banking, legal prafessional fees that were directly associatet thie

Merger.

(10) Represents the net increase in depreciatidraamortization expense due to fair value adjustmprade as part of purchase price

accounting related to defin-lived intangible assets with estimated useful ligegollows:

Fair Value
Calculation of annualized amortization of definiteed intangible
assets

Customer contracts( $ 990,77
2GIG customer relationshij 45,00(
2GIG 2.0 technolog 17,00(
2GIG 1.0 technolog 8,00(
CMS technology 2,30(

$1,063,07

Calculation of the pro forma adjusted to depresiatind amortizatior
Annual total amortization (from table aboy
Historical amortization for 2012 Successor and Ecedsor perioc

Pro Forma adjustme—acquired intangibles amortizati
Subscriber acquisition costs amortizat
Historical subscriber acquisition costs amortizaiio Successor peric

Pro Forma adjustme—subscriber acquisition cos
Total Pro Forma adjustme—depreciation and amortizatic

(1) Subscriber acquisition costs before the Mergenawe included in customer contrac

Identifiable long-lived intangible assets are amzed on a basis that approximates the underlyingash flows resulting from the

associated intangible asset.
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Estimated
Useful Life Annual
(Years) Amortization
1C $ 157,09:
1C 3,71(
8 _
6 3,172
5 46(
$ 164,43!
$164,43!
(10,059
154,37
181
(72,33)
(72,156
$ 82,221
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(11) Reflects the net decrease in interest expensdiregstiom elimination of the interest expense imedron predecessor debt that was re
at the time of the Merger, partially offset by irgst expense on our new long-term debt issuedrinexion with the Merger and without
giving pro forma effect to interest expense asdediwith the 2013 Notes Offerings as follo\

Interest on Senior Secured Notes due 2 $ 51,75:
Interest on Senior Notes due 2( 29,18¢
Interest on revolving line of credit and unuseels 1,35¢
Amortization of deferred loan cos 7,418
Total interest related to new debt issi 89,70¢
Less: Historical obligations settled in Merg
Interest related to historical term loz 87,32:
Interest on historical revolving line of credit andused fee 2,32(
Amortization of deferred loan costs on historicabt 6,45¢
Imputed interest on liabilities settled in Mer 8,84:
Total interest on obligations settled in Mer: 104,94.
Pro Forma adjustme $ 15,23¢

(12) Reflects the fair value adjustment related to warliabilities settled in the Merge
(13) No income tax expense (benefit) relating to thefprma adjustments herein was recognized as wéntento be in a net operating Ic
position and net operating loss carryforwards Haaen offset by a valuation allowan:

Results of operations

Successo Predecesso
Period from Period from
November 17 January 1 Pro Forma
Year Ended through through Year Ended Year Ended
December 31 December 31 November 16 December 31 December 31
2013 2012 2012 2011 2012
(unaudited’
(in thousands
Revenue
Vivint $ 483,40: $ 50,79: $ 346,27( $ 312,42. $ 392,23t
2GIG 17,50 6,81°F 51,30( 27,52¢ 58,11¢
Total revenue 500,90t 57,60¢ 397,57( 339,94¢ 450,35:
Transaction related costs
Vivint — 28,11¢ 22,21¢ — —
2GIG — 3,761 1,24z — —
Total transaction related co¢ — 31,88t 23,46 — —
Costs and expense
Vivint 536,50: 46,24 365,30( 267,97: 426,44¢
2GIG 19,28¢ 7,67: 51,80: 32,961 67,43:
Total costs and expens 555,78t 53,91« 417,10: 300,93 493,88:
(Loss) income from continuing operations
Vivint (53,109 (23,56%) (41,249 44,44¢ (34,21)
2GIG (1,779 (4,625) (1,744 (5,435 (9,317)
Total (loss) income from continuing operatic (54,88() (28,199 (42,999 39,01+ (43,529
Other expense 66,04 12,81: 106,68: 102,24 104,54t
Loss before taxe (120,92) (41,009 (149,674 (63,227 (148,07)
Income tax expense (bene! 3,592 (10,907 4,92: (3,739 (5,980
Net loss from continuing operatio (124,519 (30,109 (154,59 (59,48f) $ (142,099
Loss from discontinued operatio — — (239) (2,919
Less net (loss) income attributable to -controlling interest: — — (1,319 6,141
Net loss attributable to APX Group Holdings, | $ (12451) $ (30,109
Net loss attributable to APX Group, Ir $ (15351) $ (68,540
Key operating metrics (1)
Total Subscribers (thousands), as of Decemb 795.k 671.¢ N/A 562.( 671.¢
Total RMR (thousands) (end of peric $ 4220 $ 34,27¢ N/A $ 27,090 $ 34,27¢
Average RMR per Subscrib $ 5308 $ 510 NA  $ 4821 $  51.0:

(1) Reflects Vivint metrics only for all periods presea.
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Year Ended December 31, 2013 compared to the ProrioYear Ended December 31, 2012—Vivint

Revenues

The following table provides the significant compats of our revenue for the year ended Decembe2®13, the Successor Period
ended December 31, 2012, the Predecessor Peried &wavember 16, 2012 and the Pro Forma Year enéedrbber 31, 2012:

Successo Predecesso % Change
Period from Period from
November 17 January 1 Pro Forma
Year Ended through through Year Ended
December 31 December 31 November 16 December 31 2013 Actual vs.
2013 2012 2012 2012 Pro Forma 201:
(unaudited’
Monitoring revenus $ 459,68: $ 48,98/ $ 324,69: $ 372,84: 23%
Service and other sales revet 22,07 1,79¢ 16,09: 17,88 23
Activation fees 1,64: 11 5,331 1,35: 21
Contract Sale — — 157 157 —
Total revenue $ 483,40: $ 50,79 $ 346,27( $ 392,23¢ 23%

Total revenues increased $91.2 million, or 23%tlieryear ended December 31, 2013 as compared @rthForma year ended
December 31, 2012, primarily due to the growth mnitoring revenue, which increased $86.8 million28%. This increase resulted from
$74.2 million of fees from the net addition of apgmately 124,000 subscribers and a $19.0 millimrease from continued growth in the
percentage of our subscribers contracting for nexlycts and service packages, partially offsetrbjnarease of $5.8 million in refunds and
other adjustments resulting from the revenue growth

Service and other sales revenue increased $4.@mitir 23%, for the year ended December 31, 2@81apared to the Pro Fori
year ended December 31, 2012. This growth was pifinthue to an increase in upgrade revenue rel@etibscriber service upgrades i

purchases of additional equipment.

Activation fees increased $0.3 million, or 21%, floe year ended December 31, 2013 as compared ®rthForma year ended

December 31, 2012, primarily due an increase imthmber of subscribers being billed activation fees

Costs and Expenses

Successo Predecesso % Change
Period from Period from
November 17 January 1 Pro Forma
Year Ended through through Year Ended
December 31 December 31 November 16 December 31 2013 Actual vs.
2013 2012 2012 2012 Pro Forma 201:
(unaudited’
Operating expenst $ 152,55: $ 16,11¢ $ 114,25t $ 128,80: 18%
Cost of contract sale — 95 95 —
Selling expense 98,88¢ 12,28¢ 91,55¢ 78,07¢ 27
General and administrati 91,69¢ 6,94¢ 78,77: 52,22t 76
Transaction related expens — 28,11¢ 22,21¢ — —
Depreciation and amortizatic 193,36¢ 10,89¢ 80,61¢ 167,25. 16
Total costs and expens $ 536,50: $ 74,35¢ $ 387,51 $ 426,44 26%

Operating expenses increased $23.8 million, or ¥8%he year ended December 31, 2013 as compaurtbe tPro Forma year
ended December 31, 2012, primarily to support tieth in our subscriber base. This increase wasjpally comprised of $10.0 million in
personnel costs within our monitoring, customemsuwpand field service functions, a $7.7 millioriease in inventory used in subscriber
upgrades and service repairs, a $3.6 million irsgéa cellular communications fees related to oanitering services and a $3.1 million

increase in shipping expenses resulting from tegvtr in our subscriber base.

Selling expenses, excluding amortization of cajial subscriber acquisition costs, increased $2@l®n, or 27%, for the year
ended December 31, 2013 as compared to the ProaR@ran ended December 31, 2012, primarily due®®.2 million increase in personnel
costs and a $4.7 million increase in facility anfbrmation technology costs, all to support the@ase in our subscriber contract originations.
In addition, advertising costs increased by $7.Ifonj primarily in support of the growth in ourdite sales subscriber contract originations.

General and administrative expenses increased $d8ién, or 76%, for the year ended December 3, 2as compared to the Pro
Forma year ended December 31, 2012, primarily dant$11.9 million increase in personnel cost%.8 fillion increase in outside
contracted services, primarily related to incredsgdl and compliance costs, a $2.9 million incegasmonitoring, advisory and consulting
services under a support and services agreemdnBlétkstone Management Partners L.L.C, a $1.5anilhcrease in facility costs and a $



million increase in sponsorship and advertisinggcall to support the growth in our business. \Iide aeserved $6.0 million related
to legal contingencies and incurred $5.4 milliobanus and other transaction costs related to®& Bale. Depreciation and amortization
increased $26.1 million, or 16%, for the year enBedember 31, 2013 as compared to the Pro Formapdad December 31, 2012. The
increase was primarily due to increased amortimatifosubscriber contract costs.
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Year Ended December 31, 2013 compared to the ProrioYear Ended December 31, 2012—2GIG

All intercompany revenue and expenses between Varid 2GIG have been eliminated in consolidatiosh faom the amounts

presented below.

Total revenue

Operating expenst
General and administrati
Transaction related expens
Other (expenses) incon

Loss from operation

Revenues

Successo Predecesso
Period from Period from
November 17 January 1 Pro Forma
Year Ended through through Year Ended
December 31 December 31 November 16 December 31
2013 2012 2012 2012
(unaudited’
$ 17,507 $ 6,81t $ 51,30( $ 58,11¢
(11,66 (4,582 (31,539 (38,03Y)
(5,481) (2,575 (21,200 (23,339
— (3,767 (1,242 —
(2,139 (514) 937 (6,05¢)
$ (1,779 $ (4,625 $ (1,749 $ (9,31)

% Change

2013 Actual vs.
Pro Forma 201:

(70%
(69
(77)

(©5)
(81)%

Revenues decreased $40.6 million, or 70%, for #& gnded December 31, 2013 as compared to theoPma year ended
December 31, 2012, primarily due to the sale of@Gh April 1, 2013. Following the 2GIG Sale, we kexied 2GIG’s results of operations

from our statement of operations.

Costs and Expenses

Operating expenses decreased $26.4 million, or 6@the year ended December 31, 2013 as compartse tPro Forma year
ended December 31, 2012, primarily due to the 26#& on April 1, 2013. General and administratixeemses decreased $17.9 million, or
77%, for the year ended December 31, 2013 as cauparthe Pro Forma year ended December 31, 2@&t2pamarily due to the 2GIG Sale.
Other expenses in the year ended December 31,[@0tharily represented amortization of intangiblsets acquired in the Merger.

Year Ended December 31, 2013 compared to the ProrfaoYear Ended December 31, 2012—Consolidated

Other Expenses, net

Interest expens
Interest incomt

Gain on 2GIG Sal
Other (income) expens

Total other expenses, r

Successo
Period from
November 17
Year Ended through
December 31 December 31
2013 2012
$ 114,47¢ $ 12,64¢
(1,499 (4)
(46,86¢) —
(76) 171
$ 66,04: $ 12,810

Predecesso % Change
Period from
January 1 Pro Forma
through Year Ended
November 16 December 31 2013 Actual vs.
2012 2012 Pro Forma 201:
(unaudited’
$ 106,62( $ 104,03: 10%
(62) (65) —
122 58( (112
$ 106,68: $ 104,54 (37)%

Interest expense increased $10.4 million, or 1@¥stHe year ended December 31, 2013 as compatkd ro Forma year ended
December 31, 2012, primarily due to a higher ppgatbalance associated with the May 2013 Notesri@ffeDuring the year ended
December 31, 2013, we realized a gain of $46.9aniks a result of the 2GIG Sale. See Note 3 t@atitempanying consolidated financial

statements for additional information.
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Income Tax From Continuing Operations

Successo Predecesso % Change
Period from Period from

November 17 January 1 Pro Forma
Year Ended through through Year Ended

December 31 December 31 November 16 December 31 2013 Actual vs.

2013 2012 2012 2012 Pro Forma 2012
(unaudited’

Income tax expense (bene $ 3,59 $ (10,909 $ 4,92: $ (5,980 (160%

Income tax expense was $3.6 million for the yeateenDecember 31, 2013 as compared to an inconteetaefit of $6.0 million fo
the Pro Forma year ended December 31, 2012. Thesiee of approximately $9.6 million, or 160%, wamgrily related to the elimination of
2GIG's deferred tax liability in conjunction with the R&Sale. As a result, after the 2GIG Sale, we vie@net deferred tax asset position

recorded an off-setting valuation allowance.

Pro Forma Year Ended December 31, 2012 Compareth&oYear Ended December 31, 2(—Vivint

Revenues

The following table provides the significant compats of our revenue for the Pro Forma Year endexiDéer 31, 2012, the
Successor Period ended December 31, 2012, thedessde Period ended November 16, 2012 and theeypeled December 31, 2011 (dollars

in thousands):

Successo Predecesso % Change
Period from Period from
Pro Forma November 17 January 1
Year Ended through through Year Ended Pro Forma
December 31 December 31 November 16 December 31 2012 vs. 201
2012 2012 2012 2011 Actual
(unaudited)
Monitoring revenus $ 372,84 $ 48,98 $ 324,69: $ 287,77¢ 30%
Service and other sales revei 17,88’ 1,79¢ 16,09: 11,21t 59
Activation fees 1,35:% 11 5,331 4,89( (72
Contract sale 157 — 157 8,53¢ (99
Total revenue $ 392,23t $ 50,79 $ 346,27( $ 312,42. 26%

Total revenues increased $79.8 million, or 26%tlerPro Forma Year ended December 31, 2012, aparech with 2011,
primarily due to the growth in total Monitoring Rawe, which increased $85.1 million, or 30%. Thary®ver year increase in monitoring
revenue resulted from $69.6 million of fees fromed increase of approximately 110,000 in our subscbase and a $15.1 million increase
from continued growth in the percentage of our stibers contracting for new products and serviagkpges for the Pro Forma Year ended

December 31, 2012.

Service and other sales revenue increased $6.ipmitir 59%, for the Pro Forma Year ended DecerBheP012 as compared with
2011. This growth was primarily due to an increas$6.4 million in upgrade revenue related to subse service upgrades and purchases of
additional equipment during the Pro Forma Year dridecember 31, 2012.

Activation fees decreased $3.5 million, or 72%,tf@ Pro Forma Year ended December 31, 2012, aparech with 2011, primaril
due to the adjustment to reduce the fair valueetémled activation fees to zero in conjunction vtith Transactions. The Pro Forma Year

includes only revenue from activation fees billedidg 2012.

We did not have material contract sales to thindigaduring the Pro Forma Year ended Decembe2@®12.

Costs and Expenses

Successo Predecesso % Change
Period from Period from
Pro Forma November 17 January 1
Year Ended through through Year Ended Pro Forma
December 31 December 31 November 16 December 31 2012 vs. 201
2012 2012 2012 2011 Actual
(unaudited) (dollars in thousands)
Operating expense¢ $ 128,80: $ 16,11¢ $ 114,25 $ 106,34¢ 21%
Cost of contract sale 95 — 95 6,42°¢ (99)
Selling expense 78,07t 12,28 91,55¢ 48,97¢ 59




General and administrati 52,22t 6,94¢ 78,77 37,561 39

Transaction related expens — 28,11¢ 22,21¢ — —
Depreciation and amortizatic 167,25 10,89¢ 80,61¢ 68,66 144
Total costs and expens $ 426,44¢ $ 74,35¢ $ 387,51 $ 267,97 59%
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Operating expenses increased $22.5 million, or Zd%the Pro Forma Year ended December 31, 201&ympared with 2011,
primarily to support the growth in our subscribesé. This increase was principally comprised o8 $&illion in personnel costs within our
monitoring, customer support and field service fiors and a $7.8 million increase in cellular conmications fees related to our monitoring
services resulting from our increased subscribee laad the higher percentage of subscribers coingdor additional services above our
interactive securities package.

We did not have material contract sales to thindiggduring the Pro Forma Year ended Decembe2@®12.

Selling expenses, net of capitalized subscribeuiaitgpn costs, increased $29.1 million, or 59%,tfee Pro Forma Year ended
December 31, 2012, as compared with 2011, primdril/to $10.6 million in personnel costs to supfiwetincrease in direct-to-home
subscriber contracts, $8.3 million of non-cash cengation charges related to incentive plans antine@d growth in our inside sales
organization, along with a $11.6 million increaseadvertising costs, primarily in support of ousitfe sales. These increases were partially
offset by a $2.3 million decrease in sales repras@e housing costs.

General and administrative expenses increased $iiflign, or 39%, for the Pro Forma Year ended Deber 31, 2012, as
compared with 2011, primarily due to $6.3 milliongersonnel costs to support the growth in ourrtass, $2.7 million related to the
Blackstone monitoring fee and $2.2 million of babtassociated with our increased revenues.

We incurred costs associated with the Transacttbapproximately $28.1 million in the Successori®®ended December 31,
2012 and approximately $22.2 million in the Predsoe Period from January 1, 2012 through NovemBeRQ12. These costs primarily
consist of accounting, investment banking, legal professional fees associated with the Transactow are included in the accompanying
consolidated statements of operations includedwsieee in this annual report on Form 10-K.

Depreciation and amortization increased $98.6 amllor 144%, for the Pro Forma Year ended Decer@be?012, as compared
with 2011. The increase was primarily due to amaation of intangible assets acquired in the Traihmag. See Note 10 of our Consolidated
Financial Statements for additional information.

Pro Forma Year Ended December 31, 2012 Comparethé&oYear Ended December 31, 2011—2GIG

All intercompany revenue and expenses between Vand 2GIG have been eliminated in consolidaticth faom the amounts
presented below.

Successo Predecessol % Change
Period from Period from
Pro Forma November 17 January 1
Year Ended through through Year Ended Pro Forma
December 31 December 31 November 16 December 31 2012 vs. 201
2012 2012 2012 2011 Actual
(unaudited) (dollars in thousands)
Total revenue $ 58,11f $ 6,81t $ 51,30( $ 27,52¢ 111%
Operating expense (38,039 (4,589 (31,539 (20,219 88
General and administrati (23,339 (2,57%) (21,200 (12,949 80
Transaction related expens — (3,767 (1,242 — —
Other (expenses) incon (6,05¢) (514) 937 203 (3,089
Loss from operation $ (9,31% $ (4,625 $ (1,749 $ (543 71%

Revenues

Revenues increased $30.6 million, or 111%, foRteeForma Year ended December 31, 2012, as compétte@011, primarily

due to continued growth in product shipments tadtparty customers.

Costs and Expenses

Operating expenses increased $17.8 million, or §8%the Pro Forma Year ended December 31, 201&ympared with 2011,
primarily due to the equipment costs associatel thi¢ increased product shipments.

General and administrative expenses increased $1i0idn, or 80%, for the Pro Forma Year ended Deber 31, 2012, as
compared with 2011, primarily due to an increas®30 million in personnel costs associated witthbr headcount in the Pro Forma Year
ended December 31, 2012 to support the growthiibosiness, an increase of $2.3 million in leg#lement expense, an increase of $1.5
million of costs and materials related to R&D amdircrease of $0.8 million in commissions.

We incurred costs associated with the Transactbapproximately $3.8 million in the Successor Béended December 31, 2012
and approximately $1.2 million in the Predecesswidel from January 1, 2012 through November 16220hese costs primarily consist



accounting, investment banking, legal and profesgitees associated with the Transactions anchaheded in the accompanying
consolidated statements of operations includedwsieee in this annual report on Form 10-K.

Other expenses in the Pro Forma Year ended Dece3iib@012 primarily represented amortization odinfible assets acquired in
the Merger.
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Pro Forma Year Ended December 31, 2012 ComparethéoYear Ended December 31, 2011—Consolidated

Other Expenses, net

Successo Predecesso % Change
Period from Period from
Pro Forma November 17 January 1
Year Ended through through Year Ended Pro Forma
December 31 December 31 November 16 December 31 2012 vs. 201
2012 2012 2012 2011 Actual
(unaudited) (dollars in thousands)
Interest expens $ 104,03: $ 12,64¢ $ 106,62( $ 102,06 2%
Interest incomt (65) (4) (61) (214) 70
Other expense 58C 171 122 38€ 50
Total other expense $ 104,54 $ 12,81 $ 106,68: $ 102,24: 2%

Interest expense increased $2.0 million, or 2%tHerPro Forma Period ended December 31, 2012ymapared with 2011, primarily due
to an overall higher amount of outstanding debduljhout the Pro Forma Period ended December 32, 28lcompared with 2011 and
recognition in the Successor Period ended DeceBhez012 of $1.0 million of deferred financing cassociated with the Transactions.

Income Tax From Continuing Operations

Successo Predecesso % Change
Period from Period from
Pro Forma November 17 January 1
Year Ended through through Year Ended Pro Forma
December 31 December 31 November 16 December 31 2012 vs. 201
2012 2012 2012 2011 Actual
(unaudited) (dollars in thousands)
Income tax (benefit) expen $ (5,980 $ (10,909 $ 4,92t $ (3,739 60%

The income tax (benefit) increased $2.2 million66%6, for the Pro Forma Period ended December @2 2ompared with 2011.
The increase was primarily due to the SuccessoodPtax benefit, which resulted from our net dedertax liability position after recording the

tax effect of the Transactions.
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Unaudited Quarterly Results of Operations

The following tables present our unaudited quartednsolidated results of operations for the foucc®ssor quarters ended
December 31, 2013, the Successor Period from Nogefrif) 2012 through December 31, 2012, the Pregdecfegriod from October 1, 2012
through November 16, 2012 and the three Predecgasoters ended September 30, 2012. This unauglitederly consolidated information
has been prepared on the same basis as our acditsodlidated financial statements and, in the opigf management, the statement of
operations data includes all adjustments, congjisifmormal recurring adjustments, necessary ferfalir presentation of the results of
operations for these periods. You should read tteddes in conjunction with our audited consolidafi@ancial statements and related notes
located elsewhere in this annual report on FornK10he results of operations for any quarter areneeessarily indicative of the results of
operations for a full year or any future periods.

Successo
Three Months Ended
December 31 September 3C June 30, March 31,
2013 2013 2013 2013
(in thousands

Statement of operations dat¢

Revenue $ 132,71 $ 129,50 $114,25:; $124,44,

Loss from operation (14,470 (8,689 (23,729 (7,9972)

Net loss (37,172 (34,905 (21,527 (30,909

Successo Predecesso
Period Period
from November 17 from October 1, Three Months Ended
through through
December 31 November 16, September 3C June 30, March 31,
2012 2012 2012 2012 2012
(in thousands (in thousands
Statement of operations data

Revenue $ 57,60¢ $ 63,09: $ 124,56: $111,82( $ 98,09t
(Loss) income from operatiol (28,197 (98,577 21,94¢ 14,54¢ 19,08:
Net loss from continuing operatio (30,107 (114,990 (10,519 (19,009 (10,08Y
Income (loss) from discontinued operati — — — 96 (335)
Net loss (30,109 (110,11 (12,212 (22,587 (8,610

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our primary source of liquidity has historicallydrecash from operations and borrowing availabilitder our revolving credit
facility. As of December 31, 2013, we had $261.9iam of cash and $197.8 million of availability der our revolving credit facility (after
giving effect to $2.2 million of letters of credititstanding).

Cash Flow and Liquidity Analysis

Significant factors influencing our liquidity posih include cash flows generated from monitoring ather fees received from the
subscribers we service and the level of investrimeaapitalized subscriber acquisition costs. Owhddows provided by operating activities
include cash received from RMR, along with upfraotivation fees, upgrade and other service feesh @sed in operating activities includes
the cash costs to monitor and service those siiessriand certain costs, principally marketing #nedportion of subscriber acquisition costs
that are expensed and general and administratists.déxcept for the year ended December 31, 20d thenSuccessor Period from
November 17 through December 31, 2012, we haverfiatly generated, and expect to continue genmegafiositive cash flows from operati
activities. The net cash used in operating actisifor the year ended December 31, 2011, was plyndaie to higher than normal inventories
the end of the year. Historically, we financed shbscriber acquisition costs through our operatash flows, the issuance of debt, and to a
lesser extent, through the issuance of equity anttact sales to third parties.

The direct-to-home sales are seasonal in naturendke investments in the recruitment of our diteetome sales force and the
inventory for the April through August sales perjaribr to each sales season. We experience in@@asebscriber acquisition costs, as we
costs to support the sales force throughout Norttedca, during this time period.
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The following table provides a summary of cash fidata (dollars in thousands):

Successo Predecesso
Period from Period from
November 17 January 1,
Year ended through through Year ended
December 31 December 31 November 16 December 31
2013 2012 2012 2011
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activi $ 79,42¢ $ (25,249 $ 95,37 $ (36,84
Net cash used in investing activiti (176,47 (1,949,45) (270,09) (207,607
Net cash provided by financing activiti 350,98t 1,982,74i 189,35: 244,17¢

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

We generally reinvest the cash flows from opera#iativities into our business, primarily to maintaind grow our subscriber base
and to expand our infrastructure to support thisugin and enhance our existing, and develop newicgeofferings. These investments are
focused on generating new subscribers, increakmgelvenue from our existing subscriber base, anihgithe overall quality of service
provided to our subscribers, increasing the pradigtand efficiency of our workforce and back-afdi functions necessary to scale our
business.

For the year ended December 31, 2013, net casldeblay operating activities was $79.4 million. §kash was primarily
generated from a net loss of ($124.5) million, atfd for $206.1 million in non-cash amortizatioapreciation and stock-based compensation
a $22.0 million increase in accrued expenses amat ditibilities, primarily related to managemennhbs and incentive plans and contingent
liabilities, and a $24.4 million increase in feesdby subscribers in advance of when the assakiateenue is recognized. This was partially
offset by an $8.4 million increase in inventorieeedo the seasonality of our inventory purchasesusage.

For the Successor Period ended December 31, 26i2ash used in operating activities was $25.JonillThis cash used was
primarily from a net loss of ($30.1) million, adfad for $12.4 million in non-cash amortization atepreciation, a $13.1 million change in
deferred income taxes and a $14.3 million incréasecrued expenses and other liabilities. FolPtteelecessor Period from January 1, 2012
through November 16, 2012, net cash provided byatipg activities was $95.4 million. This cash vgsnarily generated from a net loss of
($154.8) million, including discontinued operatipasdjusted for $88.7 million in non-cash amortiaatidepreciation and stock-based
compensation expenses, a $109.5 million increasedrued expenses and other liabilities, pringpalated to bonuses and other payments t
employees directly related to the Transactionsamdmissions associated with direct-to-home salpsr&ing cash was also generated from
$26.3 million in fees paid by subscribers in adwaatwhen the associated revenue is recognized.

During 2011, we used $36.8 million of cash in ofiatpactivities. This use of cash was primarilyated to a net loss of ($62.4)
million, including discontinued operations, $42.8lion in increased inventories, a $6.0 million irase in prepaid expenses and other curren
assets and an $18.4 million decrease in accruezherp and other liabilities. This was partiallyseffby $77.6 million in non-cash
amortization, depreciation and stock-based compiemsexpenses and $13.7 million in fees paid bysstibers in advance of when the
associated revenue is recognized and an $8.1 millirease in accounts payable.

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Historically, our investing activities have primlgirconsisted of capitalized subscriber acquisitiosts and capital expenditures.
Capital expenditures primarily consist of periodéditions to property and equipment to supporgttesvth in our business.

For the year ended December 31, 2013, net cashugegesting activities was $176.5 million, corisig primarily of $298.6
million of capitalized subscriber acquisition co$8.7 million of capital expenditures and $4.3limil of intangible asset acquisition costs,
partially offset by $144.8 million of proceeds frdtlre 2GIG Sale.

For the Successor Period ended December 31, 2@iltharPredecessor Period from January 1, 2012ghrbi@vember 16, 2012,
net cash used in investing activities was $1,948lkon and $270.1 million, respectively. In the@essor Period, our cash used in investing
activities primarily consisted of $1,915.5 millioficash used to complete the Transactions, capthbubscriber acquisition costs of $12.9
million and capital expenditures of $1.5 million.the Predecessor Period, cash used in investtivitias primarily consisted of $263.7 millic
of capitalized subscriber acquisition costs andtabexpenditures of $5.9 million.

We used $207.6 million of cash in investing aciksgtduring 2011, which primarily related to $20#lion in capitalized
subscriber acquisition costs and $6.5 million gfitad expenditures, partially offset by a $2.3 mifl reduction in other long term assets.

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Historically, our cash flows from financing actieis were primarily to fund the portion of upfromists associated with generating
new subscribers that are not covered through oeratipg cash flows



For the year ended December 31, 2013, net caslidebiyy financing activities was $351.0 millionrindhe issuance of $457.3
million of senior unsecured notes payable, $22l5aniof borrowings from our revolving line of crgdpartially offset by $60.0 million of
payments of dividends from the 2GIG sale proceads$50.5 million of repayments of our revolvingdiof credit.

For the Successor Period ended December 31, 2@iltharPredecessor Period from January 1, 2012ghrbi@vember 16, 2012,
net cash provided by financing activities was $2,98nillion and $189.4 million, respectively. IretSuccessor Period, our net cash provided
by financing activities was primarily from $1,3050llion of proceeds from the issuance of $925.0iom aggregate principal amount of 2019
notes and $380.0 million aggregate principal amofi2020 notes, borrowings under our revolving dreatility of $28.0 million and $708.5
million from the issuance of our common stock im@ection with the Transactions, partially offset$$8.4 million in payments of deferred
financing costs. For the Predecessor Period, durash provided by financing activities primarilgnsisted of $116.2 million of proceeds ur
our previous credit agreement and $105.0 milliobafowings under our revolving credit facility,rpally offset by $42.2 million of
repayments of the revolving credit facility, $6.1lion in payments of deferred financing costs &4d1 million in repayments of capital lease
obligations.
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Net cash provided by financing activities in 2014sv$244.2 million, comprised of $199.6 million ietmproceeds from borrowings
under our historical revolving credit facility, a80.3 million from the issuance of preferred staokl warrants, partially offset by $2.4 million
repayment of capital lease obligations and $2.0anipayments of deferred financing costs.

Long-Term Debt

Following the Transactions, we remain a highly kaged company with significant debt service requieats. As of December 31, 2013,
we had approximately $1,755.0 million of total debtstanding, consisting of $925.0 million of oatsing 2019 notes and $830.0 million of
outstanding 2020 notes, with $197.8 million of #aaility (after giving effect to $2.2 million of teers of credit outstanding).

Revolving Credit Facility

In connection with the Transactions, we entered 8$200.0 million senior secured revolving créaidlity, with a five year
maturity, of which $197.8 million was undrawn anddable as of December 31, 2013 (after giving@ffe $2.2 million of outstanding letters
of credit). In addition, we may request one or nteren loan facilities, increased commitments uriderrevolving credit facility or new
revolving credit commitments, in an aggregate anoohto exceed $225.0 million. Availability of duscremental facilities and/or increased
or new commitments will be subject to certain costoy conditions.

On June 28, 2013, we amended and restated th& aggdement to provide for a new repriced trandtrewmlving credit
commitments with a lower interest rate. Nearlyodlthe existing tranches of revolving credit comments was terminated and converted into
the repriced tranche, with the unterminated portibthe existing tranche continuing to accrue ieseé@at the original higher rate.

Borrowings under the revolving credit facility beaterest at a rate per annum equal to an appéaalrgin plus, at our option,
either (1) the base rate determined by referenteetdighest of (a) the Federal Funds rate plug%,3b) the prime rate of Bank of America,
N.A. and (c) the LIBOR rate determined by referetaicthe costs of funds for U.S. dollar depositsdorinterest period of one month, p
1.00% or (2) the LIBOR rate determined by refereiacine London interbank offered rate for dollasthe interest period relevant to such
borrowing. The applicable margin for base rate-tds@rowings (1)(a) under the repriced tranchaursently 2.0% per annum and (b) under
the former tranche is currently 3.0% and (2)(a)applicable margin for LIBOR rate-based borrowifgpsunder the repriced tranche is
currently 3.0% per annum and (b) under the formaerdhe is currently 4.0%. The applicable marginbfmrowings under the revolving credit
facility is subject to one step-down of 25 basigmbased on our consolidated first lien net lagerratio at the end of each fiscal quarter,
commencing with delivery of our consolidated finmhstatements for the first full fiscal quarterdérg after the closing date.

In addition to paying interest on outstanding pipatunder the revolving credit facility, we arejugred to pay a quarterly
commitment fee (which will be subject to one stepvd based on our consolidated first lien net legenatio) to the lenders under the
revolving credit facility in respect of the unutiid commitments thereunder. We also pay custoretter lof credit and agency fees.

2019 Notes

In connection with the Transactions, we issued $®#illion of the 2019 notes. Interest on the 2@bges is payable semi-annually
in arrears on each June 1 and December 1, comngehaire 1, 2013.

We may, at our option, redeem at any time and fiiore to time prior to December 1, 2015, some oofthe 2019 notes at 100%
of their principal amount thereof plus accrued angaid interest to the redemption date plus a “rvalkele premium.” Prior to December 1,
2015, during any 12 month period, we also maypatoption, redeem at any time and from time to tupdo 10% of the aggregate principal
amount of the issued 2019 notes at a price equa3806 of the principal amount thereof, plus accraed unpaid interest. From and after
December 1, 2015, we may, at our option, redeesmytime and from time to time some or all of tiid 2 notes at 104.781%, declining rate
on each anniversary thereafter to par from and Biéeember 1, 2018, in each case, plus any acemedinpaid interest to the date of
redemption. In addition, on or prior to Decembe2@15, we may, at our option, redeem up to 35%efggregate principal amount of the
2019 notes with the proceeds from certain equitgrfgs at 106.37%, plus accrued and unpaid intéoethe date of redemption.

2020 Notes

In connection with the Transactions, we issued $B&tlllion of outstanding 2020 notes. Interest lo@ dutstanding 2020 notes is
payable semi-annually in arrears on each June Dandmber 1, commencing June 1, 2013. In May 2@&3ssued an additional $200.0
million of outstanding 2020 notes under the indemtlated as of November 16, 2012. In December 20&3ssued an additional $250.0
million of outstanding 2020 notes under the indemtiated as of November 16, 2012.

We may, at our option, redeem at any time and fiiore to time prior to December 1, 2015, some oofthe 2020 notes at 100%
of their principal amount thereof plus accrued angaid interest to the redemption date plus a “rvakele premium.” From and after
December 1, 2015, we may, at our option, redeeamytime and from time to time some or all of tif}2@ notes at 106.563%, declining rate
on each anniversary thereafter to par from and Biéeember 1, 2018, in each case, plus any acemedinpaid interest to the date of
redemption. In addition, on or prior to Decembe?@15, we may, at our option, redeem up to 35%efggregate principal amount of the
2020 notes with the proceeds from certain equitgrivfgs at 108.75%, plus accrued and unpaid intéoethie date of redemptio



Guarantees and Security

All of our obligations under the revolving crediicility, the 2019 notes and the 2020 notes areamieed by Parent Guarantor and
each of our existing and future material wholly-@drJ.S. restricted subsidiaries to the extent sunthies guarantee indebtedness under the
revolving credit facility or our other indebtedneSge Note 18 of our Consolidated Financial Statesnecluded elsewhere in this annual
report on Form 10-K for additional financial infoation regarding guarantors and non-guarantors.

The obligations under the revolving credit facilityd the 2019 notes are secured by a securityesttar (i) substantially all of the
present and future tangible and intangible asdateedssuer and the guarantors, including witHmoitation equipment, subscriber contracts
and communication paths, intellectual property;demed real property, general intangibles, investnpeoperty, material intercompany notes
and proceeds of the foregoing, subject to permligst and other customary exceptions, (ii) suliithy all personal property of the Issuer and
the guarantors consisting of accounts receivalidgngrfrom the sale of inventory and other goods services (including related contracts and
contract rights, inventory, cash, deposit accowttgr bank accounts and securities accounts)niomeand intangible assets to the extent
attached to the foregoing books and records ofsthger and the guarantors, and the proceeds thetdgnéct to permitted liens and other
customary exceptions, in each case held by thedssud the guarantors and (iii) a pledge of athef Capital Stock of the Issuer, each of its
subsidiary guarantors and each restricted subgidfahe Issuer and its subsidiary guarantorsaichecase other than excluded assets and
subject to the limitations and exclusions providethe applicable collateral documents.
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Under the terms of the applicable security docusiant intercreditor agreement, the proceeds otaltgction or other realization
of collateral received in connection with the exsemf remedies will be applied first to repay amtswdue under the revolving credit facility,
and up to an additional $150.0 million of “supeopity” obligations that we may incur in the future, beftire holders of the 2019 notes rece
any such proceeds.

Debt Covenants

The credit agreement governing the revolving criadiility and the indentures governing the notestaim a number of covenants
that, among other things, restrict, subject toateréxceptions, our and our restricted subsidiaailetity to:

. incur or guarantee additional debt or issue disfiealstock or preferred stoc

. pay dividends and make other distributions ongdeem or repurchase, capital stc

. make certain investment

. incur certain liens

. enter into transactions with affiliate

. merge or consolidat

. enter into agreements that restrict the abilityestricted subsidiaries to make dividends or offagtments to the Issue
. designate restricted subsidiaries as unrestrictbdidiaries; ani

. transfer or sell asset

The credit agreement governing the revolving criaditiity and the indentures governing the notestaim change of control
provisions and certain customary affirmative coveaand events of default. As of December 31, 2@&3were in compliance with all
restrictive covenants related to our long-termgutions.

Subject to certain exceptions, the credit agreemewtrning the revolving credit facility, the indares governing the notes permit
us and our restricted subsidiaries to incur ada#igndebtedness, including secured indebtedness.

Our future liquidity requirements will be significg primarily due to debt service requirements. @abial amounts of borrowings
under the revolving credit facility will fluctuafeom time to time. We believe that amounts avadahkough our revolving credit facility and
incremental facilities will be sufficient to meatrooperating needs for the next twelve monthsuiticly working capital requirements, capital
expenditures, debt repayment obligations and pialemgw acquisitions.

As market conditions warrant, we and our major ggublders, including the Sponsor and its affilgtemay from time to time, seek
to repurchase debt securities that we have issule@uos that we have borrowed, including the nates borrowings under our revolving credit
facility, in privately negotiated or open markertsactions, by tender offer or otherwise.

Covenant Compliance

Under the indentures governing our notes and thditcagreement governing our revolving credit fagilour ability to engage in
activities such as incurring additional indebtedn@saking investments, refinancing certain indetsd, paying dividends and entering into
certain merger transactions is governed, in pgrouy ability to satisfy tests based on Adjusted HBA.

“Adjusted EBITDA" is defined as net income (los®ftre interest expense (net of interest incomeprire and franchise taxes and
depreciation and amortization (including amortizatof capitalized subscriber acquisition coststhier adjusted to exclude the effects of
certain contract sales to third parties, non-céipéd subscriber acquisition costs, stock basedpem®ation, the historical results of Solar and
certain unusual, non-cash, non-recurring and dteers permitted in certain covenant calculationdaurthe indentures governing our notes an
the credit agreement governing our revolving créaditlity.

We believe that the presentation of Adjusted EBITBAppropriate to provide additional informatiennvestors about the
calculation of, and compliance with, certain finehcovenants in the indentures governing our natesthe credit agreement governing our
revolving credit facility. We caution investors trmounts presented in accordance with our dedimitf Adjusted EBITDA may not be
comparable to similar measures disclosed by ofiseiers, because not all issuers and analysts atMiijusted EBITDA in the same manner.

Adjusted EBITDA is not a measurement of our finahpierformance under GAAP and should not be consitlas an alternative to
net income (loss) or any other performance measiedged in accordance with GAAP or as an altewestto cash flows from operating
activities as a measure of our liquidity.
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The following table sets forth a reconciliationrat loss before non-controlling interests to AdgdsEBITDA (in thousands):

Successo Combined Successol Predecesso
Period from
November 17 Period from
January 1,
Year ended Year ended through through Year ended
December 31 December 31 December 31 November 16 December 31
2013 2012 2012 2012 2011

Net loss before ne¢-controlling interest: $ (12451 $ (184,939 $ (30,209 $ (154,83h $ (62,40Y
Interest expense, n 112,98 119,20( 101,85!
Other (income) expen: (76) 292 38¢€

Gain on 2GIG Sale (1 (46,86¢) — —
Income tax (benefit) expen 3,59 (5,980) (3,739
Amortization of capitalized creation co: 22,21« 72,18¢ 61,54¢
Depreciation and amortization ( 173,29. 18,90z 6,917

Transaction costs related to 2GIG Sale 5,51¢ — —

Transaction related costs | 811 132,36( —
Non-capitalized subscriber acquisition costs 100,98! 70,36: 51,35(
Non-cash compensation ( 1,89¢ 874 47F
Adjustment for Solar business |( — 7,07 38t
Other adjustments (¢ 42,45( 13,64 18,42:
Adjusted EBITDA $ 292,29( $ 243,97 $ 175,18t

(1) Norrrecurring gain on the 2GIG Sa

(2) Excludes loan amortization costs that are includedterest expensi

(3) Bonuses and transaction related costs associatedhei 2GIG Sale

(4) Reflects total bonus and other payments to empiyaal legal and consulting fees to t-parties, directly related to the Transactic

(5) Reflects subscriber acquisition costs thatagensed as incurred because they are not diretdled to the acquisition of specific
subscribers. Certain other industry participant€ipase subscribers through subscriber contrachpass, and as a result, may capitalize
the full cost to purchase these subscriber costrastcompared to our organic generation of newcsilfers, which requires us to expe
a portion of our subscriber acquisition costs ur@aAP.

(6) Reflects no-cash compensation costs related to employee aedalirstock and stock option plal

(7) Reflects the exclusion of Solar results from theetit commenced operations in 20

(8) Other adjustments represent primarily the followitegns (in thousands

Successo Combined Predecesso

Year ended Year ended Year ended

December 31 December 31 December 31

2013 2012 2011
Product development (. $ 12,31¢ $ — $ —
Purchase accounting deferred revenue fair valuesadgnt

(b) 6,89« 1,60¢€ —

Non-cash contingent liabilitie 6,50( 2,12¢ —
Non-operating legal and professional fe 5,35¢ 554 2,19¢

Star-up of new strategic initiatives ( 3,08¢ — —

Monitoring fee (d) 2,91¢ — —

Information technology implementation | 1,23( — —

Subcontracted monitoring agreement 1,07¢ — —
Solarbusiness costs (| 34 4,16¢ 1,371
Discontinued operations ( — 23¢ 2,917
Benefit from sales of subscriber contre — — (2,142)
Securitization transaction cos — — 6,13t
Technology licensing disputes — 2,23¢ 964
Rebranding — 1,40¢ 5,76%
All other adjustment 3,03¢ 1,30t 1,22(
Total other adjustmen $ 42,45( $ 13,64: $ 18,42]

(@) Costs related to the development of future comtamiels, including associated softwe
(b) Add back revenue reduction directly related to pase accounting deferred revenue adjustm
(c) Costs related to the st-up of potential new service offerings and salesokés.



(d) Blackstone Management Partners L.L.C monitoring(8se Note 15 to the accompanying consolidatecilshstatements
(e) Costs related to the implementation of new infofomatechnologies

(H Rur-rate savings from committed future reductions ibcauntract monitoring fee

(g) Costs incurred by Vivint on behalf of the Solaribess, prior to the Transactior

(h) Costs associated with our Smart Grid business,wthigcontinued operations in 20:

(i) Settlement costs and reserves associated withdkxfynlicensing dispute:

Other Factors Affecting Liquidity and Capital Resoces

Vehicle LeasedNe lease, and expect to continue leasing, vehpeiezarily for use by our field service techniciaf®r the most
part, these leases have 36 to 48 month duratiahsvaraccount for them as capital leases. At theoétige lease term for each vehicle, we h
the option to either (i) purchase it for the estieabend-of-lease fair market value establishetiebeginning of the lease term; or (i) return the
vehicle to the lessor to be sold by them and iretrent the sale price is less than the estimatdeb&tease fair market value we are responsibl
for such deficiency. As of December 31, 2013, otaltcapital lease obligations were $10.5 milliohwhich $4.2 million is due within the ne
12 months.
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Aircraft Leaseln December 2012, we entered into an aircraft laggseement for the use of a corporate aircraftclvis accounted
for as an operating lease. Upon execution of thedewe paid a $5.9 million security deposit whictefundable at the end of the lease term.
Beginning January 2013, we are required to makem&gthly rental payments of approximately $83,086he We also have the option to
extend the lease for an additional 36 months upgiration of the initial term. The lease agreemadab provides us the option to purchase the
aircraft on certain specified dates for a statdthdamount, which represents the current estimied/alue as of the purchase date.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
Currently we do not engage in off-balance sheetrfiing arrangements.

Contractual Obligations

The following table summarizes our contractual gdgions as of December 31, 2013. Certain contrhohlmations are reflected
our consolidated balance sheet, while others adatied as future obligations under GAAP.

Payments Due by Perioc

Less than More than
Total 1 Year 1-3 Years 3-5 Years 5 Years
(dollars in thousands)

Long-term debt obligations (2 $1,762,04 $ — $ — $ — $1,762,04!
Interest on lon-term debt (2 849,53: 132,60t 265,21! 264,07 187,63«

Capital lease obligatior 10,467 4,39: 4,27¢ 1,79¢ —
Operating lease obligatiol 116,76¢ 8,241 18,76¢ 19,71« 70,04¢

Purchase obligations (: 6,471 4,057 2,36( 66 —
Other lon¢-term obligation: 3,81 49¢ 87¢ 642 1,801
Total contractual obligatior $2,749,111  $149,79. $291,49' $286,29: $2,021,52!

(1) Does not reflect borrowings under our revolvangdit facility. Our revolving credit facility pxades for availability of $200.0 million and
matures November 16, 2017. As of December 31, 20&8e were no amounts outstanding and approxigndfed7.8 million of
availability under our revolving credit facility ftar giving effect to $2.2 million of outstandingtiers of credit)

(2) Represents aggregate interest payments onGg#hion of the outstanding 2019 notes and $83fillon of outstanding 2020 notes, as
well letter of credit and commitment fees for theised portion of our revolving credit facility. Doaot reflect interest payments on
future borrowings under our revolving credit fagili

(3) Purchase obligations consist of commitmentpfochases of goods and services. We have contifigbitities related to legal
proceedings and other matters arising in the ordicaurse of business. Although it is reasonablgsldle we may incur losses upon
conclusion of such matters, an estimate of anydosange of loss cannot be made at this timehéropinion of management, it is
expected that amounts, if any, which may be redquinesatisfy such contingencies will not be matenaelation to the accompanying
consolidated financial statemer

ITEM 7A.  QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARK  ET RISK

Our operations include activities in the Unitedt&sa Canada and New Zealand. These operationseexpds a variety of market
risks, including the effects of changes in interagés and foreign currency exchange rates. Wetoramd manage these financial exposure
an integral part of our overall risk managemengpam.

Interest Rate Risk

In connection with the Transactions, we entered &tevolving credit facility that bears interesadloating rate. As a result, we
may be exposed to fluctuations in interest ratedheextent of our borrowings under the revolvingdit facility. Our longterm debt portfolio i
expected to primarily consist of fixed rate instents. To help manage borrowing costs, we may fiora to time enter into interest rate swap
transactions with financial institutions actingmcipal counterparties. Assuming the borrowingbfamounts available under our revolving
credit facility, if interest rates related to oewolving credit facility increase by 1% due to natrmarket conditions, our interest expense will
increase by approximately $2.0 million per annum.

We had no borrowings under the revolving creditlitgcas of December 31, 2013.

Foreign Currency Risk

We have exposure to the effects of foreign currenahange rate fluctuations on the results of amadian operations. Our
Canadian operations use the Canadian dollar touzbitdisiness but our results are reported in bard. Our operations in New Zealand are
immaterial to our overall operating results. We exposed periodically to the foreign currency fatetuations that affect transactions not
denominated in the functional currency of our lagd Canadian operations. We do not use derivatiamdial instruments to hed



investments in foreign subsidiaries since suchdtients are long-term in nature.
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ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm

The Board of Directors
APX Group Holdings, Inc. and Subsidiaries

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsimeets of APX Group Holdings, Inc. and Subsiesaass of December 31, 2013 and
2012, and the related consolidated statementsaritipns, comprehensive loss, changes in equificiieand cash flows for the year ended
December 31, 2013, and the period from NovembeRQZ?2 through December 31, 2012 (Successor), anddtompanying consolidated
statements of operations, comprehensive loss, elsangquity (deficit), and cash flows for APX Gpounc. and Subsidiaries for the period
from January 1, 2012 through November 16, 2012 thagear ended December 31, 2011 (Predecess@3eTimancial statements are the
responsibility of the Company’s management. Oupoasibility is to express an opinion on these foiahstatements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstials of the Public Company Accounting OversighamioUnited States). Those standard:
require that we plan and perform the audit to abtaasonable assurance about whether the finastaieiments are free of material
misstatement. We were not engaged to perform ait afuithe Company’s internal control over finanaiaporting. Our audits included
consideration of internal control over financigbogting as a basis for designing audit procedurasdre appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion oreffectiveness of the Company’s internal contrarofinancial reporting. Accordingly, we
express no such opinion. An audit also includesnéxiag, on a test basis, evidence supporting theusts and disclosures in the financial
statements, assessing the accounting principlesarsg significant estimates made by managementgealdating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referealbove present fairly, in all material respedts, ¢onsolidated financial position of APX
Group Holdings, Inc. at December 31, 2013 and 2at#,the consolidated results of its operationsisnchsh flows for the year ended
December 31, 2013 and the period from NovembeRQ¥?2 through December 31, 2012 (Successor), ancbtheolidated results of operations
of APX Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries and its castvél for the period from January 1, 2012 to Novenilr2012 and the year ended
December 31, 2011 (Predecessor), in conformity With. generally accepted accounting principles.

/sl Ernst & Young LLF

Salt Lake City, Utal
March 24, 201«
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APX Group Holdings, Inc. and Subsidiaries (Successp
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(In thousands)

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalel
Restricted cash and cash equivale
Accounts receivable, n
Inventories, ne
Deferred tax asse
Prepaid expenses and other current a:

Total current asse

Property and equipment, r

Subscriber contract costs, 1

Deferred financing costs, n

Intangible assets, n

Goodwill

Restricted cash and cash equivalents, net of dupetion
Long-term investments and other assets,

Total asset

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current Liabilities:
Accounts payabl
Accrued payroll and commissio
Accrued expenses and other current liabili
Deferred revenu
Current portion of capital lease obligatic

Total current liabilities

Notes payable, ni

Revolving line of credi

Capital lease obligations, net of current por
Deferred revenue, net of current port

Other lon¢-term obligation:

Deferred income tax liabilitie

Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies (See Note

Stockholder equity:

Common stock, $0.01 par value, 100 shares autlihrif# shares issued and outstant

Additional paic-in capital
Accumulated defici
Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) ince

Total stockholder equity
Total liabilities and stockholde’ equity

See accompanying notes to consolidated financéstents

December 31

2013 2012

$ 261,900 $ 8,09

14,37t —
2,59: 10,50:
29,26( 32,32
— 8,12¢
13,87( 16,22¢
322,00: 75,27:
35,81¢ 30,20¢
288,31t 12,75:
59,37t 57,32
840,71  1,053,01
836,31 876,64
14,21 28,42t
27,67¢ 21,708
$2,424,43  $2,155,34
$ 24,000 $ 26,03
46,00 20,44¢
33,11¢ 38,23:
26,89« 19,39:
4,19¢ 4,001
134,22; 108,10°
1,762,04  1,305,00
— 28,00(
6,26¢ 4,76¢
18,53: 70¢
3,90¢ 2,257
9,21« 27,22¢
1,934,19.  1,476,06
652,48t 708,45:
(154,61} (30,10:)
(7,630 92¢
490,24 679,27
$2,424,43  $2,155,34
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APX Group Holdings, Inc. and Subsidiaries (Successpand APX Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries (Predecessp
Consolidated Statements of Operations

(In thousands)

Revenues
Monitoring revenue
Service and other sales rever
Activation fees
Contract sale

Total revenue

Costs and expense
Operating expenses (exclusive of depreciation amaitization
shown separately below
Selling expense
General and administrative expen
Cost of contract sale
Transaction related expens
Depreciation and amortizatic

Total costs and expens

(Loss) income from operatiol

Other expenses (incom
Interest expens
Interest incomi
Other (income) expens
Gain on 2GIG Sal

Loss from continuing operations before income t¢
Income tax expense (bene!

Net loss from continuing operatio

Discontinued operation
Loss from discontinued operatio

Net loss before ne-controlling interest:

Net (loss) income attributable to r-controlling interest:

Net loss

Successo Predecesso
Period from
November 17 Period from
January 1,
Year ended through through Year ended
December 31 December 31 November 16 December 31
2013 2012 2012 2011

$ 460,13( $ 49,12: $ 325,27 $ 287,97:
39,13t 8,47: 66,81 38,54
1,64: 11 5,331 4,891

— — 157 8,53¢
500,90¢ 57,60¢ 397,571 339,94¢
164,22: 20,69¢ 145,79 126,56
98,88« 12,28¢ 91,55¢ 48,97¢
97,17, 9,521 99,97: 50,51(
— — 9t 6,42¢

— 31,88t 23,46 —
195,50t 11,41( 79,67¢ 68,45¢
555,78t 85,79¢ 440,56. 300,93«
(54,880) (28,197 (42,997 39,01«
114,47¢ 12,64t 106,62( 102,06¢
(1,499 4 (62) (219
(76) 171 122 38¢€
(46,86¢) — — —
(120,92)) (41,00 (149,67, (63,227
3,59: (10,907 4,92: (3,739
(124,51) (30,109 (154,59) (59,48¢)
— — (239) (2,919
(124,513 (30,10%) (154,83 (62,405
— — (1,319 6,141
$ (12451) $ (30,109 $ (153,51) $ (68,540

See accompanying notes to consolidated financ&stents
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APX Group Holdings, Inc. and Subsidiaries (Successpand APX Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries (Predecessp

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss
(In thousands)

Net loss before nce-controlling interest:

Other comprehensive (loss) income, net of tax &fi
Foreign currency translation adjustm
Change in fair value of interest rate swap agree!

Total other comprehensive (loss) inco
Comprehensive loss before I-controlling interest:

Comprehensive (loss) income attributable to-controlling interest:

Comprehensive los

Successo Predecesso
Period from
November 17 Period from
January 1,

Year ended through through Year ended
December 31 December 31 November 16 December 31
2013 2012 2012 2011
$ (12451) $ (30,10)| ¢ (154,83) $ (62,409

(8,55¢) 92¢ 70¢€ (1,739

— — 31¢ 563
(8,55¢) 92¢ 1,02¢ (1,17))
(133,07) (29,179 (153,81() (63,57¢)
— — (1,319 6,141

$ (133,07) $ (29,179 $ (152,49) $ (69,71)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financ&stents
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APX Group Holdings, Inc. and Subsidiaries (Successpand APX Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries (Predecessp
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity (Defty

(In thousands)

Accumulated

Additional other Non-
paid-in Accumulated comprehensivt controlling
Common Stoclt capital deficit income (loss’ interests Total
Predecessor
Balance, at January 1, 20 $ 1 $ 3,05¢ $(166,43) $ 1,33: $ (7,169  $(169,20)
Net (loss) incomi — — (68,54¢) — 6,141 (62,409
Change in fair value of interest rate swap
agreemen — — — 562 — 563
Foreign currency translation adjustm — — — (1,739 — (1,739
Equity contributions to Sol: — — — — 5,22¢ 5,22¢
Stocl-based compensatic — 49¢ — — 282 78C
Issuance of Series D preferred stock and
warrants, net of issuance costs and amount
allocated to liability — 43,28( — — — 43,28(
Balance, December 31, 20 1 46,83¢ (234,98) 162 4,48¢ (183,499
Net loss — — (153,51) — (1,319 (154,83¢)
Change in fair value of interest rate swap
agreemen — — — 31€ — 31¢
Foreign currency translation adjustm — — — 70¢ — 70¢
Stoclk-based compensatic — 1,78( — — 591 2,371
Issuance of Series D preferred stock and
warrants, net of issuance costs and amount
allocated to liability — 4,45¢ — — — 4,45¢
Change in fair value of warra — 1,045 — — — 1,045
Solar share issuan — — — — 14,19: 14,19:
Cash dividends pai — — — — (80) (80)
Balance, November 16, 20. 1 54,117 (388,499 1,18¢ 17,86¢ (315,32¢)
Successor
Elimination of the predecessor equity
structure and nc-controlling interest: (@)} (54,117 388,49¢ (1,189 (17,869 315,32:
Investment by Parel — 708,45. — — — 708,45:
Balance, November 17, 20. — 708,45: — — — 708,45:
Net loss — — (30,109 — — (30,109
Foreign currency translation adjustm — — — 92¢ — 92¢
Balance, December 31, 20 — 708,45: (30,107 92¢ — 679,27¢
Net loss — — (124,51 — — (124,51))
Foreign currency translation adjustm — — — (8,559 — (8,55%)
Stocl-based compensatic — 1,95¢ — — — 1,95¢
Net worth adjustmer — 2,07¢ — — — 2,07¢
Cash dividends pai — (60,000 — — — (60,000
Balance, December 31, 20 $ = $652,48¢ $ (154,61) $ (7630 $ — $ 490,241

See accompanying notes to consolidated finana&stents
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APX Group Holdings, Inc. and Subsidiaries (Successpand APX Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries (Predecessp

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(In thousands)

Cash flows from operating activitie

Net loss from continuing operatio
Loss from discontinued operatio

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash pexviby (used in)

operating activities of continuing operatio
Amortization of subscriber contract co
Amortization of customer relationshi
Depreciation and amortization of other intangitdees
Amortization of deferred financing cos
Gain on sale of 2GI(
Gain on change in fair value of warrant liabil
Loss (gain) on sale or disposal of as:
Stocl-based compensatic
Provision for doubtful accoun
Paid in kind interest incon
Non-cash adjustments to deferred reve
Deferred income taxe
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, natqgtiisitions
and divestiture
Accounts receivabl
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other current a:
Accounts payabl
Accrued expenses and other liabilit
Deferred revenu

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activi

Cash flows from investing activitie

Subscriber acquisition cos

Capital expenditure

Proceeds from the sale of 2GIG, net of cash

Proceeds from the sale of property & equipn

Acquisition of the predecessor including transactosts, net of
cash acquire

Net cash used in Smartrove acquisit

Other asset

Net cash used in investing activiti

Cash flows from financing activitie

Proceeds from notes payal

Borrowings from revolving line of cred

Repayments on revolving line of cre

Changein restricted cas

Repayments of capital lease obligatir

Deferred financing cos

Payments of dividenc

Excess tax benefit from shi-based payment awar

Capital contributionr—nor-controlling interes

Proceeds from issuance of preferred stock and nisi

Proceeds from the issuance of common stock in adimmewith
acquisition of the predecess

Proceeds from issuance of preferred stock by ¢

Net cash provided by financing activiti

Effect of exchange rate changes on ¢

Net increase (decrease) in Ci
Cash:

Successo Predecesso
Period from Period from
November 17 January 1,

Year ended through through Year ended

December 31 December 31 November 16 December 31
2013 2012 2012 2011

$ (12451) $ (30,109 $ (154,59) $ (59,489
— — (239) (2,917
22,21« 181 72,00t 61,54¢

160,42: 9,57¢ —
12,86¢ 1,65t 7,67¢ 7,571
8,64: 1,032 6,61¢ 7,70¢

(46,86 = — —

— — (287) —

26¢ (45) 11¢ 38C
1,95¢ — 2,371 78C
10,36( 1,307 8,20¢ 7,02¢

(1,329 — — —

1,181 822 — —
8,03( (13,120 1,421 (4,45¢%)
(11,48¢) 2,33¢ (17,907 (10,089
(8,439 (257) 20,11: (42,329
2,407 (6,870 2,30t (6,01%)
(2,690 (1,039 11,79: 8,137
22,04: 14,27: 109,51! (18,379
24,35¢ (4,990 26,25¢ 13,67¢
79,42: (25,249 95,37: (36,847
(298,64 (12,939 (263,73) (203,57
(8,676 (1,456€) (5,892 (6,521)

144,75( — — —
9 — 274 18t

— (1,915,47) — —

(4,272) — — —
(9,64¢) (19,58)) (74%) 2,31(
(176,47 (1,949,45) (270,09, (207,602
457,25( 1,305,00! 116,16: 187,50(
22,50( 28,00( 105,00( 87,30(
(50,500 — (42,247 (75,209
(167) — (152) (1,349
(7,207 (359) (4,060) (2,357
(10,89¢) (58,35/) (6,68 (2,000

(60,000 — (80) —

— — 2,651 —

— — 9,19: 224

— — 4,56 45,06¢

— 708,45: — —

— — 5,00( 5,00(
350,98t 1,982,741 189,35 244,17¢
(119) 41 (251) 247
253,81! 8,09( 14,37¢ (20)




Beginning of perioc 8,09( — 3,68( 3,70(

End of perioc $ 261,90! $ 8,09( $ 18,05¢ $  3,68(
Supplemental cash flow disclosur

Income tax pait $ 48t $ — $ 2,23t $ 19¢

Interest paic $ 116,80: $ 44 $ 91,47( $ 82,33
Supplemental nc-cash flow disclosure

Capital lease additior $ 8,90t $ 574 $ 4,72¢ $ 4,90

See accompanying notes to consolidated finana&dstents
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APX Group Holdings, Inc. and Subsidiaries (Successpand APX Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries (Predecessp
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

NOTE 1—DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS

APX Group Holdings, Inc. (“Holdings” or “Parent’and its wholly-owned subsidiaries, (collectivelg tlCompany”), is one of the
largest residential security and home automationp@nies in North America. The Company is engagdHtérsale, installation, servicing and
monitoring of electronic home security and autoorasystems in the United States and Canada.

On November 16, 2012, APX Group, Inc. (“APX"), 2GT@chnologies, Inc. (“2GIG"), and their respectsudhsidiaries were
acquired by an investor group comprised of ceitarestment funds affiliated with Blackstone CapPRalrtners VI L.P., and certain aosestors
and management investors (collectively, the “Inwes). This stock acquisition was accomplished tigto certain mergers and related
reorganization transactions (collectively, the “ger”) pursuant to which each of APX and 2GIG, amelrtrespective subsidiaries became
indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries of 313 AcquisitiLLC, an entity wholly-owned by the Investors.

As a result of the Merger, Vivint, Inc. and its Wigeowned subsidiaries and 2GIG and its wholly-owrseibsidiaries collectively
became wholly-owned by APX Group, Inc., which isalyrowned by APX Group Holdings, Inc., which is alty-owned by APX Parent
Holdco, Inc., which is wholly owned by 313 Acquisit, LLC. APX Parent Holdco, Inc. and APX Group Hiolgs, Inc. have no operations and
were formed for the purpose of facilitating the ifer.

NOTE 2—SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of Presentation—As a result of the Merger, the consolidated finalstatements are presented on two bases of atiegun
and are not necessarily comparable: January 1, @8édgh November 16, 2012 (the “Predecessor PeoiotPredecessoras context require
and November 17, 2012 through December 31, 20E3'8hccessor Period” or “Successor” as contextireg) which relate to the period
preceding the Merger and the period succeedinylirger, respectively. The audited consolidatedrfoia statements for the Predecessor
Period are presented for APX Group, Inc. and itellyrowned subsidiaries, including variable interestities. The audited consolidated
financial statements for the Successor Periodaetiee Merger presenting the financial position eegllts of operations of APX Group
Holdings, Inc. and its wholly-owned subsidiariebeTinancial position and results of operationthef Successor are not comparable to the
financial position and results of operations of Bredecessor due to the Merger and the basis sémiion of purchase accounting as
compared to historical cost in accordance with Awtimg Standards Codification (“ASC”) 8@usiness Combinations

The consolidated financial statements for the Rreskor and Successor include the financial positimhresults of operations of 1
following entities:

Successc

APX Group Holdings, Inc
APX Group, Inc.

Vivint, Inc.

Vivint Canada, Inc

ARM Security, Inc.

AP AL, LLC

Vivint Purchasing, LLC
Vivint Servicing, LLC
2GIG Technologies, Inc. (

2GIG Technologies Canada, Inc.

313 Aviation, LLC

Vivint Wireless, Inc. (2
Smartrove, Inc. (3

Vivint New Zealand, Ltd. (2
Vivint Australia Pty Ltd. (2]
Vivint Louisiana, LLC. (2)

Vivint Funding Holdings, LLC. (2

Predecessc

APX Group, Inc.

Vivint, Inc.

Vivint Canada, Inc
ARM Security, Inc.

AP AL, LLC

Vivint Purchasing, LLC
Vivint Servicing, LLC
2GIG Technologies, In
2GIG Technologies Canada, Ir
V Solar Holdings, Inc
Vivint Solar, Inc.

(1) The audited consolidated financial statememtsHe year ended December 31, 2013 include thdtsesf 2GIG up through April 1, 2013,
which was the date the Company completed the 2@lI& 18 Nortek (See Note ¢

(2) Formed during the year ended December 31, Z

(3) Acquired on May 29, 201:

The Successor and Predecessor Period include stiaityathe same operating entities except thatintigolar, Inc. and its
subsidiaries” Sola") is not included in the Successor Period since Selkseparately owned and is no longer a consolideagiable interes



entity.

Principles of Consolidation—The accompanying Successor consolidated finaatagéments include the accounts of APX Group
Holdings, Inc. and its subsidiaries, including 2Gi§&a wholly-owned subsidiary through April 1, 20T8e accompanying Predecessor
consolidated financial statements include APX Grdap. and its subsidiaries, and 2GIG and Solaickvtvere variable interest entities (or
“VIE's") prior to the Merger (See Note 7). All sigitant intercompany balances and transactions baea eliminated in consolidation.

The financial information presented in the acconypamconsolidated financial statements reflectsfith@ncial position and
operating results of Smart Grid as discontinuedapms (See Note 6).

Changes in Presentation of Comparative Financial &tements—Certain reclassifications, such as the presematialeferred
tax assets and deferred tax liabilities (See N@jeHave been made to our prior period consolidfiteshcial information in order to conform
with the current year presentation. These chanigesal have a significant impact on the consoliddteancial statements.
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Revenue Recognition—The Company recognizes revenue principally on fgpes of transactions: (i) monitoring, which indés
revenues for monitoring of the Company’s subscrdmetracts and certain subscriber contracts tha baen sold, (ii) activation fees on the
Company'’s contracts, which are amortized over #peeted life of the customer, (iii) service andesthales, which includes services provided
on contracts, contract fulfillment revenue, saleproducts that are not part of the basic equipmerskage and revenue from 2GIG, and
(iv) contract sales.

Monitoring services for the Company’s subscribertcacts are billed in advance, generally monthlyspant to the terms of
subscriber contracts and recognized ratably oweséhvice period. Revenue from monitoring contréttas have been sold is recognized
monthly as services are provided based on ratestinégf as part of the contract sales. Costs ofigirmy ongoing monitoring services are
expensed in the period incurred.

Activation fees are generally charged to a customiem a new account is opened. This revenue isréefand recognized using a
150% declining balance method over 12 years andaztsto a straight-line methodology when the réisgirevenue recognition is greater thar
that from the accelerated method for the remaiestgmated life.

Service and other sales revenue is recognizednaseseare provided or when title to the productd aquipment sold transfers to
the customer. Contract fulfillment revenue, incldde service and other sales, is recognized whgmpat is received from customers who
cancel their contract in-term. Revenue from safgga@ducts that are not part of the basic equipmeskage is recognized upon delivery of
products.

Through the date of the 2GIG Sale, service andrathles revenue included net recurring servicesme®, which was based on
back-end services, provided by Alarm.com, for alh@ls sold to distributors and direct-sell deadard subsequently placed in service in end-
user locations. The Company received a fixed mgrahiount from Alarm.com for each system installeédhwon-Vivint customers that used
the Alarm.com platform.

Revenue from the sale of subscriber contractscisgized when ownership of the contracts has tearesf to the purchaser. Any
unamortized deferred revenue and costs relatedrtact sales are recognized at the time of the sal

Subscriber Contract Costs— A portion of the direct costs of acquiring neviosaribers, primarily sales commissions, equipment,
and installation costs, are deferred and recogrozed a pattern that reflects the estimated lifthefsubscriber relationships. For both the
Successor Period and Predecessor Period, the Cgrapamtizes these costs using a 150% declininghbalanethod over 12 years and cony
to a straight-line methodology when the resultingpaization charge is greater than that from theebrated method for the remaining
estimated life. The Company evaluates subscribaatt attrition on a periodic basis, utilizing obasl attrition rates for the Company’s
subscriber contracts and industry information avtien necessary, makes adjustments to the estimalasdriber relationship period and
amortization method.

In conjunction with the Merger and in accordancthwiurchase accounting, the total purchase priceallacated to the Company’s
net tangible and identifiable intangible assetetam their estimated fair values as of Novembe20&2 (See Note 3). The Company recol
the value of Subscriber Contract Costs on the ofatiee Transactions at fair value and classifieasiin intangible asset, which is amortized
over 10 years in a pattern that is consistent thighamount of revenue expected to be generatedtfremelated subscriber contracts.

Cash and Cash Equivalents—Cash and cash equivalents consists of highly liquidstments with remaining maturities when
purchased of three months or less.

Restricted Cash and Cash Equivalents—Restricted cash and cash equivalents is restriotea specific purpose and cannot be
included in the general cash account. At DecembeB313 and 2012, the restricted cash and caskhagnts was held by a third-party trustee.
At December 31, 2013, the current portion of restd cash and cash equivalents was $14,375,000idR$ cash equivalents consists of
highly liquid investments with remaining maturitietien purchased of three months or less.

Accounts Receivable—Accounts receivable consists primarily of amouhie from customers for recurring monthly monitoring
services. The accounts receivable are recordeteicied amounts and are non-interest bearing. Totesg@mount of accounts receivable has
been reduced by an allowance for doubtful accooi®i,901,000 and $2,301,000 at December 31, 20d2612, respectively. The Company
estimates this allowance based on historical cidfieaates, subscriber attrition rates, and comti@bligations underlying the sale of the
subscriber contracts to third parties. When the @aomyg determines that there are accounts receittadi@re uncollectible, they are charged of
against the allowance for doubtful accounts. ABe¢ember 31, 2013 and 2012, no accounts receivadie classified as held for sale.
Provision for doubtful accounts is included in geh@nd administrative expenses in the accompargéngolidated statements of operations.

The changes in the Company’s allowance for accawctsivable were as follows for the years endedh@usands):

Successo Predecesso
Period from Period from
November 17 January 1,
Year ended through through Year ended

December 31 December 31 November 16 December 31



2013 2012 2012 2011

Beginning balanc $ 2,301 $  3,64¢ $ 1,902 $ 1,48¢
Provision for doubtful accoun 10,36( 1,307 8,20¢ 7,02¢
Write-offs and adjustmen (10,760 (2,655 (6,45¢) (6,607)
Balance at end of peric $ 1,907 $ 2,301 $  3,64¢ $  1,90¢

Inventories —Inventories, which comprise home automation andritgcsystem equipment and parts, are stated dowher of cos
or market with cost determined under the firstfirst-out (FIFO) method. The Company records an allowdmoicexcess and obsolete invent
based on anticipated obsolescence, usage anddastarite-offs. The allowance for excess and obwoinventory was $3,167,000 and
$1,484,000, as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, cteply.

Long-lived Assets and Intangibles—Property and equipment are stated at cost ancdieped on the straight-line method over th
estimated useful lives of the assets or the lezrse, twhichever is shorter. Intangible assets wéfinite lives are amortized over the remaining
estimated economic life of the underlying technglogrelationships, which ranges from 2 to 10 yeAraortization expense associated with
leased assets is included with depreciation expd&tmgtine repairs and maintenance are chargedpense as incurred. Intangible assets are
amortized on the straight-line method over therestitd useful life of the asset or in a pattern liiclv the economic benefits of the intangible
asset are consumed. The Company periodically asspstential impairment of its long-lived assetd artangibles and performs an
impairment review whenever events or changes cunistances indicate that the carrying value mayaatcoverable. The Company has no
intangible assets with indefinite useful lives.
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Deferred Financing Costs—Costs incurred in connection with obtaining debaficing are deferred and amortized utilizing the
straight-line method, which approximates the effecinterest method, over the life of the relatedificing. If such financing is paid off or
replaced prior to maturity with debt instrumentatthave substantially different terms, the unamedicosts are charged to expense. In
connection with refinancing the debt, in conjunetieith the Transactions the Company wrote off $8,880 related to unamortized deferred
financing costs associated with the Credit Agredmnigeferred financing costs included in the accomypay consolidated balance sheets at
December 31, 2013 and 2012 were $59,375,000 an8&5000, net of accumulated amortization of $9,806 and $1,032,000, respectively.
Amortization expense on deferred financing costegaized and included in interest expense in tiserapanying consolidated statements of
operations, totaled $8,843,000 for the year endetkBber 31, 2013, $1,032,000 for the SuccessardPended December 31, 2012,
$6,619,000 for the Predecessor Period ended Novehéh@012 and $7,709,000 for the year ended DeeefSth 2011.

Residual Income Plan—Prior to the Merger, the Company had a prograrhahewed sales representatives to elect to defer
commission payments and for third-party sales chbpartners to receive additional compensationdasethe performance of the underlying
contracts they created during the season. The Quymgaculated the present value of the expectadduytayments and recognized this amour
in the period the commissions were earned. Subséq@eretion and adjustments to the estimateditialiere recorded as interest and other
expense, respectively. The Company monitored aptahents and customer attrition on a periodicsoasd, when necessary, made
adjustments to the liability. In connection witletMerger, the Company settled its obligation toagh®loyee participants of this plan. The
obligation related to commissions owed to thirdtpahannel partners was not settled in connectiiin the Merger, and this program
continued after the Merger. The amount includeddecrued expenses and other current liabilities$22426,000 and $1,418,000 at
December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively, repriesgtiite present value of the estimated amounts aav#drd-party sales channel partners.

Stock-Based Compensatior—The Company measures compensation cost base@ gnaht-date fair value of the award and
recognizes that cost over the requisite servicogeaf the awards (See Note 13).

Advertising Expense—Advertising costs are expensed as incurred. Atiegt costs were approximately $23,038,000 forytsar
ended December 31, 2013, $1,686,000 for the SumcBssiod ended December 31, 2012, $8,204,000éPtedecessor Period ended
November 16, 2012 and $8,505,000 for the year ebdegmber 31, 201!

Income Taxes—The Company accounts for income taxes based oasthet and liability method. Under the asset aatilily
method, deferred tax assets and deferred taxitiabihre recognized for the future tax consequentieibutable to differences between the
financial statement carrying amounts of existingeés and liabilities and their respective tax basesoperating loss and tax credit
carryforwards. Valuation allowances are establishiedn necessary to reduce deferred tax assetsinisatetermined that it is more likely
than not that some portion of the deferred taxtagslenot be realized.

The Company recognizes the effect of an uncerteiome tax position on the income tax return atahgest amount that is more-
likely-than-not to be sustained upon audit by #lewvant taxing authority. An uncertain income tasifion will not be recognized if it has less
than a 50% likelihood of being sustained. The Camg{sapolicy for recording interest and penaltiesoisecord such items as a component of
the provision for income taxes.

Liability—Contracts Sold —During 2007 and 2008, the Company received apprately $118,136,000 in proceeds from the sale
of certain subscriber contracts to a third-partyn€urrently, the Company entered into an agreemihtthe buyer to continue providing
monitoring and support services for the contrauds were sold. Following the initial one-year watsaperiod from the date of the sales, the
Company had no obligation under the terms of thessagreement to make any additional paymentsatadher. In August 2012, the Company
agreed to repurchase the contracts upon a chargpntbl, as defined. As a result of this contiuinvolvement on the part of the Compan:
the servicing of the contracts, accounting guidgreeluded gain recognition at the time of the sadecordingly, the Company recorded a
liability for the proceeds received at the timetod sales and amortized the liability using theetffe interest method over twelve years, the
expected life of the subscriber contracts. The Camgpecorded the monthly fees from these contatsonitoring revenue in the statements
of operations. In connection with the Merger, thesetracts were re-acquired and, as a resultefhaged liability was satisfied.

Use of Estimates—The preparation of financial statements in confbriwith U.S. generally accepted accounting pritesp
requires management to make estimates and assus it affect the amounts reported in the findrst@ements. Actual results could differ
from those estimates.

Concentrations of Credit Risk—Financial instruments that potentially subject @@mpany to concentration of credit risk consist
principally of receivables and cash. At times dgrihe year, the Company maintains cash balana@sciess of insured limits. The Company is
not dependent on any single customer or geograptétion. The loss of a customer would not advgrsepact the Company’s operating
results or financial position.

Concentrations of Supply Risk—As of December 31, 2013, approximately 87% ofGeenpany’s installed panels were 2GIG Go
Control panels. On April 1, 2013, the Company catedd the 2GIG Sale. In connection with the 2G1G Sdle Company entered into a five-
year supply agreement with 2GIG, pursuant to wkhey will be the exclusive provider of the Comp’s control panel requirements, subjec
certain exceptions as provided in the supply agezenThe loss of 2GIG as a supplier could potdgtiaipact the Company’s operating results
or financial position



Fair Value Measurement—Assets and liabilities subject to going fair value measurement are categorized asuladied into on
of three categories depending on observable oraargable inputs employed in the measurement. Tinesgypes of inputs have created the
following fair value hierarchy:

Level 1: Quoted prices in active markets that aeasible at the measurement date for assetsadnilitibs.
Level 2: Observable prices that are based on inmttguoted in active markets, but corroboratedniayket data.
Level 3: Unobservable inputs are used when litttammarket data is available.

This hierarchy requires the Company to minimizeuke of unobservable inputs and to use observadbikandata, if available,
when determining fair value. The Company recognizassfers between levels of the hierarchy basati®fair values of the
respective financial measurements at the end afgherting period in which the transfer occurretdefie were no transfers between
levels of the fair value hierarchy during fiscall30or 2012.

The carrying amounts of the Company’s accountsivab&, accounts payable and accrued and othélitiiedapproximate their
fair values due to their short maturities.

Goodwill —The Company conducts a goodwill impairment analgsinually and as necessary if changes in factsiecuinstances
indicate that the fair value of the Company’s réipgrunits may be less than its carrying amounteWimdicators of impairment do not exist
and certain accounting criteria are met, the Comjimable to evaluate goodwill impairment usingualifative approach. When necessary, the
Company'’s quantitative goodwill impairment test sists of two steps. The first step requires thatGbmpany compare the estimated fair
value of its reporting units to the carrying vabfaghe reporting unit's net assets, including gotld\¥ the fair value of the reporting unit is
greater than the carrying value of its net asggisdwill is not considered to be impaired and nthier testing is required. If the fair value of
the reporting unit is less than the carrying valfigs net assets, the Company would be requirebmaplete the second step of the test by
analyzing the fair value of its goodwill. If thercging value of the goodwill exceeds its fair vala® impairment charge is recorded (See Note
10).

Foreign Currency Translation and Other Comprehensie Income—The functional currencies of Vivint Canada, Ineda/ivint
New Zealand, Ltd. are the Canadian dollar and tee Kealand dollar, respectively. Accordingly, assetd liabilities are translated from th
respective functional currencies into U.S. dollargear-end rates and revenue and expenses askateghat the weighted-average exchange
rates for the year. Adjustments resulting from thagislation process are classified as other canemsve income (loss) and shown as a
separate component of equity.
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Letters of Credit —At December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively, the@my had $2,174,000 and $2,168,000 of unusedde!
credit associated with workers compensation anoina tine for the Company’s corporate, sales antliagion personnel.

New Accounting Pronouncement—In September 2011, the FASB issued authoritativdance which amends the process of
testing goodwill for impairment. The guidance pdman entity to first assess qualitative factorddtermine whether the existence of events c
circumstances leads to a determination that itasenikely than not (defined as having a likelihaafdnore than fifty percent) that the fair va
of a reporting unit is less than its carrying antolfran entity determines it is not more likehathnot that the fair value of a reporting unit is
less than its carrying amount, performing the tradal two-step goodwill impairment test is unnesay. If an entity concludes otherwise, it
would be required to perform the first step of thve-step goodwill impairment test. If the carryiagount of the reporting unit exceeds its fair
value, then the entity is required to perform teeomd step of the goodwill impairment test. Howewerentity has the option to bypass the
qualitative assessment in any period and procaedtli to step one of the impairment test. The gna became effective for the Company in
the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2013. The adaptibthis guidance did not have a material impactlee Company’s financial position, results
of operations or cash flows.

In July 2012, the FASB issued authoritative guidambich amends the process of testing indefinitedliintangible assets for
impairment. This guidance permits an entity totfassess qualitative factors to determine whetteekistence of events or circumstances |
to a determination that it is more likely than fd¢fined as having a likelihood of more than fifigrcent) that the indefinite-lived intangible
asset is impaired. If an entity determines it ismore likely than not that the indefinitiwed intangible asset is impaired, the entity vagive ar
option not to calculate the fair value of an ind#éé-lived asset annually. The guidance becametafeefor the Company in the fourth quarter
of fiscal year 2013. The adoption of this guidadimenot have a material impact on the Company’arfoial position, results of operations or
cash flows.

In February 2013, the FASB issued authoritativalgnce which expands the disclosure requiremen@nh@unts reclassified out of
accumulated other comprehensive income (“AOCI")e Guidance requires an entity to provide informatbout the amounts reclassified out
of AOCI by component and present, either on the fafiche income statement or in the notes to firmstatements, significant amounts
reclassified out of AOCI by the respective linamiteof net income but only if the amount reclasdif@required under GAAP to be reclassified
to net income in its entirety in the same reporpegod. For other amounts, an entity is requitedrbss-reference to other disclosures require
under GAAP that provide additional detail aboutsth@mounts. This guidance does not change thentweguirements for reporting net
income or OCI in financial statements. The guidarafective for the Company in the first quaméfiscal year 2014. The adoption of this
guidance is not expected to have a material impathe Company’s financial position, results of rgiens or cash flows.

In July 2013, the FASB issued authoritative guidambich amends the guidance related to the prasantaf unrecognized tax
benefits and allows for the reduction of a defeteedasset for a net operating loss carryforwardnelver the net operating loss carryforwar
tax credit carryforward would be available to regltice additional taxable income or tax due if #hegosition is disallowed. This guidance is
effective for annual and interim periods for fisgakrs beginning after December 15, 2013, and ealdytion is permitted. The adoption of 1
guidance is not expected to have a material impathe Company’s financial position, results of rgiens or cash flows.

NOTE 3—BUSINESS COMBINATION

As described in Note 1, the Merger was completelovember 16, 2012, and was financed by a comloinati equity invested by
affiliates of The Blackstone Group, certain co-isiegs, the Company’s management and certain emgdoyed borrowings under senior credit
facilities. The Company’s management and certaipleyees invested approximately $155,160,000 irfah@ of a rollover of their equity in
APX and 2GIG and cash investments were used ty @pautstanding borrowings under the Predecessmtured credit facilities, pay
Predecessor shareholders, purchase equity unftsopfisition LLC and pay transaction fees and expenés part of the Merger, as of
December 31, 2013 and 2012, there was $28,428&lddrhescrow and presented as restricted cadteiadcompanying financial statements
for payments to employees that will be due in teettwo years. At the time of the Transactions,rapipately $54,300,000 was placed in
escrow to cover potential adjustments to the fpathase consideration associated with generatseptations and warranties and adjustmen
to tangible net worth, in accordance with the teahthe Merger’s escrow agreement. This amountdkided in the total purchase
consideration discussed below. The remaining esbadance, after all adjustments are made in acocedwith the escrow agreement, are
expected to be paid to the former Company sharemolub later than the second quarter of 2014. Bectuese amounts held in escrow are no
controlled by the Company, they are not includethmaccompanying consolidated balance sheets.

Purchase Consideratiol

The following table summarizes the purchase pragesicleration (in thousands):

Revolving line of credi $ 10,00(
Issuance of bonds, net of issuance c 1,246,641
Contributed equit 713,82:
Less: Transaction cos (31,540
Less: Net worth adjustme (3,289

Total purchase considerati $1,935,63!



Purchase Price Allocatior

The purchase price of approximately $1,935,638iA0@ides the purchase of all outstanding stockleseént of the Predecessor’s
debt, settlement of stock-based awards, paymemispdoyees under long-term incentive arrangemdnatssaction fees and expenses and
purchase of subscriber accounts held by third gar?ayments to employees consisted of paymenbffiders, employees and directors as
change in control payments and special retentioruses. On the date of the Transactions, the Compeaidy$28,428,000 or 50% of the amc
due to employees under long-term incentive arramgésn The remaining 50% will be paid in two equayments on the second and third
anniversary dates of the Merger. In addition toghgments under these long-term incentive arrangeanthne Company also incurred
$48,586,000 of costs related to bonus and othenpats to employees directly related to the Tramsast These employee expenses are
included in total costs and expenses in the Presdecéeriod Consolidated Statement of Operations.

The estimated fair values of the assets acquirddiabilities assumed are based on informationiabthfrom various sources
including, the Company’s management and histoagakrience. The fair value of the intangible asgets determined using the income and
the cost approaches. Key assumptions used in teendaation of fair value include projected casiwfs, subscriber attrition rates and discoun
rates between 8% and 14%.
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The following table summarizes the estimated falugs of the assets acquired and liabilities asduasef December 31, 2013 (in
thousands):

Current assets acquir $ 73,23¢
Property, plant and equipme 29,29:¢
Other asset 30,53¢
Intangible asset 1,062,301
Goodwill 880,30:
Current liabilities assume (100,259
Deferred income tax liabilit (33,99¢)
Other liabilities (5,777

Total purchase price allocatis $1,935,63!

Goodwill resulting from the Transactions is not detible for income tax purposes.

Transaction Related Costs

The Company incurred costs associated with thesbhi@ions of approximately $31,885,000 in the SuzmeBeriod from
November 17, 2012 through December 31, 2012 andbajppately $23,461,000 in the Predecessor Perimth ffanuary 1, 2012 throu
November 16, 2012. These costs consist of accayritimestment banking, legal and professional &seskemployee expenses dire(
associated with the Transactions and are includéidei accompanying consolidated statements of bpesa

Smartrove Acquisition

On May 29, 2013, a wholly-owned subsidiary of then@any, Vivint Wireless, Inc. (“Vivint Wireless"fompleted a 100%
stock acquisition of Smartrove. Pursuant to thmseof the stock purchase agreement, Vivint Wiredéespiired the business for aggregate casl
consideration of $4,275,000, of which $870,000ekiin escrow. This strategic acquisition was madgrovide Vivint Wireless with full
ownership of certain intellectual property usedsmoperations. The accompanying consolidated iristatements include the financial
position and results of operations of Smartrova afolly-owned subsidiary from May 29, 2013. The forma impact of Smartrove on the
Company’s financial position and results of openadifor the year ended December 31, 2013 is imimhter

The determination of the final purchase price isjistt to potential adjustments, primarily relatedtte finalization of
income taxes and the escrow amounts discussed .abloy@ssociated goodwill is not deductible fooime tax purposes. The following table
summarizes the estimated fair values of the assefsired and liabilities assumed as of Decembe2@13 (in thousands):

Net assets acquired from Smartr—Cash $ 3
Deferred income tax liabilit (1,539
Intangible assets (See Note : 4,04(
Goodwill 1,76¢

Total fair value of the assets acquired and lisediassume $4,27¢

Transaction Related Costs

During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Coynipanrred costs associated with the Smartrove Bdtipn, which
were not material, consisting of accounting, inwesit banking, legal and professional fees and paisrie employees directly associated with
the acquisition. These costs are included in titempanying consolidated statements of operations.

NOTE 4—DIVESTITURE OF SUBSIDIARY

On April 1, 2013, the Company completed the 2GI®& Saursuant to the terms of the 2GIG Sale, Noliitek,acquired all ¢
the outstanding common stock of 2GIG for aggregash consideration of approximately $148,871,008uding cash, working capital and
indebtedness adjustments as provided in the stohpse agreement. In connection with the 2GIG, $#adeCompany entered into a five-year
supply agreement with 2GIG, pursuant to which tivdlybe the exclusive provider of the Company’s tohpanel requirements, subject to
certain exceptions as provided in the supply agez#n# portion of the net proceeds from the 2GI& Sas used to repay $44,000,000 of
outstanding borrowings under the Compamgvolving credit facility. The terms of the indere governing the existing senior unsecured n
the indenture governing the existing senior secads and the credit agreement governing the vismgtredit facility, permit the Company,
subject to certain conditions, to distribute allgoortion of the net proceeds from the 2GIG Sakh¢ Company’s stockholders. In May 2013,
the Company distributed a dividend of $60,000,00@nfsuch proceeds to stockholders. Subject togpBcable conditions, the Company may
distribute the remaining proceeds in the futuree Tompany’s financial position and results of ofiere include 2GIG through March 31,
2013.



The following table summarizes the net gain recpgghin connection with this divestiture (in thouds)

Adjusted net sale pric $ 148,87
2GIG assets (including cash of $3,383), net ofilitzs (109,059
2.0 technology, net of amortizatis 16,90:
Other (9,85%)

Net gain on divestitur $ 46,86¢

NOTE 5—LONG-TERM DEBT
Successor
Notes

In connection with the Merger on November 16, 204RX issued $1,305,000,000 aggregate principal amnofnotes, of which
$925,000,000 aggregate principal amount of 6.378ftos secured notes due 2019 (the “outstanding 01&s”) mature on December 1, 2019
and are secured on a first-priority lien basis llystantially all of the tangible and intangibleetssvhether now owned or hereafter acquired b
the Company, subject to permitted liens and exoaptiand $380,000,000 aggregate principal amoudi/&6 senior notes due 2020 (the
“outstanding 2020 notes” and together with the tamiding 2019 notes, the “notes”), which mature ec@nber 1, 2020.

During 2013, the Company completed two subsequigetings of 8.75% Senior Notes due 2020 under tidemture dated
November 16, 2012. On May 31, 2013, the Companeis$200,000,000 of 2020 notes at a price of 104.@6d on December 13, 2013,
Company issued an additional $250,000,000 of 2@28smat a price of 101.50%.
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Interest on the notes accrues at the rate of 6.3¥&%nnum for the outstanding 2019 notes and 8 @&%annum for the
outstanding 2020 notes. Interest on the notesyiglpa semiannually in arrears on each June 1 acdreer 1, commencing June 1, 2013. The
Company may redeem each series of the notes, itewoh@art, at any time at a redemption price etmuéhe principal amount of the notes to
be redeemed, plus a makarole premium and any accrued and unpaid intetedbeaedemption date. In addition, APX may reddleennotes ¢
the prices and on the terms specified in the applicindenture.

In connection with each issuance of the notesCimapany entered into an Exchange and Registratigmt&fAgreement (each a
“Registration Rights Agreement”) with the initialiighasers of the notes, dated November 16, 2012,8Y12013 and December 13, 2013,
respectively.

In connection with the issuance of the initial reot& November 16, 2012 and the subsequent offerifgay 31, 2013, in
accordance with the Registration Rights AgreentbietCompany filed a registration statement Formv@td the Securities and Exchange
Commission with respect to an exchange offer tdhamge the Notes of each series for an issue ofsNeieept the Exchange Notes do not
contain transfer restrictions). The exchange offas completed on October 29, 2013.

In connection with the issuance of the subsequiéatiog on December 13, 2013, under the applic&agistration Rights
Agreement, the Company filed a registration statérferm S-4 with the Securities and Exchange Comioriswith respect to an exchange
offer to exchange the Notes of each series fossunei of Notes (except the Exchange Notes do ndédioatnansfer restrictions). The exchange
offer was completed on March 7, 2014.

Revolving Credit Facility

In connection with the Merger, APX, the Company #ralother guarantors entered into a revolvingitfedility in the aggregate
principal amount of $200,000,000. Borrowings be#eriest based on the London Interbank Offered RatBOR”) or, at the Company’s
option, an alternative base rate, plus spreaddbssen the Company’s consolidated first lien legeraatio at the end of each fiscal quarter an
a commitment fee of 0.50% on unused portions of¢helving credit facility. The borrowings are ddevember 16, 2017, which may be
repaid at any time without penalty.

The Company’s debt at December 31, 2013 had matlaiies of 2019 and beyond and consisted of th@fslg (in thousands):

Outstanding Unamortized Net Carrying
Principal Premium Amount
Revolving credit facility $ — $ — $ —
6.375% Senior Secured Notes due 2 925,00( — 925,00t
8.75% Senior Notes due 20 830,00( 7,04¢ 837,04¢
Total Notes payabl $1,755,001 $  7,04¢ $1,762,04!

The Company’s debt at December 31, 2012 consigtéekdollowing (in thousands):

Outstanding Unamortized Net Carrying

Principal Premium Amount
Revolving credit facility $ 28,00( $ — $ 28,00(
6.375% Senior Secured Notes due 2 925,00( — 925,00(
8.75% Senior Notes due 20 380,00( — 380,00
Total Notes payabl $1,333,001 $ — $1,333,00!

NOTE 6—DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

During the first quarter of 2012, the Company almaredi Smart Grid, a component of its energy managemssiness. The
circumstances leading up to the abandonment indladshift in the strategic direction for Smart Guithin the energy management
framework. All operating activity ceased during 8ezond quarter of 2012. No income taxes were dedoon discontinued operations becaus
the tax effect was immaterial and the tax benéfihe loss was offset by a valuation allowance.

The following table presents discontinued operatiohthe disposed business component (in thousz



Predecesso

Period from
January 1,
through Year ended
November 16 December 31
2012 2011
Revenue, net $ 91 $ 33€
Operating los! (329 (1,939
Interest expens (D) —
Impairment of acquired intangible as — (1,319
Total discontinued operatiol $ (239) $ (2,919

NOTE 7—VARIABLE INTEREST ENTITIES

Accounting rules require the primary beneficiaryaofariable interest entity (“VIE”) to include thieancial position and
results of operations of the VIE in its condensedsolidated financial statements. The Predecessmotidated financial statements include
APX Group, Inc. and its subsidiaries, and 2GIG Sothr, which were VIE's prior to the Merger in theedecessor Period. In connection with
the Merger, 2GIG became a wholtyvned subsidiary and their financial position aesults of operations were consolidated by the Compe
the Successor Period through the date of the 2@I& Blso in connection with the Merger, the Ineestpurchased Solar for $75,000,000 and
while Solar remains a VIE of the Company, the Ineesbecame the primary beneficiary and, as atabel Solar financial position and results
of operations are not consolidated by the Comparilié Successor Period.
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2GIG

2GIG is engaged in the manufacture, wholesaleiligtion, and monitoring of electronic home secusditd automation
systems primarily in the United States and Can2@4G supplies the majority of the equipment usedheyCompany in its security systems
installations. Sales of this equipment to othealemtities owned or consolidated by the Compapyaesented approximately 71% of 2GIG’s
total sales during 2013 through April 1, 2013, da¢e of the 2GIG Sale. The Company determined2G&6 was a VIE, prior to the Merger,
and the Company was the primary beneficiary becsusnt, Inc. was 2GIG’s largest customer, 2GIG vaependent on Vivint, Inc. for
ongoing financial support and because the Compghnyugh its related parties, had the ability totoolrthe operations of 2GIG. Accordingly,
as indicated above, the financial position andltesi operations are consolidated by the Companyhe Predecessor Period. Non-controlling
interests in the consolidated financial statemamside the portion of equity and results of opierat related to 2GIG.

Solar

Solar, formed in April 2011, installs solar panetsthe roofs of customer’'s homes and enters intohase agreements for
the customers to purchase the electricity genetatetle panels. Solar also takes advantage of gmarnment and federal incentive program:
that offer assistance in generating green powerinDuhe Predecessor Period, the Company deterntfirm¢&olar was a VIE and the Company
was the primary beneficiary because Solar was dalpgron Vivint, Inc. for ongoing financial suppartd because the Company had the abilit
to control the operations of Solar through itstedgparties. Accordingly, as indicated above, tharfcial position and results of operations are
consolidated by the Company for the Predecessawd®and not for the Successor Period. The asséslaf are restricted in that they are only
available to settle the obligations of Solar antlafdhe Company and similarly, the creditors ofé8dave no recourse to the general assets o
the Company.

On June 1, 2011, Vivint, Inc. and Solar entered ant Administrative Services Agreement (“Servicadegnent”) and a

Trademark License Agreement (“Trademark Agreemeiitie Service Agreement provided Solar with certaiministrative, managerial and
account management services to be performed bywiwi exchange for the services and licenses uhdése agreements, Solar agreed to pay
Vivint a combined fee of $0.05 per kilowatt hourebéctricity generated by the solar equipment eachth for each customer account. In June
2013, the Company and Solar entered into a TurRkdlyService Sublease Agreement (“Sublease Agre&inand terminated the Service
Agreement. The Sublease Agreement specifies thestender which the Company subleases corporatedffiace, and provides certain other
administrative services, to Solar. The Trademarke&gent was also amended in conjunction with tleewion of the Sublease Agreement.
During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Coynglzerged $2,883,000 of general and administraiyenses to Solar in connection with
the Sublease Agreement. As of December 31, 20&3dtance of $3,070,000 due from Solar in connedtith the Sublease Agreement and
other expenses paid on Solar’s behalf is includguépaid expenses and other current assets attimenpanying consolidated balance sheets

In June 2011, the Company entered into a Revol€ireglit Note (“Loan”)with Solar. This Loan was due in May 2013, h¢
principal balance of $5,000,000 and accrued intexes rate per annum equal to 13%. In connectitimtive Merger, the loan was satisfied anc
there was no balance outstanding as of Decemb&033B, or 2012.
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On December 27, 2012, the Company executed a nber@inated Note and Loan Agreement with Solar. fEines of the
agreement state that Solar may borrow up to $200000 bearing interest on the outstanding balahee annual rate of 7.5% based on a 365
day year, which interest is due and payable semiraiy on June 1 and December 1 of each year coringeon June 1, 2013. The balance
outstanding on December 31, 2013, representingipahof $20,000,000 and payment-in-kind interdsp1h 323,000, is included in long-term
investments and other assets in the accompanyimgptidated balance sheets. In addition, accrueddst of $138,000 is included in prepaid
expenses and other current assets in the acconmgacymsolidated balance sheets. The balance oditstpon December 31, 2012 was
$15,000,000. These variable interests represer@dhngpany’s maximum exposure to loss from direcbimement with Solar.

NOTE 8—BALANCE SHEET COMPONENTS

The following table presents balance sheet compdraances as of December 31, 2013 and Decemb&032,(in thousands):

December 31

2013 2012
Subscriber contract cos
Subscriber contract cos $310,66¢ $12,93¢
Accumulated amortizatio (22,350) (187)
Subscriber contract costs, 1 $288,31t $12,75:
Long-term investments and other ass
Notes receivable, net of allowance (See Notes 71&h $ 21,32¢ $15,34!
Security deposit receivab 6,261 6,23¢
Other 92 12¢
Total lon¢-term investments and other assets, $ 27,67¢ $21,70¢
Accrued payroll and commissio
Accrued payroll and commissio $ 15,47¢ $ 7,39¢
Accrued commission 30,53: 13,05(
Total accrued payroll and commissic $ 46,00 $20,44¢
NOTE 9—PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Property and equipment consisted of the followingl{ousands):
December 31 Estimated
2013 2012 Useful Lives
Vehicles $13,85!: $10,03¢ 3-5years
Computer equipment and softwe 6,742 4,79 3-5years
Leasehold improvemen 13,34¢ 7,59¢ 2- 15 year
Office furniture, fixtures and equipme 4,79: 1,92¢ 7 years
Warehouse equipme 1,80z 3,06¢ 7 years
Buildings 70z 702 39 years
Construction in proces 3,11¢ 3,24¢
44,35¢ 31,37:
Accumulated depreciation and amortizat (8,53¢) (1,16%)
Net property and equipme $35,81¢ $30,20¢

Property and equipment includes approximately #8000 and $9,795,000 of assets under capital @aigations, net of
accumulated amortization of $2,650,000 and $319:@@ecember 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively. Régren and amortization expense on
all property and equipment was $9,062,000 for & ended December 31, 2013, $1,165,000 for theeSsar Period ended December 31,
2012, $7,378,000 for the Predecessor Period endedriber 16, 2012 and $5,820,000 for the year ebéegmber 31, 2011. Amortization
expense relates to assets under capital leasesladdad in depreciation and amortization expense.
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NOTE 10—GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Goodwill

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwilltfe years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, bgtoppsegment, were as
follows (in thousands):

Vivint 2GIG Consolidatec
Balance as of January 1, 2012 $ — $ — $ —
Gooduwill resulting from the Merge 832,57¢ 43,79:. 876,37
Effect of foreign currency translatic 271 — 271
Balance as of December 31, 2( 832,85( 43,79:. 876,64
Goodwill resulting from Smartrove acquisiti 1,76t — 1,76t
Goodwill resulting from net worth adjustmel 2,07¢ — 2,07¢
Gooduwill resulting from income tax adjustme 1,852 — 1,852
Effect of foreign currency translatic (2,229 — (2,229
Divestiture of 2GIC — (43,797) (43,797)
Balance as of December 31, 2( $836,31¢ $ — $ 836,31t

In accordance with authoritative guidance for actimg for goodwill and other intangible assets, @mmpany performs an
impairment test on its goodwill annually, as of @r 1, or more often when events occur or circant&s change that would, more likely t
not, reduce the fair value of a reporting unit belts carrying value. When indicators of impairmentnot exist and certain accounting criteria
are met, the Company is able to evaluate goodwilairment using a qualitative approach. As of Ddw&n31, 2013, no indicators of
impairment existed.

Intangible assets, net
The following table presents intangible asset ladaras of December 31, 2013 and 2012 (in thousands)

December 31 Estimated
2013 2012 Useful Lives
Customer contracts $ 984,40: $ 990,77 10 years
2GIG 2.0 technolog 17,00( 17,00( 8 years
CMS and other technolog¢ 6,11¢ 2,30( 5 years
Smartrove technolog 4,04( — 3 years
Other technolog 65C — 2 years
2GIG customer relationshij — 45,00( 10 years
2GIG 1.0 technolog — 8,00( 6 years
1,012,20 1,063,07
Accumulated amortizatio (171,49) (10,059
Net ending balanc $ 840,71« $1,053,01!

The 2GIG customer relationships and 2GIG 1.0 teldgyointangible assets were disposed of in conardtiith the 2GIG
Sale (See Note 4). The 2GIG 2.0 technology wasnedeby the Company. In addition, as of Decembe2813, the Company had unamorti
capitalized software development costs of $3,6 @related to the 2GIG 2.0 technology. During thargnded December 31, 2013, the
Company recognized $141,000 of amortization expeglséed to the capitalized software developmestscd here were no capitalized
software development costs for the Successor Pernidddd December 31, 2012, the Predecessor Peuded &lovember 16, 2012 or for the
year ended December 31, 20

In connection with the Smartrove acquisition, trerany also purchased certain intellectual prodertgash consideratic
of $650,000, of which $130,000 is held in escrowth® indemnification of claims or disputes thatynaaise. The escrow is scheduled to be
released on May 30, 2014, less any amount of ulwedalaims.

Amortization expense related to intangible assets $164,230,000 for the year ended December 38, 310,058,000 for the
Successor Period ended December 31, 2012, $32ta006 Predecessor Period ended November 16, 20d%$1,751,000 for the year ended
December 31, 2011.

Estimated future amortization expense of intangatsisets is as follows (in thousands):

2014 $150,35:
2015 133,90(



2016 115,78:

2017 99,70¢
2018 87,62’
Thereafte 253,35
Total estimated amortization exper $840,71:
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NOTE 11—FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Fair value is based on the price that would beivedeto sell an asset or paid to transfer a ligpifi an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement ldadeder to increase consistency and compangliiifair value measurements, accounting
guidance establishes a fair value hierarchy thatipees observable and unobservable inputs useddasure fair value into three broad levels
These levels, in order of highest priority to lotvesority, are described below:

Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active mirkieat are accessible at the measurement dadsdets or liabilities.
Level 2: Observable prices that are based on inpattguoted on active markets, but corroboratethbyket data.

Level 3: Unobservable inputs are used when littte@market data is available.

Cash equivalents and restricted cash equivaleatslassified as Level 1 as they have readily altglanarket prices in an

active market. The following summarizes the finahgistruments of the Company at fair value basethe valuation approach applied to eacl
class of security as of December 31, 2013 and 2@lthousands):

Fair Value Measurement at Reporting Date Using
Quoted Price:

Significant
in Active Other Significant
Balance at Markets for Observable Unobservable
December 31 Identical
Assets Inputs Inputs
2013 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Assets:
Cash equivalent:
Money market fund $ 10,00: $ 10,00: $ — $ —
Restricted cash equivalen
Money market fund 14,21 14,21 — —
Restricted cash equivalents, net of current por
Money market fund 14,21 14,21« — —
Total asset $ 38,43( $ 38,43( $ — $ —
Fair Value Measurement at Reporting Date Usin(
Quoted Price
Significant
in Active Other Significant
Balance at Markets for Observable Unobservable
December 31 Identical
Assets Inputs Inputs
2012 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Assets:
Restricted cash equivalents, net of current por
Money market fund $ 28,42¢ $  28,42¢ $ — $ —
Total asset $ 28,42¢ $ 28,42¢ $ — $ —

The carrying amounts of the Company’s accountsivabi, accounts payable and accrued and othelitiebapproximate
their fair values due to their short maturities.

The fair market value of the CompasyBenior Secured Notes was approximately $941,08&86 of December 31, 2013 i
$917,980,000 as of December 31, 2012. The carmahge of the Companyg’Senior Secured Notes was $925,000,000 as of Dexedi, 201.
and December 31, 2012. The Company’s Senior Natdstair market value of approximately $844,526,86 of December 31, 2013 and
$374,478,000 as of December 31, 2012 and a cargyimagunt of $830,000,000 as of December 31, 2013%880,000,000 as of December 31,
2012. The fair value of the Senior Secured Notessthe Senior Notes was considered a Level 2 memsunteas the value was determined u
observable market inputs, such as current inteaéss as well as prices observable from less astavdets.

In connection with the Transactions, the fair vadficntangible assets was considered a Level 3 unea®ent and was
determined using the income and cost approachmmd obtained from various sources, including teenBany’s management and historical
experience. Key assumptions used in the deterromafifair value include projected cash flows, sultier attrition rates and discount rates
between 8% and 14%.

In connection with the Smartrove acquisition, thie ¥alue of intangible assets was considered &IL&wmeasurement and
was determined using the cost and relief from tgyabproach. Key assumptions used in the deterromaf the fair value include estimated
replacement costs, hypothetical royalty rates adid@unt rate of 25¥



NOTE 12—INCOME TAXES

APX Group files a consolidated federal income &tam with its wholly-owned subsidiaries.

For tax purposes, the Transaction was treatedstsck acquisition. As a result, assets and lidgditvere not adjusted to fair value
for tax purposes. Goodwill resulting from the tractson is not deductible for tax purposes. Forgasposes, acquisition costs are divided into
three categories; deductible costs, amortizablescaad capitalized costs. Acquisition costs diecated among the categories based on the
nature and timing of the incurred cost. Deductdusts are deducted in the period incurred. Amdstezaosts are capitalized and amortized
a period of 15 years. Capitalized costs are capéghlto the cost of the stock and are not amortized
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Income tax (benefit) provision consisted of thddaing (in thousands):

Current income ta»
Federa
State
Foreign
Total
Deferred income tay
Federa
State
Foreign
Total

Provision (benefit) for income tax

Computed expected tax expel

State income taxes, net of federal tax ef

Foreign income taxe
Permanent difference
Non-deductible acquisition cos
Intercompany eliminatio
Change in valuation allowan:

Provision (benefit) for income tax

Successo Predecessol
Period from Period from
November 17, January 1,

Year ended through through Year ended
December 31, December 31, November 16, December 31,
2013 2012 2012 2011
$ (579 $ — |$ 2,63t % 8€

(1,35)) 56 837 632
(145) 28 27€ —
(2,075 84 3,74¢ 71¢
8,61¢ (9,489 — —
(1,939 (1,78¢) — —
(1,009) 29C 1,17¢ (4,45¢)
5,667 (10,987 1,17¢ (4,45%)
$ 3,59: $ (10,909 | $ 4,92 $ (3,739
Successo Predecesso
Period from Period from
November 17, January 1,

Year ended through through Year ended
December 31, December 31, November 16, December 31,
2013 2012 2012 2011
$ (41,119 $  (13,94)|$ (50,970 $ (22,489

(2,179 (1,149 55¢ 434
13€ (69 61C 831
1,21t 534 4,82( 19:
— 3,71¢ 2,89¢ —
— — 2,84: —
45 52¢ — 44,16¢ 17,29:
$ 359: $ (10,909 ($ 4,92: $ (3,739
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The tax effects of temporary differences that gise to significant portions of the deferred tazeds and liabilities were as follows
(in thousands):

December 31

2013 2012
Gross deferred tax asse
Net operating loss carry forwar $ 430,32 $ 339,83:
Accrued expenses and allowan 35,43 25,23¢
Inventory reserve 2,39¢ 52¢
Alternative minimum tax credit and research andetlgwment credi — 101
Deferred subscriber incon 83t 15
Valuation allowanct (48,689 —
420,31( 365,71:
Gross deferred tax liabilitie
Deferred subscriber contract co (394,449 (354,149
Purchased intangible (29,129 (28,749
Property and equipme (4,26)) (1,829
Prepaid expenst (1,68)) (109)
(429,529 (384,816
Net deferred tax liabilit $ (9219 $ (19,109

The Company had net operating loss carryforwardslesvs (in thousands):

December 31

2013 2012
Net operating loss carry forwarc
United State: $1,021,23 $845,09!
State 967,15! 789,68
Canade 35,68¢ 32,36¢
New Zealanc 1,38¢ —

United States (“U.S."and state net operating loss carryforwards willitnég expire in 2026, if not used. Canadian netrafieg los:
carryforwards will begin to expire in 2029. Inclubi| both the U.S. and state net operating losyfmawards was approximately $11,483,000
at both December 31, 2013 and 2012 of net oper&isgycarryforwards for which a benefit will be oeged in Additional Paid in Capital when
realized. The Company had no U.S. alternative mimintax credits at December 31, 2013, and U.S.rate minimum tax credits of $71,0
at December 31, 2012, for which life is unlimit&the Company had no U.S. research and developmeditsat December 31, 2013, and U.S.
research and development credits of approximateyap0 at December 31, 2012, which begin to expi2930. Realization of the Compasy’
net operating loss carryforwards and tax creditejgendent on generating sufficient taxable incpn@ to their expiration. The Company has
determined that there is an IRC Section 382 linatetvith respect to the carryforward items.

The Company has considered and weighed the avaiafidlence, both positive and negative, to detegminether it is more-likely-
than-not that some portion, or all, of the defeti@dassets will not be realized.

Based on available information, management doebela@ve it is more likely than not that its detttax assets will be utilized.
Accordingly, the Company has established a valnaitowance to the extent of and equal to the e&drded tax assets. The Company reco
a valuation allowance for U.S. deferred tax asse$8,685,000 at December 31, 2013. The Compadybavaluation allowance for U.S.
deferred tax assets at December 31, 2012. In additithe change in valuation allowance from openat the valuation allowance changes
include impact of acquisition and disposition rethitems.

As of December 31, 2013, the Company’s incomeeaxrns for the years ended December 31, 2007 thrbegember 31, 2013,
remain subject to examination by the Internal ReeeBervice and state authorities.

NOTE 13—STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION
Stock-Based Compensation
Successor
313 Incentive Units

As of December 31, 2013, 313 Acquisition LLC hathauzed a total of 74,062,836 profits interestépresenting the right
share a portion of the value appreciation on ti&lrcapital contributions to 313 Acquisition LLCIncentive Units”). As of December 31,
2013, a total of 69,659,562 Incentive Units hadnbe@@arded to members of senior management andrd bwanber, of which 46,484,562 w



issued to the Company’s Chief Executive Officer Bnelsident in conjunction with the Transactionse Ticentive Units are
subject to time-based and performance-based vestimgjtions, with one-third subject to ratable tibveesed vesting over a five year period anc
two-thirds subject to the achievement of certairestiment return thresholds by The Blackstone Grbup,and its affiliates. The Company
anticipates making comparable equity incentive grah313 Acquisition LLC to other members of sem@nagement and adopting other
equity and cash-based incentive programs for att@mbers of management from time to time. The falue of stock-based awards is
measured at the grant date and is recognized ansxmver the employee’s requisite service pefibd.grant date fair value was determined
using a Monte Carlo simulation valuation approadth whe following assumptions: expected volatilitiy60% to 65%; expected exercise term
from 4.3 to 5 years; and risk-free rate of 0.62% .tt8%. A summary of the Incentive Unit activity the Successor Period from November 17
2012 through December 31, 2012 and the year endedrbber 31, 2013 is presented below:

Weighted Average

Weighted Average Weighted Average Remaining
Exercise Price Grant Date Contractual Aggregate
Incentive Units Per Share Fair Value Life (Years) Intrinsic Value
(in thousands)
Outstanding, November 17, 20 46,484,56 $ 1.0C $ 1.0C
Grantec — — —
Forfeited — — —
Exercisec — — —
Outstanding, December 31, 20 46,484,56 1.0C 1.0C
Grantec 23,175,00 1.0C 1.0C
Forfeited (1,200,00) 1.0C 1.0C
Exercisec — — —
Outstanding, December 31, 20 68,459,56 1.0C 1.0C 9.1z $20,537,86
Unvested shares expected to vest after Decemb@&033  64,000,02 1.0C 1.0C
Exercisable at December 31, 2( 4,459,53 1.0C 1.0C 9.11 1,337,86!
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As of December 31, 2013, there was $6,820,000 faagnized compensation expense related to outstaftentive
Units, which will be recognized over a weighted+agge period of 3.89 years.

Vivint Stock Appreciation Rights

During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Coypanbsidiary, Vivint, awarded Stock AppreciatiBights (“SARs")
to various levels of key employees. The purposh®fSARSs is to attract and retain personnel andigeecan opportunity to acquire an equity
interest of Vivint. The SARs are subject to timeséd and performance-based vesting conditions,omiéhthird subject to ratable time-based
vesting over a five year period and two-thirds sabjo the achievement of certain investment retiur@sholds by The Blackstone Group, L.P.
and its affiliates. In connection with this plan282,500 SARs have been granted as of Decemb@023, In addition, 36,065,303 have been
reserved for future issuance in accordance witing-term incentive plan established by the Comp¥int expects to continue regular
quarterly grants to new employees who meet the gesdteria.

The fair value of the Vivint awards is measurethatgrant date and is recognized as expense aventployee’s requisite
service period. The fair value is determined usiglack-Scholes option valuation model with thédwaing assumptions: expected volatility of
60%, expected dividends of 0%; expected exercree ¢¢ 6.04 years; and risk-free rate of 1.72%. Buthe lack of historical exercise data, the
Company used the simplified method in determinhmgdstimated exercise term, for all Vivint awafisere was no SAR activity for the
Successor Period from November 17, 2012 througle®eer 31, 2012. A summary of the SAR activity fug year ended December 31, 2013
is presented below:

Weighted Average
Weighted Average Weighted Average Remaining
Stock Appreciation Exercise Price Grant Date Contractual Aggregate
Rights Per Share Fair Value Life (Years) Intrinsic Value
(in thousands)
Outstanding, December 31, 2C —  $ — 3 —
Grantec 8,262,50 1.0C 1.0C
Forfeited (356,25() 1.0C 1.0C
Exercisec — — —
Outstanding, December 31, 20 7,906,25I 1.0C 1.0C 9.5t $ 2,371,87
Unvested shares expected to vest after December 31,
2013 7,498,52. 1.0C 1.0C
Exercisable at December 31, 2( 407,72t 1.0C 1.0C 9.5¢4 122,31¢

As of December 31, 2013, there was $902,000 ofoagreized compensation expense related to outsiguwiuint awards,
which will be recognized over a weighted-averageéopeof 3.99 years.

Vivint Wireless Stock Appreciation Rights

During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Coypanbsidiary, Vivint Wireless, awarded SARs toivas key
employees. The purpose of the SARSs is to attrattretain personnel and provide an opportunity guae an equity interest of Vivint
Wireless. The SARs are subject to a five year trased ratable vesting period. In connection wii pkan, 70,000 SARs have been granted &
of December 31, 2013. The Company anticipates ngat@mparable grants from time to time.

The fair value of the Vivint Wireless awards is me@d at the grant date and is recognized as expses the employee’s
requisite service period. The fair value is deteediusing a Black-Scholes option valuation modéh wie following assumptions: expected
volatility of 65%, expected dividends of 0%; exptexercise term of 6.50 years; and risk-freesafie51%. Due to the lack of historical
exercise data, the Company used the simplified agkith determining the estimated exercise termafoYivint Wireless awards. There was no
SAR activity for the Successor Period from Novemb&r2012 through December 31, 2012. A summarh®f3AR activity for the year ended
December 31, 2013 is presented below:

Weighted Average

Weighted Average Weighted Average Remaining
Stock Appreciation Exercise Price Grant Date Contractual Aggregate
Rights Per Share Fair Value Life (Years) Intrinsic Value
(in thousands)
Outstanding, December 31, 20 — % — 3 —
Grantec 70,00( 5.0C 5.0C
Forfeited — — —
Exercisec — — —
Outstanding, December 31, 20 70,00( 5.0C 5.0C 9.4z $ 105,00(
Unvested shares expected to vest after December 31,
2013 70,00( 5.0C 5.0C

Exercisable at December 31, 2( — — — _ _
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As of December 31, 2013, there was $142,000 ofamgreized compensation expense related to all Viditeless awards,
which will be recognized over a weighted-averageopeof 4.42 years.

Predecessor

The fair value of stock-based awards was measurist grant date and was recognized as expensdtmvemployee’s
requisite service period. The fair value was deieech using a Black-Scholes valuation model for lstogtions and for purchase rights under
the Company’s Stock Option Plan (the “Plan”). ThaenPpermitted the grant of stock options to empésyfor up to 1,550 shares of the
Company’s Series C common stock. In connection thighMerger, the Plan was terminated subsequehetexercise of all outstanding
options. A summary of option activity under therPénd changes during the Predecessor Period ermesriber 16, 2012 is presented below:

Weighted Average
Shares Subject t
Exercise Price pe
Outstanding

Options Share
Outstanding, January 1, 20 1,38¢ $ 3,13¢
Grantec 47C 4,66/
Forfeited (343 4,02¢

Exercisec (1,519 3,40¢
Outstanding, November 16, 20 —

Unvested shares expected to vest after November 16,
2012 — —

Due to the sale of the company provision in thePddl unvested options immediately vested and \egegcised on
November 16, 201:

Stock-based compensation expense in connectioralistiock-based awards for the year ended DeceBihe2013, the
Successor Period ended December 31, 2012, thedessie Period ended November 16, 2012 and theepelad December 31, 2011 is
presented by entity as follows (in thousands):

Successo Predecesso
Period from Period from
November 17 January 1,
Year ended through through Year ended
December 31 December 31 November 16 December 31
2013 2012 2012 2011
Operating expenst $ 62 $ — $ 14 $ 19
Selling expense 15¢ — 36 3
General and administrative expen 1,73¢ — 2,321 75€
Total stocl-based compensatic $ 1,95¢ $ — $ 2,371 $ 78C

NOTE 14—COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Indemnification —Subject to certain limitations, the Company isigdiled to indemnify its current and former direstafficers
and employees with respect to certain litigatioritera and investigations that arise in connectith their service to the Company. These
obligations arise under the terms of its certificaf incorporation, its bylaws, applicable contsaetind Delaware and California law. The
obligation to indemnify generally means that thepany is required to pay or reimburse the indivisu@asonable legal expenses and
possibly damages and other liabilities incurredannection with these matters.

Legal —The Company is named from time to time as a gartgwsuits. Actions filed against the Company il commercial,
intellectual property, customer, and labor and @yplent related claims, including complaints of géld wrongful termination and potential
class action lawsuits regarding alleged violatiohtederal and state wage and hour and other leangeneral, litigation can be expensive and
disruptive to normal business operations. Moreower results of legal proceedings are difficulptedict, and the costs incurred in litigation
can be substantial. The Company believes the amquavided in its financial statements are adequmdight of the probable and estimated
liabilities. Factors that the Company considerthaindetermination of the likelihood of a loss ané ¢stimate of the range of that loss in respe
of legal matters include the merits of a particutetter, the nature of the litigation, the lengthime the matter has been pending, the
procedural posture of the matter, whether the Campatends to defend the matter, the likelihoodettling for an insignificant amount and
likelihood of the plaintiff accepting an amountthris range. Because such matters are subject tg oraertainties, the ultimate outcomes are
not predictable and there can be no assuranceththattual amounts required to satisfy allegddliiees from the matters described above
not exceed the amounts reflected in the Compaiméstial statements or that the matters will nateha material adverse effect on the
Compan’s results of operations, financial condition orlrciews.



The Company is party to claims, legal actions asdaints arising in the ordinary course of businedated to its sales,
marketing, the provision of its services and equiphtlaims. The Company regularly reviews outstagdiegal claims and actions to deterrr
if reserves for expected negative outcomes of slams and actions are necessary. The Companyelsadves for all such matters of
approximately $9,263,000 and $2,527,000 as of Deeedl, 2013 and 2012, respectively. In conjunctiith one of the settlements, the
Company is obligated to pay certain future royaltieased on sales of future products.

Operating Leases—The Company leases office, warehouse space aatlaaft under operating leases with related anélated
parties expiring in various years through 2028. [Hases require the Company to pay additional Iefdaincreases in operating expenses an(
real estate taxes and contain renewal options Ciimpany entered into a lease agreement for itocatg headquarters in 2009 that provided
for a leasehold allowance of approximately $4,38Q,® be paid by the property developer on beHati®@ Company. During the year ended
December 31, 2012, the Company deferred and aradrtids amount as a credit to rent expense bas#teapplicable lease terms. In
connection with the Transactions, this balance mdaced to zero, which represented the estimateddiae as of that date. In July 2012, the
Company entered into a lease for additional officace for an initial lease term of 15 years, conmuimgnJuly 2013.

In December 2012, the Company entered into anadirerase agreement for the use of a corporateaftir@eginning January 2013,
the Company is required to make 156 monthly rgragiments of $83,000 each, with the option to extbedease for an additional 36 months
upon expiration of the initial term. The lease agnent provides for the option to purchase the @firon certain specified dates for a stated
dollar amount, which represents the current esdchédir value as of the purchase date.
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The Company also leases certain equipment and a@&ftunder operating and capital leases with expiratates through August
2016. The Company entered into a Fleet Lease Agrreduring 2010 and leased 315 and 223 vehiclésgltire years ended December 31,
2013 and 2012, respectively. The lease agreementgically between 36 and 48 month leases foh @abicle and the average remaining life
for the fleet is 25 months as of December 31, 28&30f December 31, 2013 and 2012, the capitakleadigation balance was $10,467,000
and $8,769,000, respectively.

Total rent expense for operating leases was appairly $6,147,000 for the year ended December @®113,26657,000, for the
Successor Period ended December 31, 2012, $4,&0®0the Predecessor Period ended November 1@, &3d $5,079,000 for the year
ended December 31, 2011.

As of December 31, 2013, future minimum lease paymeere as follows (in thousands):

Operating Capital Total
2014 $ 8,241 $ 4,98( $ 13,221
2015 8,97t 2,801 11,77¢
2016 9,794 1,98 11,781
2017 9,88¢ 1,86: 11,75:
2018 9,82t — 9,82t
Thereatfte! 70,04t — 70,04t
116,76¢ 11,63: 128,40(
Amounts representing intere — (1,169 (1,169
Total lease paymen $116,76¢ $10,46" $127,23¢

NOTE 15—RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During 2009, the Company acquired certain custdast generation know-how and technology from a camymwned by a
stockholder and agreed to pay the seller monthiguarts ranging from $40,000 to $50,000 through Jan2@13. During the Predecessor
Period ended November 16, 2012, the Company p&#,860, of which $120,000 was paid as part of tleeddr and completely satisfied the
obligation, under this agreement.

Long-term investments and other assets, includesiata due for non-interest bearing advances madmfoyees that are
expected to be repaid in excess of one year. Ansaluet from related parties as of December 31, 20832012, amounted to approximately
$341,000. As of December 31, 2013, this amountfulasreserved.

The Company recognized revenue of approximatel§Z8000 and $9,852,000 for providing monitoringvasss for contracts
owned by stockholders and employees of the Comgariyig the Predecessor Period ended November 1@, &@d the year ended
December 31, 2011, respectively.

The Company incurred expenses of approximately0p®1,$1,441,000 and $1,344,000 for use of a cotpgeaowned partially by
stockholders of the Company during the SuccessodPended December 31, 2012, the PredecessordRaraed November 16, 2012 and the
year ended December 31, 2011, respectively. Thoklstdders of the Company sold their share of thpamte jet during the first quarter
fiscal year 2013 and as such, no related-partyresgeewere incurred during the year ended Decenih@03.3. In addition, prepaid expenses
and other current assets at December 31, 2018dedla receivable for $334,000 from certain membensanagement in regards to their
personal use of the corporate jet.

The Company incurred additional expenses duriny#ae ended December 31, 2013, the Successor Reritedti December 31,
2012, the Predecessor Period ended November 18, 26d the year ended December 31, 2011 of appadeiyn$3,051,000, $57,000,
$1,222,000 and $2,382,000, respectively, for otkated-party transactions including contributiem¥ivint Gives Back, the Vivint Family
Foundation, legal fees, and purchase of tools apgl®s. In addition, Accrued expenses and otheeatiliabilities at December 31, 2013 and
2012, included a payable to Vivint Gives Back far1®6,000 and $173,000, respectively.

Prepaid expenses and other current assets at Dec&mf®2012, included a receivable for $9,200,0086cbby a member of
management of the Company related to the Merges. diiligation was satisfied by this individual chgithe year ended December 31, 2013.

In connection with the Merger, the Company enténéala support and services agreement with BlackesManagement Partners
L.L.C. ("BMP"), an affiliate of Blackstone. Undehé support and services agreement, the CompanyBp&ij at the closing of the Merger, an
approximately $20,000,000 transaction fee as censiibn for BMP undertaking due diligence invediigias and financial and structural
analysis and providing corporate strategy and adldeice and negotiation assistance in connectitim e Merger. In addition, the Company
has agreed to reimburse BMP for any out-of-pockpeases incurred by BMP and its affiliates anchttemnify BMP and its affiliates and
related parties, in each case, in connection Wwighlransactions and the provision of services utfiesupport and services agreement.

In addition, under the agreement with BMP, the Canypengaged BMP to provide monitoring, advisory eosulting services ¢



an ongoing basis. In consideration for these sesyithe Company agreed to pay an annual monitéeangqual to the greater of
(i) a minimum base fee of $2,700,000 subject tastdjents if the Company engages in a business oatidm or disposition that is deemed
significant and (ii) the amount of the monitoriregfpaid in respect of the immediately precedinggfigear, without regard to any post-fiscal
year“true-up” adjustments as determined by the agreeridé® Company incurred expenses of approximat2|918,000 related to this
agreement during the year ended December 31, 2013.

Under the support and services agreement, the Qorgdso engaged BMP to arrange for Blackstemartfolio operations group
provide support services customarily provided bgdREtone’s portfolio operations group to Blackstemeivate equity portfolio companies of
a type and amount determined by such portfolioisesvgroup to be warranted and appropriate. BMPimvibice the Company for such
services based on the time spent by the relevasbpeel providing such services during the applealeriod but in no event shall the
Surviving Company be obligated to pay more tha®®1,000 during any calendar year.

In connection with the issuance of the $450,0004¥or unsecured notes during the year ended Deredd, 2013, Blackstone
Advisory Partners L.P. participated as one of il purchasers of the senior unsecured notesecwived approximately $425,000 in fees af
the time of closing.

Transactions involving related parties cannot spmed to be carried out at an arm’s-length basis.

NOTE 16—SEGMENT REPORTING AND BUSINESS CONCENTRATIONS

Prior to the date of the 2GIG Sale, the Companyooted business through two operating segmentsnfvand 2GIG. These
segments were managed and evaluated separatelgiriggement due to the differences in their prodaratsservices. Prior to the Merger, the
Vivint segment included the Solar business, whiels iwnmaterial to the Company’s overall operatirgults, because the nature of the Vivint
and Solar businesses are similar in that both bas#s incur significant up-front costs to genemnate residential subscribers and realize
ongoing subscription revenue from services provigleder long term contracts.
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The primary source of revenue for the Vivint segtiiemgenerated through monitoring services provitbesubscribers, in
accordance with their subscriber contracts. Thaary source of revenue for the 2GIG segment wamitiir the sale of electronic security and
automation systems to security dealers and distnibpincluding Vivint. Fees and expenses charged®IG to Vivint, related to intercompany
purchases, were eliminated in consolidation.

The following table presents a summary of reverasts and expenses and assets as of Decemberl3l(irR¢housands):

Consolidatec

Vivint 2GIG Eliminations Total
Revenues $ 483,40: $60,22( $ (42,71) $ 500,90t
All other costs and expens 536,50:. 52,20( (32,919 555,78
(Loss) income from operatiol $ (53,10) $ 8,02( $ (9,799 $ (54,88()
Intangible assets, including goodw $1,677,03. $ — $ — $1,677,03.
Total asset $2,424,43. $ — $ — $2,424,43.

The following table presents a summary of revecosts and expenses and assets as of Decemberl2larad for the Successor
Period from November 17, 2012 through Decembef812 (in thousands):

Consolidatec

Vivint 2GIG Eliminations Total
Revenues $ 50,79: $ 12,37 $ (5,55)) $ 57,60¢
Transaction related cos 28,11¢ 3,76 — 31,88¢
All other costs and expens 46,24 12,71; (5,039 53,91«
Loss from operation $ (23,569 $ (4,109 $ (51¢) $ (28,19)
Intangible assets, including goodw $1,840,06! $ 85,93 $ 3,66: $1,929,66
Total asset $2,050,52! $115,88: $ (11,067 $2,155,34

The following table presents a summary of revemeasts and expenses for the Predecessor PesindJ&nuary 1, 2012

through November 16, 2012 (in thousands):

Consolidatec

Vivint 2GIG Eliminations Total
Revenues $346,27( $112,13¢ $ (60,83¢) $ 397,57
Transaction related cos 22,21¢ 1,24 — 23,46
All other costs and expens 365,30( 104,27t (52,47¢) 417,10:
(Loss) income from operatiol $(41,249 $ 6,61¢ $ (8,367 $ (42,999

The following table presents a summary of reveouosts and expenses for the year ended Decemb26 381 (in thousands

Consolidatec

Vivint 2GIG Eliminations Total
Revenues $312,42: $129,26! $ (101,739 $ 339,94¢
All other costs and expens 267,97. 121,96° (89,006 300,93¢
Income from operation $ 44,44¢ $ 7,29¢ $ (12,73)) $ 39,01
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The Company primarily operates in three geograpggons: United States, Canada and New Zealandopéetions in
New Zealand are considered immaterial and repantednjunction with the United States. Revenueslanc-lived assets by geographic reg
as of and for the year ended December 31, 201Budbeessor Period from November 17, 2012 througtedéer 31, 2012, the Predecessor
Period from January 1, 2012 through November 16228nd for the year ended December 31, 2011, asfellows (in thousands):

United State: Canada Total

As of and for
Successor Year ended December 31, 2C

Revenue from external custom: $ 474,34 $26,56¢ $500,90¢

Property and equipment, r 35,22( 59¢ 35,81¢
Successor Period from November 17 through Decemb8d, 2012

Revenue from external custom $ 52,19¢ $ 5,41C $ 57,60¢

Property and equipment, r 29,41 791 30,20¢
Predecessor Period from January 1, through Novembet6, 2012

Revenue from external custom: $ 363,87 $33,69: $397,57(
Predecessor Year ended December 31, 2C

Revenue from external custom: $ 312,62¢ $27,32: $339,94¢

Property and equipment, r 26,40 38 26,44(

NOTE 17—EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLAN

Beginning March 1, 2010, Vivint and 2GIG offereijddle employees the opportunity to defer a peragatof their earned income
into company-sponsored 401(k) plans. 2GIG made majccontributions to the plan in the amount of 88, $25,000 and $79,000 for the
year ended December 31, 2013, the Successor Raritetl December 31, 2012 and the Predecessor Raded November 16, 201
respectively. There were no matching contributifumghe year ended December 31, 2011.

NOTE 18—GUARANTOR AND NON-GUARANTOR SUPPLEMENTAL FI NANCIAL INFORMATION

The Senior Secured Notes due 2019 and the SentesNoe 2020 were issued by APX. The Senior Seduoses due 2019 and 1
Senior Notes due 2020 are fully and unconditiongllpranteed, jointly and severally by APX Groupdhiags, Inc. (“Parent Guarantor”) and
each of APX'’s existing and future material whollyxted U.S. restricted subsidiaries. APX’s existing éuture foreign subsidiaries are not
expected to guarantee the Notes.

Presented below is the condensed consolidatingdiabinformation of APX, subsidiaries of APX thate guarantors (the
“Guarantor Subsidiaries”), and APX’s subsidiarieattare not guarantors (the “Non-Guarantor Sub$&dig as of and for the year ended
December 31, 2013 and the Successor Period endmhiber 31, 2012, the Predecessor Period ended NMevelr, 2012 and the year ended
December 31, 2011. The condensed consolidatingdiabinformation reflects the investments of Halgs in the Guarantor Subsidiaries and
the Non-Guarantor Subsidiaries using the equityhoa:bf accounting.
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Assets

Current assel

Property and equipment, r
Subscriber acquisition costs, 1
Deferred financing costs, n
Investment in subsidiarie
Intercompany receivab
Intangible assets, n

Goodwill

Restricted cas
Long-term investments and other ass

Total Assets

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current liabilities
Intercompany payabl

Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheet

December 31, 2013 (Successor)
(In thousands)

Notes payable and revolving line of credit, net

of current portior

Capital lease obligations, net of current por! —

Deferred revenue, net of current port
Other lon¢-term obligations

Deferred income tax liabilit

Total equity

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

APX Guarantor Non-Guarantor

Parent Group, Inc. Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidatec
$ — $ 249,20¢ $ 89,76¢ $ 7,162 $ (24,13)) $ 322,00
— — 35,21¢ 60C — 35,81¢

— — 262,06¢ 26,25: — 288,31¢

— 59,37¢ — — — 59,37¢
490,24:  1,953,46! — — (2,443,70) —
— — 44,65¢ — (44,65¢) —

— — 764,29¢ 76,41¢ — 840,71

— — 804,04: 32,27 — 836,31¢

— — 14,21« — — 14,21«

— (302) 27,95¢ 24 — 27,67¢
$490,24: $2,261,74 $2,042,21. $ 142,73« $(2,512,50) $2,424,43.
$ — $ 9,561 $ 11754« $ 31,25«  $ (24,13) $ 134,22:
— — — 44.,65¢ (44,65¢) —

— 1,762,04 — — — 1,762,04

— 6,26¢ — — 6,26¢

— — 16,67¢ 1,857 — 18,53:

— — 3,55¢ 34¢ — 3,90¢

— (10€) 28¢ 9,031 — 9,21¢
490,24 490,24 1,897,87 55,58¢ (2,443,70) 490,24
$490,24: $2,261,74° $2,042,21. $ 142,73« $(2,512,50) $2,424,43.
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Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheet
December 31, 2012 (Successor)
(In thousands)

APX Guarantor Non-Guarantor
Parent Group, Inc. Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidatec
Assets
Current asset $ — $ 22C $ 79,46¢ % 6,511 $ (10,92) $ 75,27
Property and equipment, r — — 29,41¢ 791 — 30,20¢
Subscriber acquisition costs, 1 — — 11,51¢ 1,23t — 12,75:
Deferred financing costs, n — 57,32 — — — 57,32.
Investment in subsidiarie 679,27¢ 1,966,58: — — (2,645,86) —
Intercompany receivab — — 51,75« — (51,759 —
Intangible assets, n — — 955,29: 97,72¢ — 1,053,01
Goodwill — — 842,13t 34,50¢ — 876,64.
Restricted cas — — 28,42¢ — — 28,42¢
Long-term investments and other ass — — 21,67¢ 29 — 21,70¢
Total Assets $679,27¢ $2,024,12. $2,019,68 $ 140,80( $(2,708,54) $2,155,34
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current liabilities $ — $ 11,848 ¢ 9131 $ 15,87¢ $ (10,92) $ 108,10°
Intercompany payabl — — — 51,75« (51,759 —
Notes payable and revolving line of credit, net
of current portior — 1,333,001 — — — 1,333,001
Capital lease obligations, net of current por! — — 4,76¢ — — 4,76¢
Deferred revenue, net of current port — — 65¢ 49 — 70¢
Other lon¢-term obligations — — 2,09¢ 161 — 2,25
Deferred income tax liabilit — — 16,51¢ 10,71( — 27,22¢
Total equity 679,27¢ 679,27¢ 1,904,33. 62,24¢ (2,645,86) 679,27¢
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $679,27¢ $2,024,12. $2,019,68 $ 140,80( $(2,708,54) $2,155,34
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Condensed Consolidating Statements of Operations drfomprehensive Loss
For the Year Ended December 31, 2013 (Successor)
(In thousands)

Revenues

Costs and expens

Loss from operation

Loss from subsidiarie

Other income (expense), r

Loss before income tax expen:
Income tax expense (bene!

Net loss

Other comprehensive loss, net of tax effe
Net loss
Foreign currency translation adjustm

Total other comprehensive lo
Comprehensive los

APX Guarantor Non-Guarantor

Parent Group, Inc. Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidatec

$ — $ — $ 476,16¢ $ 27,79C $ (3,050 $ 500,90¢
— — 527,40: 31,43¢ (3,050 555,78t
— — (51,235 (3,645 — (54,88()

(124,517 (57,757) — — 182,26" —
60,00( (66,867 90€ (80) (60,000 (66,047
(64,517 (124,61 (50,329 (3,725 122,26" (120,92))
— (10€) 4,857 (1,155 — 3,59:
$ (64,519 $(124,51) $ (55,18 $ (2,570 $ 122,26 $ (124,51)
$ (64,519 $(124,51) $ (55,18 $ (2,570 $ 122,26 $ (124,51
— (8,55¢) (4,64)) (3,917) 8,55¢ (8,55¢)
— (8,55¢) (4,64)) (3,917) 8,55¢ (8,55¢)
$ (64,519 $(133,07) $ (59,82 $ (6,487 $ 130,82: $(133,07)
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Condensed Consolidating Statements of Operations drfomprehensive Loss

For the Period From November 17, 2012 to Decembef 32012 (Successor)
(In thousands)

Revenues

Costs and expens

(Loss) income from operatiol
(Loss) income from subsidiari

Other income (expens

(Loss) income from continuing operations beforeome
tax expense

Income tax (benefit) expen

Net (loss) incomi

Other comprehensive (loss) income net of tax efft

Net (loss) income before n-controlling interest:

Foreign currency translation adjustm:

Comprehensive (loss) incor

Non-

APX Guarantor Guarantor
Parent Group, Inc. Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidatec
$ — $ — $ 54255 $ 341: $ (57 $ 57,60¢
— — 83,47 2,37¢ (57 85,79¢
— — (29,226) 1,03¢ — (28,199
(30,109 (17,549 — — 47,65: —
— (12,559 (256) (3) — (12,81
(30,109 (30,109 (29,48:) 1,03( 47,65 (41,008
— — (11,199 29C — (10,909
$(30,109 $(30,10) $ (18,289 $  74C $ 47,65] $ (30,107
$(30,109 $(30,10) $ (18,289 $  74C $ 47,657 $ (30,10
— 92¢ 444 484 (928) 92¢
$(30,10) $(29,179 $ (17,84H $ 1,224 $ 46,720 $ (29,179
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Condensed Consolidating Statements of Operations drfomprehensive Loss
For the Period From January 1, 2012 to November 1&012 (Predecessor)

(In thousands)

Non-
APX Guarantor Guarantor
Parent  Group, Inc. Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidatec
Revenues $— 3 — $37550:. $ 2343. $ (1,369 $ 397,57
Costs and expens — — 413,37¢ 28,54¢ (1,369 440,56:
Loss from operation — — (37,87¢) (5,117 — (42,9979
Loss from subsidiarie — (153,51) — — 153,51 —
Other expens — — (103,83() (2,85)) — (106,68
Loss from continuing operations before income tgxemses — (153,51) (141,706 (7,969 153,51 (149,67:)
Income tax expens — — 3,50( 1,42 — 4,92%
Loss from continuing operatiol — (153,51) (145,209 (9,399 153,51 (154,59
Loss from discontinued operatio — — (239) — — (239)
Net loss before nc-controlling interest: — (153,51) (145,449 (9,399 153,51 (154,83f)
Net income (loss) attributable to non-controlling
interests — — 6,781 (8,100 — (1,319
Net loss $—  $(153,51) $(152,226 $ (1,297 $ 153,517 $ (153,51)
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax &fi
Net income before ni-controlling interest: $—  $(153,51) $(145,44H $ (9,397) $ 153,517 $ (154,83
Change in fair value of interest rate swap agre¢i — 31¢ 31¢ — (31¢) 31¢
Foreign currency translation adjustm: — 70€ 70€ — (708) 70¢
Total other comprehensive incot — 1,02¢ 1,02¢ — (1,02¢) 1,02¢
Comprehensive loss before I-controlling interest: — (152,49) (144,419 (9,397 152,49: (153,810
Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to nortrodimg
interests — — 6,781 (8,100 — (1,319
Comprehensive los $—  $(152,49) $(151,200 $ (1,29) $ 152,49. $ (152,49)
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Condensed Consolidating Statements of Operations drfomprehensive Loss
For the Year Ended December 31, 2011 (Predecessor)
(In thousands)

Non-
APX Guarantor Guarantor
Parent  Group, Inc. Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidatec
Revenues $— $ — $35057: $ (9560 $ (9,66¢ $ 339,94
Costs and expens — — 295,85 14,74¢ (9,66%) 300,93:
Income (loss) from operatiol — — 54,71¢ (15,709 — 39,01«
Loss from subsidiarie — (68,54¢) — — 68,54¢ —
Other expens — — (97,999 (4,249 — (102,24)
Loss from continuing operations before income tgxemses — (68,54¢) (43,279 (19,957 68,54¢ (63,22°)
Income tax expense (bene! — — 71¢ (4,459 — (3,739
Loss from continuing operatiol — (68,54¢) (43,999 (15,499 68,54¢ (59,489
Loss from discontinued operatio — — (2,917%) — — (2,917
Net loss before nc-controlling interest: — (68,54¢) (46,91) (15,499 68,54¢ (62,40%)
Net income attributable to n-controlling interest: — — 6,76¢ 34k (979 6,141
Net loss $— $(68540) $ (53,680 $ (15839 $ 6951¢ $ (68,540
Other comprehensive (loss) income, net of tax &ffi
Net loss before nc-controlling interest: $— $(68546) $ (46,91) $ (154949 $ 68,54t $ (62,409
Change in fair value of interest rate swap agre¢! — 563 563 — (569 563
Foreign currency translation adjustm — (1,739 (2,104 37C 1,73¢ (1,739
Total other comprehensive (loss) inco — (2,177 (1,547 37C 1,171 (1,277
Comprehensive loss before I-controlling interest: — (69,717 (48,457) (15,129 69,71’ (63,57¢)
Comprehensive income attributable to -controlling interest  — — 6,76¢ 34k (973 6,141
Comprehensive los $— $(69,71) $ (55,22) $ (15469 $ 70,69C $ (69,71)
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Condensed Consolidating Statements of Cash Flows
For the Year ended December 31, 2013 (Successor)

Cash flows from operating activitie

Net cash provided by (used in) operating

activities
Cash flows from investing activitie
Subscriber contract cos
Capital expenditure
Proceeds from the sale of subsidi
Investment in subsidiat

Proceeds from the sale of capital as

Net cash used in acquisitit
Other asset

Net cash used in investing activiti

Cash flows from financing activitie
Proceeds from notes payal
Intercompany receivab
Intercompany payabl

Borrowings from revolving line of cred
Repayments on revolving line of cre

Change in restricted ca

Repayments of capital lease obligati

Deferred financing cos
Payment of dividend

Net cash (used in) provided by financing

activities
Effect of exchange rate changes on ¢

Net increase in cas
Cash:
Beginning of perioc
End of perioc

(In thousands)

Non-
APX Guarantor Guarantor
Parent Group, Inc. Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidatec
$60,000 $ (20) $ 43,21¢ $ 36,407 $ (60,000 $ 79,42¢
— — (270,70) (27,936) — (298,647
— — (8,620) (56) — (8,676)
— 144,75( — — — 144,75(
— (254,39 — — 254,39 —
— — 9 — — 9
— — (4,272) — — (4,272)
— — (9,64%) 3 — (9,645
— (109,649 (293,23 (27,989 254,39« (176,47)
— 457,25( — — — 457,25(
— — 7,09¢ — (7,096) —
— — 254,39: (7,096 (247,299 —
— 22,50( — — — 22,50(
— (50,500 — — — (50,500
— — (161) — — (161)
— — (7,207 — — (7,207)
— (10,896 — — — (10,896
(60,000 (60,000) — — 60,00( (60,000
(60,000 358,35« 254,12 (7,099  (194,39) 350,98
— — — (119) — (119
— 248,50 4,10: 1,20z — 253,81!
— 39¢ 4,18¢ 3,50: — 8,09(
$ — $24890¢ $ 8,291 $ 4,70¢ $ — $ 261,90!
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Condensed Consolidating Statements of Cash Flows
For the Period From November 17, 2012 to Decembef 32012 (Successor)
(In thousands)

Non-
APX Guarantor Guarantor
Parent Group, Inc. Subsidiaries  Subsidiaries  Eliminations  Consolidated
Cash flows from operating activitie
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activi  $ — 3 39¢ $ (22,27) % 326 $ (3,696 $ (25,249
Cash flows from investing activitie
Subscriber contract cos — — (11,689 (1,259 — (12,939
Capital expenditure — — (1,339 (229 — (1,45€)
Net cash used in acquisition of the predecesstrding
transaction costs, net of cash acqu — (1,915,47) — — — (1,915,47)
Investment in subsidiai (708,45 (67,626 (3,69¢) — 779,77" —
Other asset — — (19,587) — — (19,587)
Net cash used in investing activiti (708,45) (1,983,09) (36,299 (1,379 779,770 (1,949,45)
Cash flows from financing activitie
Proceeds from notes payal — 1,333,00! — — — 1,333,001
Proceeds from the issuance of common stock in
connection with acquisition of the predeces 708,45: 708,45: — — (708,45) 708,45:
Intercompany payabl — — 63,11: 4,51¢ (67,626) —
Repayments of capital lease obligatir — — (359 — — (359
Deferred financing cos — (58,359 — — — (58,359
Net cash provided by financing activiti 708,45: 1,983,09 62,75¢ 451¢  (776,07) 1,982,74
Effect of exchange rate changes on ¢ — — — 41 — 41
Net increase in cas — 39¢ 4,18¢ 3,50: — 8,09(
Cash:
Beginning of perioc — — — — — —
End of perioc $ —  $ 39¢ $ 4,18 $ 350 $ — % 8,09(
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Condensed Consolidating Statements of Cash Flows

For the Period From January 1, 2012 to November 1&012 (Predecessor)

Cash flows from operating activitie
Net cash provided by operating activit

Cash flows from investing activitie

Subscriber contract cos

Capital expenditure

Proceeds from the sale of capital as

Investment in subsidiat

Other asset

Net cash used in investing activiti
Cash flows from financing activitie
Proceeds from notes payal
Proceeds from issuance of preferred stock and
warrants
Proceeds from issuance of preferred stock by ¢
Capital contribution-nor-controlling interes
Borrowings from revolving line of cred
Intercompany receivab
Intercompany payabl
Repayments on revolving line of cre
Change in restricted ca
Repayments of capital lease obligatir
Excess tax benefit from shi-based payment awar
Deferred financing cos
Payments of dividenc
Net cash provided by financing activiti
Effect of exchange rate changes on ¢
Net increase in cas
Cash:
Beginning of perioc
End of perioc

(In thousands)

Non-
APX Guarantor Guarantor

Parent Group, Inc. Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidatec

$— $ — $ 100,38! $ 43,33( $ (48,349 $ 9537
— — (205,70") (58,02¢) — (263,73))
— — (5,239 (669) — (5,899
— — 274 — — 274
— (4,567) — — 4,56 —
— — (725) (18) — (749)
— (4,567  (211,38) (58,707 4,56 (270,09,
— — 116,16: — — 116,16:
— 4,56 — — — 4,56
— — — 5,00( — 5,00(
— — — 9,19: — 9,19:
— — 101,00( 4,00( — 105,00¢
— — (46,03 — 46,03¢ —
— — — 2,25¢ (2,259 —
— — (42,24)) — — (42,24))
— — — (152) — (152)
— — (4,060) — — (4,060)
— — 2,651 — — 2,651
— — (5,720 (964) — (6,689
— — — (80 — (80
— 4,56: 121,75 19,25 43,78 189,35.
— — — (251) — (251)
— — 10,75¢ 3,62 — 14,37¢
— — 2,815 863 — 3,68(

$— $ — $ 13,57: $  4,48¢ $ — $ 18,05¢
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Condensed Consolidating Statements of Cash Flows
For the Year Ended December 31, 2011 (Predecessor)
(In thousands)

Non-
APX Guarantor Guarantor
Parent Group, Inc. Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidatec
Cash flows from operating activitie
Net cash (used in) provided by operating
activities $— $ — $ (47,00 $ 13,96 $ (3,807 $ (36,849
Cash flows from investing activitie
Subscriber contract cos — — (178,829 (24,759 — (203,57
Capital expenditure — — (6,516 5) — (6,52])
Proceeds from the sale of capital as — — 18t — — 18t
Investment in subsidiai — (45,069 — 45,06¢ —
Other asset — — 2,31t (5) — 2,31(
Net cash used in investing activiti — (45,069 (182,84() (24,767) 45,06¢ (207,607
Cash flows from financing activitie
Proceeds from notes payal — — 187,50( 5,00( (5,000 187,50(
Proceeds from issuance of preferred stock and
warrants — 45,06¢ — — — 45,06¢
Proceeds from issuance of preferred stock by ¢ — — — 5,00( — 5,00(
Capital contribution- nor- controlling interes — — — 224 — 224
Intercompany payabl — — 36,26¢ — (36,26¢€) —
Borrowings from revolving line of cred — — 87,30( — 87,30(
Repayments on revolving line of cre — — (75,209 — — (75,209
Change in restricted ca — — — (1,349 — (1,349
Repayments of capital lease obligatir — — (2,357 — — (2,357)
Deferred financing cos — — (2,000 — — (2,000
Net cash provided by financing activiti — 45,06¢ 231,50( 8,87¢ (41,26¢€) 244,17¢
Effect of exchange rate changes on ¢ — — — 247 — 247
Net increase (decrease) in Ci — — 1,65¢ (1,67¢) — (20)
Cash:
Beginning of perioc — — 3,70( — — 3,70(
End of perioc $— $  — $ 5358 $ (1,679 $ — $ 3,68(
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON AC COUNTING AND FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and proceduresh@sterm is defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15a&)l60der the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”)) that arggded to ensure that information required to beld&sed in our reports under the Exchange
Act is recorded, processed, summarized and repaitbdh the time periods specified in the SECQules and forms, and that such informatic
accumulated and communicated to our managemehiding our principal executive officer and prindifimancial officer, as appropriate, to
allow timely decisions regarding required discl@surAny controls and procedures, no matter how dexdlgned and operated, can provide
reasonable assurance of achieving the desiredotatectives. Our management, with the particgpatf our principal executive officer and
principal financial officer, has evaluated the effeeness of the design and operation of our désel® controls and procedures as of
December 31, 2013, the end of the period coveratiibyeport. Based upon that evaluation, our fpadcexecutive officer and principal
financial officer concluded that, as of the endhaf period covered by this report, the design getation of our disclosure controls and
procedures were effective to accomplish their dbjes at the reasonable assurance level.

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
Managemer's Annual Report on Internal Control Over FinancRéporting

This annual report does not include a report ofagament’s assessment regarding internal contralfmancial reporting or an attestation
report of our independent registered public acdagriirm due to a transition period establishedligs of the Securities and Exchange
Commission for newly public companies.

Internal Control Procedure

In 2012, we and our independent registered publioanting firm identified a material weakness lieigto the accounting for certain contract
sales that occurred during 2007 and 2008 (it wéerehined those transactions did not qualify for iettiate gain recognition at the time of the
sale because we had entered into an agreememtiaw® providing monitoring services for these cacts). We restated financial statements
from 2009 through June 2012 that we had issuedqusly to address this accounting error.

We have implemented processes, policies and adgemtienced staff to remediate the identified matevieakness and improve our internal
control over our financial reporting and internatla functions. We have also adopted additionattemi policies designed to improve controls
associated with our quarterly and year-end findrst&ement close processes. As a result of thaimna, we believe the identified material
weakness was remediated as of December 31, 2013.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Repogtin

Except as described above, there have been noehangur internal control over financial reportifas defined in Rule 13a-15(f) and 15d-15
(f) under the Exchange Act) during the fiscal geaended December 31, 2013 that have materiakycttl, or that are reasonably likely to
materially affect, our internal control over fingalareporting.

ITEM9B. OTHER INFORMATION
Iran Threat Reduction and Syria Human Rights A@QGi#2

Pursuant to Section 219 of the Iran Threat Redn@itd Syria Human Rights Act of 2012, which addedti®n 13(r) of the Exchange Act, the
Company hereby incorporates by reference hereibixXé9.1 of this report, which includes disclossiublicly filed and/or provided to The
Blackstone Group L.P. by Travelport Limited, whitlay be considered our affiliate.
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PART Il

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNA NCE

The following table sets forth, as of February 2014, certain information regarding our directand axecutive officers are
responsible for overseeing the management of aginbess.

Name Age Position

Todd Pedersen 45 Chief Executive Officer and Direct
Alex Dunn 42  President and Directt

David Bywater 44  Chief Operating Office

Matt Eyring 44  Chief Strategy and Innovation Offic
Mark Davies 53 Chief Financial Office

Dale Gerarc 43 Vice President of Finance and Treast
JT Hwang 39 Chief Technology Office

Patrick Kelliher 50 Chief Accounting Office

Todd Santiag: 41 Chief Sales Office

Todd Thompsol 46 Chief Information Officel

Jeff Lyman 37 Chief Marketing Officel

David F. ' Alessandrc 63 Director

Bruce McEvoy 36 Director

Joseph Truste 51 Director

Peter Wallact 38 Director

Todd Pederseffounded the Company in 1999 and served as ourdemasiChief Executive Officer and Director. In Fedory 2013,
Mr. Pedersen relinquished his title as our Presidad remained our Chief Executive Officer and Blioe.

Alex Dunnwas named our President in February 2013. Prititi$o he served as our Chief Operating Officer Biréctor from July
of 2005 through January 2013. Prior to joining @@mpany, he served as Deputy Chief of Staff ané&fGDperating Officer to Governor Mitt
Romney in Massachusetts. Before joining GovernanfRey’s staff, Mr. Dunn served as entrepreneur-gidence at the venture capital firm
General Catalyst. There, he helped start m-Qub®ldle media management company. Prior to thatohiunded LavaStorm Technologies,
an international telecommunications software corgpatmere he served as Chief Executive Officer.

David Bywaterhas served as our Chief Operating Officer sincg 2013. Before joining us, Mr. Bywater served agéixive Vice
President and Corporate Officer for Xerox and visGhief Operating Officer of its State Governm®etvices. Prior to that, Mr. Bywater
worked at Affiliated Computer Services (ACS), whataring his tenure, he managed a number of theiniess units. ACS was acquired by
Xerox in 2009. From 1999 to 2003, Mr. Bywater waseaior manager at Bain & Company.

Matt Eyring has served as our Chief Strategy and Innovatioit€@fsince December 2012. Before joining us, Mrifitywas the
managing partner of Innosight, a global strategyianovation consulting firm. Prior to InnosightrMEyring was Vice President and General
Manager at LavaStorm Technologies. Mr. Eyring auifyeserves on the board of Virgin Health Miles asé technical advisor to the U.S.
Department of Health and Human Services Innovdtgiows program.

Mark Davieshas served as our Chief Financial Officer sincedoler 2013. Before joining us, Mr. Davies served ywars as
Executive Vice President of Alcoa, as Presiderthefcompany’s Global Business Services unit and loeemf the Alcoa Executive Council.
Prior to Alcoa, Mr. Davies worked at Dell Inc. fb2 years, most recently as the Managing Vice Peesidf Strategic Programs, reporting to
Chairman, Michael Dell. Prior to that, Mr. Daviesged as Chief Financial Officer of the Global Qamer Group.

Dale Gerardhas served as our Vice President of Finance arakilirer since January 2013. Prior to this he seagélteasurer from
March 2010 to January 2013. Prior to joining us, @erard was the Assistant Treasurer and DiredtBimance at ACL. Before joining ACL,
Mr. Gerard served as Senior Treasury Analyst atasatNational Corporation. Prior to that, Mr. Gerspént four years at Chemtura
Corporation, formerly Great Lakes Chemical Corgorgtas Finance Analyst in the Fine Chemical antfthe business units.

JT Hwanghas served as our Chief Technology Officer contirsypsince joining the firm in March of 2008, withe exception of
the period from June of 2011 to January 2013 wieeseved as our Chief Information Officer. He hasrdl.6 years of experience in the
computer science field. Before joining the Compaviy, Hwang was Chief Architect at Netezza Corpanatia global provider of data
warehouse appliance solutions, beginning in Oct@b66. He also served as Chief Architect of Hewhettkard's Advanced Solutions Lab
from March 2002 to October 2006.

Patrick Kelliher has served as Chief Accounting Officer since Fatyro§2014. Prior to this he served as Vice Pretidé Finance
and Corporate Controller from March 2012 to Feby2014. Prior to joining us, he served as Senioe®@or of Finance and Business Unit
Controller of Adobe. Prior to Adobe, Mr. Kelliheras the Vice President of Finance and ControlleCfiomiture, Inc. Before that he has servec
in various senior finance roles at other high grotechnology companie



Todd Santiagdhas served as our Chief Sales Officer since Fep2@it3. Prior to this, Mr. Santiago was presiddr2®IG where
he coordinated the successful launch of Go!Confadr to joining 2GIG, Mr. Santiago was Partned &eneral Manager of Signature
Academies in Boise, ID and VP and General ManagRICH Corporation in Irving, TX. Mr. Santiago isgtorother-in-law of Mr. Pedersen.
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Todd Thompsorhas served as our Chief Information Officer of @@mpany since May, 2013. Prior to joining the Compa
Mr. Thompson was the Chief Information Officer ftarwood Hotels & Resorts Worldwide. From 2003@0&, Mr. Thompson served as a
Senior Vice President and Chief Information OffioétdetBlue Airways. Prior to that, Mr. Thompsod nsulting practices for SBI Razorfish
and Arthur Andersen Business Consulting. Mr. Thaongs currently on the advisory boards of Loop ldrapd Hotel Technology Next
Generation.

Jeff Lymanhas served as our Chief Marketing Officer of thenpany since February 2014. Prior to this he seasgeour Vice
President of Consumer Experience. Prior to joiniaghe served most recently as Senior Directokimbile & Web Design at NIKE+, Nike's
industry leading activity tracking service. Mr. Lam has worked across the landscape of the NIKEdBianluding leading digital and
marketplace communication for NIKEID (NIKE’s custdootwear experience) and Nike Basketball.

Bruce McEvoyhas served as a Director of the Company since Nbeed6, 2012. Mr. McEvoy is a Managing Director at
Blackstone in the Private Equity Group. Before ijjoinBlackstone in 2006, Mr. McEvoy worked as andksate at General Atlantic from 2002
to 2004, and was a consultant at McKinsey & Comgamy 1999 to 2002. Mr. McEvoy currently servestba boards of directors of Catalent
Pharma Solutions, Inc., Performance Food Group, G€/ices, RGIS Inventory Services and SeaWorld#P&rEntertainment. Mr. McEvoy
was formerly a director of DJ Orthopedics.

David F. D’'Alessandrchas served as a Director of the Company since3Iyl2013. Mr. DAlessandro is the chairman of the Bo
of Directors of SeaWorld Entertainment, Inc., aifjoas he has held since 2010. He served as ChairR@sident and Chief Executive Officer
of John Hancock Financial Services from 2000 to4&2®@ving served as President and Chief Operatffige®of the same entity from 1996 to
2000, and guided the company through a mergerMathuLife Financial Corporation in 2004. Mr. D’Alessdro served as President and Chie
Operating Officer of ManuLife in 2004. He is a fanPartner of the Boston Red Sox. A graduate cd@&yge University, he holds honorary
doctorates from three colleges and serves as higiencan of Boston University.

Joseph Trusteyas served as a Director of the Company since Nbeeid6, 2012. Mr. Trustey joined Summit Partner§462.
Prior to joining Summit Partners, he worked as msattant with Bain & Co. and served as a CaptaifénU.S. Army. Based in Summit’s
Boston office, Mr. Trustey is active in the firmisvestment activities in North America, Europe @wia. During tenure with Summit Partners,
Mr. Trustey has served as a director of many comegancluding two public companies. He is curremtlgiirector of Aramsco, Belkin,
Commercial Defeasance, ISH (acquired by PwC), dpgritann Sports.

Peter Wallacenhas served as a Director of the Company since Nbeed6, 2012. Mr. Wallace is a Senior Managing €iveat
Blackstone in the Private Equity Group, which hi@éal in 1997. Mr. Wallace serves on the board rfalors of AlliedBarton Security
Services, Michaels Stores, Inc., SeaWorld Parksx&iEainment and The Weather Channel CompaniesWdHbace was formerly a director of
Crestwood Midstream Partners, New Skies SatebitesPelmorex Media.

Corporate Governance Matters
Background and Experience of Directol

When considering whether directors have the expee® qualifications, attributes or skills, takeraavhole, to enable the Board to
satisfy its oversight responsibilities effectivatylight of our business and structure, the Boaxmiged on, among other things, each person’s
background and experience as reflected in thermdtion discussed in each of the directors’ indialchiographies set forth above. We believe
that our directors provide an appropriate mix gienence and skills relevant to the size and natficeir business. The members of the Board
considered, among other things, the following int@atr characteristics which make each director aalde member of the Board:

. Mr. Pedersen’s extensive knowledge of our ituand significant experience, as well as hisghts as the original founder
of our firm. Mr. Pedersen has played a criticaériol our firm’s successful growth since its fourgland has developed a
unique and unparalleled understanding of our bgsi

. Mr. Dunr’s extensive knowledge of our industry and signifidaadership experienc

. Mr. D’Alessandro’s extensive business and leslip experience, including as Chairman, PresidadtChief Executive
Officer of John Hancock Financial Services, as wslhis familiarity with board responsibilities,essight and control
resulting from serving on the boards of directdrpublic companies

. Mr. McEvoy's extensive knowledge of a variety of differentustties and his significant financial and investiretperienc
from his involvement in Blackstone, including asmdging Director

. Mr. Trustey’s significant financial expertisadabusiness experience, including as a ManagingcRir at Summit Partners,
as well as his familiarity with board responsilig, oversight and control resulting from servimgtioe boards of directors of
public companies

. Mr. Wallace’s significant financial expertisacabusiness experience, including as a Senior Magdgjrector in the Private
Equity Group at Blackstone, as well as his famitljawith board responsibilities, oversight and cohtesulting from servin
on the boards of directors of public compan



Board Composition

We are not a listed issuer whose securities aegllisn a national securities exchange or in am-gig@ler quotation system which
has requirements that a majority of the board fadors be independent. However, if we were adiggsuer whose securities were traded on
the New York Stock Exchange and subject to suchireaents, we would be entitled to rely on the ouligd company exception contained in
Section 303A of the NYSE Listed Company Manualdgrception from the independence requirements rktatéhe majority of our Board of
Directors. Pursuant to Section 303A of the NYSEddsCompany Manual, a company of which more th&b 60the voting power is held by
an individual, a group of another company is exefrgeh the requirements that its board of directmssist of a majority of independent
directors. At December 31, 2013, Blackstone beradfycowned greater than 50% of the voting powethef Company which would qualify the
Company as a controlled company eligible for exéomptinder the rule.

Committees of the Board

Our Board of Directors has an Audit Committee. Baard of Directors may also establish from timéiree any other committees
that it deems necessary and advisable.
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Audit Committee

Our Audit Committee consists of Mr. McEvoy and MYallace. The Audit Committee is responsible folisiBgy our Board of
Directors with its oversight responsibilities redjag: (i) the integrity of our financial statemenfi$) our compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements; (iii) our independent registered wudtcounting firm’s qualifications and independenand (iv) the performance of our internal
audit function and independent registered publépanting firm. While our Board of Directors has wisignated any of its members as an
audit committee financial expert, we believe thatreof the current Audit Committee members is fgllalified to address any accounting,
financial reporting or audit issues that may corefote it.

Code of Ethics

We are not required to adopt a code of ethics ksaur securities are not listed on a nationalréésiexchange and we do not have a code
ethics that applies to our principal executiveadfi principal financial officer, principal accoumg officer or controller, or persons performing
similar functions. Although we do not have a coflethics, our other compliance procedures areddfit to ensure that we carry out our
responsibilities in accordance with applicable land regulations.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
Compensation Committee Report

In 2013, our entire Board of Directors performedieglent functions of a compensation committeeeiwe did not have a
compensation committee. The Board of Directorsreaiewed and discussed with management the follpW@iompensation Discussion and
Analysis. Based on such review and discussionsBtiaed of Directors approved the inclusion of thkofwving Compensation Discussion and
Analysis in this annual report on Form 10-K for fleeal year ended December 31, 2013.

Submitted by the Board of Directors:

Todd Pedersen, Director and Chief Executive Officer
Alex Dunn, Director and President

David F. D’Alessandro, Director

Bruce McEvoy, Director

Joseph Trustey, Director

Peter Wallace, Director

Compensation Discussion and Analysis

Introduction

Our executive compensation plan is designed tadatand retain individuals with the qualificatidesmanage and lead the
Company as well as to motivate them to developgzsibnally and contribute to the achievement offimancial goals and ultimately create
and grow our overall enterprise value.

Our named executive officers for 2013 were:
. Todd Pedersen, our Chief Executive Offic
. Mark Davies, our Chief Financial Officer, who begaetving as our principal financial officer on Novieer 4, 2013; an
. our three other most highly compensated execufifieess who served in such capacities at DecembeRB13, namely
e Alex Dunn, our Presiden
e Matt Eyring, our Chief Strategy and Innovation ©fi; anc
e Todd Santiago, our Chief Sales Offic

Executive Compensation Objectives and Philosophy
Our primary executive compensation objectives are t

. attract, retain and motivate senior manageneaters who are capable of advancing our missidrsttategy and ultimately,
creating and maintaining our long-term equity vafBech leaders must engage in a collaborative apprand possess the
ability to execute our business strategy in an stigucharacterized by competitiveness and gro

. reward senior management in a manner aligned withimancial performance; ar

. align senior manageme's interests with our equity own’ long-term interests through equity participation and exghip.



To achieve our objectives, we deliver executive pensation through a combination of the followingnpmnents:
. Base salary
. Cash bonus opportunitie
. Long-term incentive compensatio
. Broac-based employee benefi
. Supplemental executive perquisites;

. Severance benefit
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Base salaries, broad-based employee benefits,esupptal executive perquisites and severance bemeétdesigned to attract and
retain senior management talent. We also use awcashlbonuses and long-term equity awards to ppeformance-based pay that aligns
the interests of our named executive officers wighlong-term interests of our equity-owners andrtbance executive retention.

Compensation Determination Process

In March 2014 our Board of Directors formed a congagion committee that will be responsible for magkall executive
compensation determinations. In 2013, howeverBmard of Directors did not have a compensation catas) therefore, our Board of
Directors made all decisions about our executivapensation.

In making initial compensation determinations wigispect to our named executive officers, our Bo&iirectors considered a
number of variables, consistent with our executivmpensation objectives, including individual cireatances related to each executive’s
recruitment or retention and the position for whiltey were hired. Specifically, our Board of Dimerst granted to Messrs. Pedersen and Dunn
substantially greater number of equity awards aspared to the other named executive officers intlaf their respective roles as Chief
Executive Officer and President. The specific teafsach of the equity awards granted to our naexedutive officers are discussed below
under “Narrative Disclosure to Summary Compensatfiable and 2013 Grants of Plan-Based Awards.” Gnar8 of Directors did not use any
compensation consultants in making its compensalidarminations and has not benchmarked any obitgpensation determinations again
peer group.

Messrs. Pedersen and Dunn generally participalesgussions and deliberations with our Board o&EBtiors regarding the
determinations of annual cash incentive awardstdorexecutive officers. Specifically, they makeamenendations to our Board of Directors
regarding the performance targets to be used undeannual bonus plan and the amounts of annuhlinasntive awards. Messrs. Pedersen
and Dunn do not participate in discussions or datetions regarding their individual compensation.

Employment Agreement

On November 16, 2012, Messrs. Pedersen and Dueredrnnto employment agreements with 313 AcquisitibC, the Companyg
indirect parent (“Parent”). No other named exeautificer has an employment agreement.

A full description of the material terms of Mr. Reden’s and Mr. Dunn’s employment agreements udised below under
“Narrative Disclosure to Summary Compensation Tanleé 2013 Grants of Plan-Based Awards.”

Compensation Elements

The following is a discussion and analysis of eeammponent of our executive compensation program.

Base Salary

Annual base salaries compensate our executivesdffior fulfilling the requirements of their resfige positions and provide them
with a predictable and stable level of cash incoef&tive to their total compensation. Our Boardakctors believes that the level of an
executive officer's base salary should reflect sexdcutive’s performance, experience and breadtbsgonsibilities, salaries for similar
positions within our industry and any other fact@igevant to that particular job. The Board of Rims, with the assistance of our Human
Resources Department, used the experience, mar&et&dge and insight of its members in evaluatirgdompetitiveness of current salary
levels.

In the sole discretion of our Board of Directorasé salaries for our executive officers may beopligally adjusted to take into
account changes in job responsibilities or comipetjpressures. During fiscal 2013, in recognitibtheir significant contributions to the
continued growth and performance of the Compare/Bibard of Directors determined that it was appaterto increase the salary of
Mr. Santiago on two occasions and of Mr. Eyringooe occasion. The “Summary Compensation Table canasponding footnote below
show the base salary earned by each named exeofftcer as well as the base salary adjustmentdifessrs. Eyring and Santiago made du
fiscal 2013.

Bonuses

Cash bonus opportunities are available to varioasagers, directors and executives, including oarathexecutive officers, in
order to motivate their achievement of short-teerfgrmance goals and tie a portion of their cashpensation to performance.

Fiscal 2013 Management Bonus — Messrs. Daviesngynd Santiago

In 2013, Messrs. Davies, Eyring and Santiago wkgéke to receive a discretionary bonus based peraentage of such
executive’s base salary. For fiscal 2013, each e$dvk. Davies, Eyring and Santiago were eligibleteive a target bonus opportunity of 50%
of their respective base salaries (in Mr. Daviesise pro-rated for 2013 based on the portion of¢lae he was employed). Based on
Mr. Davie¢'s contribution to financial management and openationprovement, Mr. Eyrir's contribution to the strategic direction ¢



technology development of the Company and Mr. &gots contribution to the success of our 2013 rsgiifforts, based on the
recommendation of Mr. Dunn, the Board of Directamsarded the named executive officers, an annuaidinthe following amounts:

Annual Target Target 2013
Base Bonus Bonus Annual
Named Executive Office Salary Opportunity Opportunity Bonus
(%) (%) (%) (%)
Mark Davies(1] 500,00( 50 39,04: 39,04
Matt Eyring 500,00( 50 250,00( 250,00(
Todd Santiagt 500,00( 50 250,00( 250,00(

(1) Mr. Davies's target bonus opportunity and akctmnual bonus award for 2013 was prorated basadeoportion of the year Mr. Davies
was employed
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2GIG Transaction Bonus — Mr. Santiago

In fiscal 2013, in addition to his fiscal 2013 aahbonus described above, the Board of Directorsrdened that it was appropriate
to award Mr. Santiago an additional discretionaspus of $1,500,000, primarily for his significamintributions in connection with the 2GIG
Sale. See “Management’s Discussion and Analysisrancial Condition and Results of Operations—Réedeansactions.”

Sign-On Bonuses

From time to time, the Board of Directors may awsigh-on bonuses in connection with the commencéwfean NEO’s
employment with us. Sign-on bonuses are used ohnwecessary to attract highly skilled individualshe Company. Generally, they are
used to incentivize candidates to leave their caireenployers, or may be used to offset the loameested compensation they may forfeit as &
result of leaving their current employers. In fis2813, in order to attract to Mr. Davies to thesipion of Chief Financial Officer, the Board of
Directors determined to award Mr. Davies a sigrbonus of $350,000 in connection with the commencegroghis employment with us.

Fiscal 2013 Management Bonus — Messrs. Pederseband

In fiscal 2013, with respect to Messrs. Pedersehlamn, the Board of Directors adopted a more fdimed annual cash incentive
compensation plan pursuant to which they are déigibreceive an annual cash incentive award basede achievement of company-wide
performance objectives. As provided in their resipecemployment agreements, the target bonus aradoneach of Messrs. Pedersen and
Dunn are 100% of their respective base salaries.

Actual amounts paid to Messrs. Pedersen and Duderuhe fiscal 2013 annual cash incentive planbélcalculated by
multiplying each named executive officer’'s bonuseptial target (which is 100% of base salary) byaehievement factor based on our actual
achievement relative to company-wide performangeative(s).

The achievement factor will be determined by calting our actual achievement against the compaungwerformance target(s)
based on the pre-established scale set forth ifotlosving table:

% Attainment of Performance Target Achievement Facto
Less than 90% 0
90% 50%
100% 10C%
110% 200(%
130% or greate 25(%

Based on the pre-established scale set forth almoveash incentive award will be paid to MessrslePgen and Dunn unless our
actual performance for 2013 was at or above 90%eperformance target(s). If our actual perforneamwas 100% of target, then Messrs.
Pedersen and Dunn will be entitled to their respedionus potential target amounts. If performamnas 110% of target, then they will be
eligible for a cash incentive award equal to 20G%heir respective bonus potential target amounfserformance was 130% or more of target
then they will be eligible for a maximum cash intte@ equal to 250% of their respective bonus paaétdrget amounts. For performance
percentages between these levels, the resultingvarhent factor will be adjusted on a linear babie performance target for 2013 for Mes
Pedersen and Dunn was Adjusted EBITDA (as that temefined elsewhere in this annual report on Fb@aiK under the heading
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Finan€iahdition and Results of Operations—Liquidity arapifal Resources—Covenant
Compliance”) of $300,000,000. We have not yet dated our actual performance for 2013. We expedbtso, and to determine the cash
incentive awards to be paid to Messrs. Pederseiand, in March, 2014.

Long-Term Incentive Compensation
Fiscal 2013 Grants

On August 12, 2013, Parent, an entity controllednigstment funds or vehicles affiliated with Blatdne, granted Messrs. Eyring
and Santiago long-term equity incentive awardsgiesi to promote our interest by providing theseetiees with the opportunity to acquire
equity interests as an incentive for their remajrimour service and aligning the executives’ iasts with those of the Company’s ultimate
equity holders. The long-term equity incentive adgagranted to Messrs. Eyring and Santiago aregificitm of Class B Units in Parent.

The Class B Units are profits interests having eaaio characteristics similar to stock appreciatigihts and represent the right to
share in any increase in the equity value of Pafdrarefore, the Class B Units only have valuéntodxtent there is an appreciation in the v
of our business from and after the applicable dagrant. In addition, the vesting of two-thirdstbé Class B Units is subject to Blackstone
achieving minimum internal rates of return on itg@stment in Class A Units, as described furthéelnvestment funds affiliated with
Blackstone and other co-investors hold Class AdJoiitParent.

The Class B Units granted to our named executifiees$ are designed to motivate them to focus €ortsfthat will increase the
value of our equity while enhancing their retentidhe specific sizes of the equity grants made wletermined in light of Blackstone’s
practices with respect to management equity progranother private companies in its portfolio amel €xecutive office s position and level ¢



responsibility with us.

The Class B Units are divided into a time-vestiogtipn (one-third of the Class B Units granted®.@x exit-vesting portion (one-
third of the Class B Units granted), and a 3.0x-e&sting portion (one-third of the Class B Unitaugted). Unvested Class B units are not
entitled to distributions from the Company. For iéiddal information regarding our Class B Unitsesdlarrative Disclosure to Summary
Compensation Table and Grants of Plan-Based Awakatgtty Awards.”

Fiscal 2014 Grants

In connection with the Company'’s offer of employmenMr. Davies, Parent agreed to grant Mr. Davigg?5,000 Class B Units
with the same vesting terms as the Class B Unétatgd to Messrs. Eyring and Santiago in fiscal 28d8escribed above. The Class B Units
granted to Mr. Davies are similar to the other €BdJnits, but contain the following different econic terms than the Class B Units granted
to our other named executive officers: Mr. Davig3lass B Units will not entitle him to receive agigtributions in respect of such units unless
and until the cumulative value of such foregondritlistions attributable to each Class B Unit equlaésfair market value of a Class B Unit on
the date of the grant of such Class B Unit (sucagone amount, the “Delayed Amount Per Class B"WJrit that
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point, Mr. Davies (together with the other holdef<lass B Units subject to similar foregone dimitions) will become entitled to receive pro
rata distributions of all subsequent amounts (goetkclusion of other holders who do not have simtights) until he has received distributions
per Class B Unit equal to the Delayed Amount Pas€B Unit. Thereafter, Mr. Davies will become i to receive the same amounts with
respect to his Class B Units as other holders a$€£B Units receive with respect to their Classritd) Parent approved the grant of these (
B Units to Mr. Davies on January 24, 2014.

Benefits and Perquisites

We provide to all of our employees, including oamed executive officers, employee benefits thatrdemded to attract and retain
employees while providing them with retirement &ealth and welfare security. Broad-based emplogeetits include:

. a 401(k) savings plai
. paid vacation, sick leave and holida
. medical, dental, vision and life insurance coveramgel

. employee assistance program bene

We do not match employee contributions to the 4044kings plan. At no cost to the employee, we igieman amount of basic life
insurance valued at $50,000.

We also provide our named executive officers witecified perquisites and personal benefits thahateyenerally available to all
employees, such as personal use of our Compamsdeasraft, use of a company vehicle, househaldaes, financial advisory services,
reimbursement for health insurance premiums, erdthamployee cafeteria benefits, relocation assistand, in certain circumstances,
reimbursement for personal travel. Each of Med$3eslersen and Dunn has also been provided withrarabfringe benefit allowance of
$300,000 under the terms of their new employmereeagents. We also reimburse our named executiieedfffor taxes incurred in
connection with certain of these perquisites. Ilditoh, on January 1, 2013, we entered into tsharing agreements with Messrs. Pedersel
Dunn, governing their personal use of the Compaagdd aircraft. Messrs. Pedersen and Dunn payfsompal flights an amount equal to the
aggregate variable cost to the Company for sughtfli up to the maximum authorized by Federal AmaRegulations. The aggregate variable
cost for this purpose includes fuel costs, outesfst hangar costs, landing fees, airport taxes aes, fcustoms fees, travel expenses of the cre
any “deadhead” segments of flights to repositiorporate aircraft and other related rental feesddition, family members of our named
executive officers have, in limited circumstana@s;ompanied the named executive officers on busimagel on the Company leased aircraft
for which we incurred de minimis incremental costs.

We provide these perquisites and personal benefisder to further our goal of attracting and igtag our executive officers.
These benefits and perquisites are reflected itAh&®ther Compensation” column of the “Summary@pensation Table” and the
accompanying footnote in accordance with the SEH€sru

Severance Arrangements

Our Board of Directors believes that providing senee benefits to some of our named executiveefics critical to our longerm
success, because severance benefits act as goretmtice that helps secure an executive’s coatremployment and dedication to the
Company. Of the named executive officers, only Med8edersen and Dunn have severance arrangeueatso other current executive
officer has a severance arrangement.

Under the terms of their severance arrangemenishveiie included in their employment agreementsssvie Pedersen and Dunn
are eligible to receive severance benefits if thaiployment is terminated for any reason other tldnntary resignation or willful miscondut
The severance payments are contingent upon thetedfexecutive’s execution of a release and waifefaims, which contains non-compete,
non-solicitation and confidentiality provisions.eS#otential Payments Upon Termination or Changeédntrol” for descriptions of these
arrangements.

Summary Compensation Table

The following table provides summary informatiomcerning compensation paid or accrued by us todretalf of our named
executive officers for services rendered to usrp#i013 and 2012. Messrs. Davies, Eyring and Sgmtieere not named executive officers in
2012; therefore, in accordance with the SEC’s dmale rules, information regarding compensatioritferyears that those individuals were no
named executive officers is not included in thdedizlow.



Change in Pensio

Non-Equity Value and
Incentive Plan Nonqualified
Option Deferred All Other
Stock Awards Compensatior Compensation  Compensatior
Name and Principa Salary Bonus Awards Earnings Total
_FI’_OS;SH;D . Year $)(1) ®)2) ®B) %) @ (©])] ($)(6) ®@
O eaersen, .
Chief Executive Officer 201 500,00( — — — — 625,27¢ 1,125,271
and Directol 201z 377,69: 220,500 7,824,82. — 335,19¢ — 1,886,69° 10,644,91
Mark Davies,
Chief Financial Office 201: 79,45 389,04: — — — — — 468,49:
Alex Dunn, 201 500,00( — — — — 573,377 1,073,37
President and Directt 201z 305,00 9,813,24: 7,824,82 — 19,41 — 163,54 18,126,03
Matt Eyring,
Chief Strategy and
Innovation Officet 201 402,19. 250,00 1,182,16 — — — 43,43¢ 1,877,79:
Todd Santiago,
Chief Sales Office 201F 393,34¢ 1,750,000 1,182,16 — — — 59,44:  3,384,95
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(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)
(6)

(7)

On November 16, 2012, Messrs. Pedersen and Batened into new employment agreements with Paféet financial terms of the new
employment agreements included an increase indzdaspy from $367,500 to $500,000 for Mr. Pedersehfeom $288,750 to $500,000
for Mr. Dunn, effective November 16, 2012. EffeetiFebruary 18, 2013, the base salary of Mr. Samtieas increased from $228,000 to
$300,000. In addition, effective June 30, 2013 ,lthse salary of each of Messrs. Eyring and Santiegoincreased from $300,000 to
$500,000. Mr. Davies'’s salary in the table abowlects that portion of his annual base salary ehindiscal 2013 from his initial
employment date of November 4, 2013 through Dece®be2013

Amounts reported in this column for 2013 reflde named executive officer's annual discretigrimnus earned with respect to fiscal
2013. In addition to his annual discretionary bgorihie amount reported for Mr. Santiago includesdiseretionary bonus of $1,500,000
he received for his contributions in 2013 in cortimecwith the 2GIG Sale. In addition to his anndecretionary bonus, the amount
reported for Mr. Davies includes the sign-on boou$350,000 he received in connection with the c@meement of his employment
with us. Se¢Compensation Discussion and Anal—Compensation Elemer—Bonuse¢”

Amounts included in this column reflect the eggate grant date fair value of the Class B Uniétpd during each of the years presente
calculated in accordance with Financial Accountdtgndards Board Accounting Standards Codificatiopid 718, Compensation-Stock
Compensation (“FASB ASC Topic 718") and using tesuanptions described in footnote 13 to our auditatsolidated financial
statements included in this annual report on FOBRK1The terms of these units are summarized uf@empensation Discussion and
Analysis—Compensation Elements—Long-Term IncenBeenpensation” above and under “Narrative Disclosar8ummary
Compensation Table and Grants of Plan-Based Awgallile—Equity Awards” and “Potential Payments Upatrifination or Change in
Contro” below.

Annual cash incentive awards for Messrs. PedensdiDann are expected to be determined in March4Z

We have no pension benefits, nonqualified defir@dribution or other nonqualified deferred compeéiasaplans for executive officer
Amounts reported under All Other Compensation igedl 2013 reflect the following

(a) as to Mr. Pedersen, $263,000 additional castpeasation paid to Mr. Pedersen pursuant to hidayment agreement (see
“Narrative Disclosure to Summary Compensation Talolé Grants of Plan Based Awards—Employment Agresie
reimbursement for health insurance premiums, cguwitib membership fees, $68,722 in actual Compapgrditures for
use, including business use, of a Company car,,$025n actual Company expenditures for financiblisory services
provided to Mr. Pedersen, other miscellaneous petdmenefits and $97,443 reimbursed for taxes wiipect to perquisites.
In addition, Mr. Pedersen reimburses the Companthiaggregate variable costs associated withdrsonal use of the
Company leased aircraft in accordance with the-simering agreement described under “CompensatiscuBsion and
Analysis—Compensation Elements—Benefits and Peitgais While maintenance costs are not includethé
reimbursement amount under the time-sharing agreeitiie Company has determined it is appropriatdlé@ate a portion
of the maintenance costs when calculating the agdedancremental cost associated with personabiigee Company
aircraft for purposes of SEC disclosure. Therefamounts reported also reflect $48,955 in mainteaaosts allocated on
the basis of the proportion of personal use. Intemid family members of Mr. Pedersen have, in tedicircumstances,
accompanied him on business travel on the Compaaset aircraft for which we incurred de minimis@mental costs

(b) asto Mr. Dunn $262,500 additional cash compensation paid to MinrDpursuant to his employment agreement (see
“Narrative Disclosure to Summary Compensation Talolé Grants of Plan Based Awards—Employment Agreésiie
reimbursement for health insurance premiums, theevaf meals in the Company cafeteria, country chdmbership fees,
$55,027 in actual Company expenditures for usdydiieg business use, of a Company car, $125,0@@tural Company
expenditures for financial advisory services preddo Mr. Dunn, other miscellaneous personal b&enafid $90,690
reimbursed for taxes with respect to perquisitesddition, Mr. Dunn reimburses the Company forabgregate variable
costs associated with his personal use of the Coynleased aircraft in accordance with the timedisigaagreement
described under “Compensation Discussion and Aissly§€ompensation Elements—Benefits and Perquisifesdiscusse
in footnote 6(a) above, amounts reported reflestralar allocation of maintenance costs associatigtd Mr. Dunn’s
personal use of the Company leased aircraft. litiaddfamily members of Mr. Dunn have, in limitedcumstances,
accompanied him on business travel on the Compaaset aircraft for which we incurred de minimisé@mental costs

(c) as to Mr. Eyring, actual Company expenditumause, including business use, of a Company lsaryalue of meals in the
Company cafeteria, country club membership fedgraniscellaneous personal benefits and $10,64dbresed for taxes
owed with respect to perquisite

(d) asto Mr. Santiago, actual Company expenditioesse, including business use, of a Companytbaryalue of meals in the
Company cafeteria, country club membership fedgraniscellaneous personal benefits and $21,7@1bresed for taxes
owed with respect to perquisites. In addition, fgmmembers of Mr. Santiago have, in limited circtamees, accompanied
him on business travel on the Company leased &iforawhich we incurred de minimis incremental t0

Total amounts reported for Messrs. PederserDamah do not include their fiscal 2013 annual daslentive awards, which are expected
to be determined in March, 201
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Grants of Plan-Based Awards in 2013

The following table provides supplemental inforroatirelating to grants of plan-based awards madeitmamed executive officers
during 2013.

Estimated Future Payouts Estimated Future Payouts All Other
Under Non-Equit))// Under Equity / Stock Awards: Fiirf‘\r};ﬁgtgf
Incentive Plan Awards Incentive Plan Awards(1) Number of
Shares of Stock and
Threshold Threshold Maximum  Stock or Units Option
Grant Target Maximum Target Awards
Name Date (6] (6] $) (#) #) (#) #H(1) $)2)
Todd Pedersen — 250,00 500,00 1,250,001 — — — — —
Mark Davies — — — — — — — — —
Alex Dunn — 250,000 500,00 1,250,00 — — — — —
Matt Eyring 7/12/201. — — — — 2,883,333 — 1,441,66 1,182,16
Todd Santiagt 7/12/201. — — — —  2,883,33 — 1,441,66 1,182,16

(1) As described in more detail in the “Narratives&dosure to Summary Compensation Table and GodrRéan-Based Awards—Equity
Awards” section that follows, amounts reportedeefigrants of Class B Units that are divided ihte¢ tranches for vesting purposes:
one third are time-vesting, one-third are 2.0x-ggsting and one-third are 3.0x exit-vesting. Altlee exitvesting units are reported as
equity incentive plan award in the “Estimated FatBayouts Under Equity Incentive Plan Awards” calumhile the time-vesting
tranche of the awards are reported as an all stbek award in the “All Other Stock Awards: NumioéiShares of Stock or Units”
column.

(2) Represents the grant date fair value of the<BaUnits calculated in accordance with FASB AS)pit 718,Compensation—Stock
Compensatiomand utilizing the assumptions discussed in footd@t¢o our audited consolidated financial statemertluded in this
annual report on Form -K.

Narrative Disclosure to Summary Compensation Tabland Grants of Plan-Based Awards
Employment Agreement

The employment agreements with our Chief Execulifficer (CEO), Todd Pedersen, and our Presidergx Alunn, contain
substantially similar terms. The principal termsath of these agreements are summarized beloeptaxith respect to potential payments
and other benefits upon specified terminationsctviaire summarized below under “Potential Paymeptsermination or Change in
Control.”

Each employment agreement was entered into on Nloeef6, 2012, provides for a term ending on Novemibe 2017 and exten
automatically for additional one-year periods uslegher Parent or the executive elects not tonextiee term. Under the employment
agreements, each executive is eligible to receivénamum base salary, specified below, and an drbaraus based on the achievement of
specified financial goals for fiscal years 2013 aegiond. If these goals are achieved, the execuatasereceive an annual incentive cash bonu
equal to a percentage of his base salary as pbbielew.

Mr. Pedersen’s employment agreement provides #had to serve as CEO and is eligible to receivaselsalary of $500,000,
subject to periodic adjustments as may be apprbyesir Board of Directors. Mr. Pedersen is alsgikele to receive a target bonus of 100% o
his annual base salary at the end of the fiscalif¢a@rgets established by the Board of Directmes achieved.

Mr. Dunn’s employment agreement provides that He serve as President and is eligible to receivasa salary of $500,000,
subject to periodic adjustments as may be apprbyesir Board of Directors. Mr. Dunn is also eligilib receive a target bonus of 100% of hi
annual base salary at the end of the fiscal ydargkets established by the Board of Directorsaatgéeved.

The employment agreements contain the method ferrdéing Mr. Pedersen’s and Mr. Dunn’s bonus foy given year. The
agreements provide that the calculation of any bamill be determined based on the achievementdbpeance objectives, with targets for
“threshold,” “target,” and “high” achievement ofetlspecified objectives as further described un@anipensation Discussion and Analysis—
Compensation Elements—Bonuses.”

In addition, each employment agreement providesh@ifollowing:

. An annual payment equal to $300,000 per yednjest to all applicable taxes and withholding$eimded to be used for
certain personal benefits, with the executive atito any remaining amour

. Reasonable personal use of the company airpdaigect to reimbursement by the executive ofranunt determined on a
basis consistent with IRS guidelines; ¢

. Access to a financial advisor to provide the exigeutvith customary financial advice, subject tooanbined aggregate cap
$250,000 on such professional fees for Messrs.rBedend Dunr



Each executive officer is also entitled to partitgin all employee benefit plans, programs angngements made available to
other executive officers generally.

Each of the employment agreements also contaitrctes&e covenants, including an indefinite covehan confidentiality of
information, and covenants related to non-competiind non-solicitation of our employees and custsnand affiliates at all times during
employment, and for two years after any terminatibeamployment. These covenants are substantteisame as the covenants Mr. Pedersel
and Mr. Dunn agreed to in connection with theiriptof Class B Units summarized below under “NiveaDisclosure to Summary
Compensation Table and Grants of Plan-Based AwaEitp4#ty Awards—Restrictive Covenants.”

Equity Awards

As a condition to receiving his Class B Units, eaamed executive officer was required to enter énsobscription agreement with
us and Parent and to become a party to the lintigbdity company agreement of Parent as well as@urityholders agreement. These
agreements generally govern the named executiieeof rights with respect to the Class B units aadtain certain rights and obligations of
the parties thereto with respect to vesting, goaecr, distributions, indemnification, voting, triarsrestrictions and rights, including put and
call rights, tag-along rights, drag-along righegistration rights and rights of first refusal, aradtain other matters.
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Vesting Terms

Only vested Class B units are entitled to distiiing. The Class B units are divided into a timetimgsportion (1/3 of the Class B
Units granted), a 2.0x exit-vesting portion (1/3lud Class B Units granted), and a 3.0x exit-vggtiartion (1/3 of the Class B Units granted).

Time-Vesting Units 12 months after the initial “vesting referenceéedaas defined in the applicable subscription egrent,
20% of the named executive officer’'s time-vestimgdoyee Units will vest, subject to continued enyphent through such
date. The “vesting reference dafet Messrs. Pedersen and Dunn is November 16, 2b&2jate of the grant of their Clas
Units. The “vesting reference” date for the Clasgrits granted to Messrs. Eyring and Santiago ogusti12, 2013 is also
November 16, 2012 and tvesting reference date” for the Class B Units ¢gdrto Mr. Davies is November 4, 2013, which
is the date he commenced employment with us. Tfterean additional 20% of the named executiveceffis time-vesting
Class B Units will vest every year until he is fullested, subject to his continued employment thinoeach vesting date.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the ti-vesting Class B Units will become fully vested ngochange of control (as defined
in the securityholders agreement) that occurs wthienamed executive officer is still employed Isy lm addition, as to
Messrs. Pedersen and Dunn, the time-vesting Cld$sit8 will also continue to vest for one year éoling a termination by
Parent without “cause” (excluding by reason of Heatdisability) or resignation by the executive fgood reason,” each as
defined in the executi's employment agreement (any such terminatic qualifying terminatio™).

2.0x Exit-Vesting UnitsThe 2.0x exit-vesting Class B Units vest if ttamed executive officer is employed by us when ant
if Blackstone receives cash proceeds in respets @flass A units in the Company equal to (x) ameequal to 2.0x
Blackstone’s cumulative invested capital in respéthe Class A Units and (y) an annual interngd & return of at least
20% on Blackstone’s cumulative invested capitakspect of its Class A Units. In addition, as toskts. Pedersen and
Dunn, the 2.0x exit-vesting Class B Units will ramaligible to vest for one year following a quglifg termination if a
change of control occurs during such one-year gdaaial, as a result of such change of control, e &xit-vesting
conditions are me

3.0 Exit-Vesting Units The 3.0x exitvesting Class B Units vest if the named executifiear is employed by us when anc
Blackstone receives cash proceeds in respect 6faiss A units in the Company equal to (x) a reequal to 3.0x
Blackstone’s cumulative invested capital in respdthe Class A Units and (y) an annual interntd &f return of at least
25% on Blackstone’s cumulative invested capitakspect of its Class A Units. In addition, as tossts. Pedersen and
Dunn, the 3.0x exit-vesting Class B Units will remaligible to vest for one year following a qugliig termination if a
change of control occurs during such one-year gdeaial, as a result of such change of control, e &xit-vesting
conditions are me

Other than as described above with respect to MeRsdersen and Dunn, any Class B Units that hatveested as of the date of
termination of a named executive officer's emplopmeill be immediately forfeited.

Put Rights

Prior to an initial public offering, if an execuéwfficer's employment is terminated due to death or diggbduch executive has t
right, subject to specified limitations and forpesified period following the termination date cause the Company to purchase on one
occasion all, but not less than all, of such exeeid vested Class B Units, in either case, afditemarket value of such units.

Call Rights Regarding Messrs. Pedersen’s and Du@tess B Units

If Messrs. Pedersen or Dunn is terminated for aagaon, or in the event of a restrictive covenawiftion, the Company has the
right, for a specified period following the termiima of such executive’s employment, to purchasefauch executive’s vested Class B units

as follows:
Triggering Event Call Price Put Price
Death or Disability fair market value fair market valu
Termination With Cause or Voluntary Resignation Wi@rounds Exist for Cause lesser of (a) fair market N/A

value and (b) cos
Termination Without Cause or Resignation For Goedd$or fair market value N/A
Voluntary Resignation Without Good Reason Priolavember 16, 2014 lesser of (a) fair market N/A

value and (b) cos
Voluntary Resignation on or After November 16, 2! fair market value N/A
Restrictive Covenant Violation lesser of (a) fair market N/A

value and (b) cos
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Call Rights Regarding Other Executive Officers’ &d& Units

With respect to our other executive officers, & ixecutive officer is terminated for any reasarthie event of a restrictive coven
violation or if the executive engages in any coridiat would be a violation of a restrictive covahaet forth in the executive’s management
unit subscription agreement but for the fact that¢onduct occurred outside the relevant periaalg $ach conduct a “Competitive Activity”),
then the Company has the right, for a specifieibpgebllowing the termination of such executivemmgloyment, to purchase all of such

executive’s vested Class B units as follows:
Triggering Event
Death or Disability

Termination With Cause or Voluntary Resignation Wi@rounds Exist for
Cause

Termination Without Caus

Voluntary Resignation Prior to November 16, 2014 jfd_ater, the Second
Anniversary of Date of Hir

Voluntary Resignation on or After November 16, 2044 if Later, the
Second Anniversary of Date of Hi

Restrictive Covenant Violatio

Competitive Activity Not Constituting a Restrictié@ovenant Violatior

Restrictive Covenants

Call Price Put Price

fair market value fair market valu
lesser of (a) fair market value and (b) cost N/A

fair market value N/A
lesser of (a) fair market value and (b) cost N/A

fair market value N/A
lesser of (a) fair market value and (b) ¢ N/A

fair market value N/A

In addition, as a condition of receiving their @riit Parent, our executive officers have agreexpézified restrictive covenants,
including an indefinite covenant on confidentialitiyinformation, and covenants related to non-diagament, non-competition and non-
solicitation of our employees and customers anitiaaéfs at all times during the named executivéceffs employment, and for specified
periods after any termination of employment ada in the subscription agreement (two yearsMesssrs. Pedersen and Dunn and one-yeat
non-compete and non-solicit periods and a three4yea-disparagement period for each of our othecetive officers).

Additional terms regarding the equity awards amamarized above under “Compensation Discussion aralysis—Compensation
Elements—Long-Term Equity Compensation” and undraténtial Payments Upon Termination or Change int@d' below.

Outstanding Equity Awards at 2013 Fiscal Year-End

The following table provides information regardiogtstanding equity awards for our named executffieess as of December 31,
2013. The equity awards held by the named execauoffieers are Class B Units, which represent antgduoterest in Parent.

Equity Awards
Equity Incentive Equity Incentive
Plan Awards:
Plan Awards: Market or
Number of Payout Value of
Unearned Unearned Shares
Shares,
Number of Shares Market Value of Units or Other Units or Other
or Units That Have Shares or Units Tha Rights That Rights That Have
Have Not
Not Vested Have Not Vested Vested Not Vested
Name Grant Date (#)(1) ($)(2) (#)(3) ($)(2)
Todd Pedersen 11/16/201; 6,197,88I — 15,494,69 —
Mark Davies — — — — —
Alex Dunn 11/16/201; 6,197,88I — 15,494,69 —
Matt Eyring 7/12/201: 1,153,33. — 2,883,33. —
Todd Santiag: 7/12/201: 1,153,33. — 2,883,33: -

(1) Reflects the number of time-vesting Class Bt&Jof Parent, which vest 20% over a five year gkdn each anniversary of the
November 16, 2012 vesting reference date, suljetiet executiv's continued employment on such date. Additionahteof these time-
vesting units are summarized under “Compensatigel3ision and Analysis—Compensation Elements—Lonmgy Equity
Compensation,” “Narrative Disclosure to Summary @ensation Table and Grants of Plan Based Awarde¥abquity Awards” and

“Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change inti@b”

Vesting of the time-vesting Class B Units will becalerated upon a change of control that occurtewihé executive is still employed by
us and, as to Messrs. Pedersen and Dunn, wilkcalstinue to vest for one year following a qualifyitermination, each as described
under“Narrative Disclosure to Summary Compensation TabtGrants of PlBased Awarc—Equity Awards”



(2)
(3)

Because there was no public market for thesBablnits of Parent as of December 31, 2013, the&keb@alue of such units was not

determinable as of such da

Reflects exit-vesting Class B Units (of whiafeshalf are 2.0x exit-vesting and one-half are &ixvesting). Unvested exitesting Clas

B units vest as described under the “Narrative IDae to Summary Compensation Table and Grar®$ami-Based Awards—Equity
Awards” section above. As to Messrs. Pedersen amh[the 2.0x and 3.0x exit-vesting Class B Unitsnemain eligible to vest for one
year following a qualifying termination if a changkcontrol occurs during such c-year period and, as a result of such change ofai¢
the respective exit-vesting conditions are metheacdescribed under “Narrative Disclosure to Sumgr@ampensation Table and Grants

of Plar-Based Award—Equity Awards”
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Option Exercises and Stock Vested in 2013
The following table provides information regarditmg equity held by our named executive officers Wested during 2013.

Option Awards Equity Awards
Number of Share:

Number of Shares

or Units Acquired on Value Realized ol or Units Acquired Value Realized ol
Exercise Exercise on Vesting Vesting

Name (#) %) (#) %)

Todd Pedersen — — 1,549,47 Q)
Mark Davies — — — (1)
Alex Dunn — — 1,549,47 (1)
Matt Eyring — — 288,33: (1)
Todd Santiagt — — 288,33: (2)

(1) Because there was no public market for the<dBabnits of Parent as of December 31, 2013, th&k@ebaalue of such units on the vesting
date was not determinab

Pension Benefits

We have no pension benefits for our executive effic

Nonqualified Deferred Compensation for 2013
We have no nonqualified defined contribution oresthonqualified deferred compensation plans forexacutive officers.

Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change in Cotrol

The following section describes the potential pagthe@nd benefits that would have been payable tmamed executive officers
under existing plans and contractual arrangemestsnaing (1) a termination of employment and/ora2hange of control occurred, in each
case, on December 31, 2013, the last businessfdsgal 2013. The amounts shown in the table domdude payments and benefits to the
extent they are provided generally to all salagatgployees upon termination of employment and dalisatriminate in scope, terms or
operation in favor of the named executive officditsese include distributions of plan balances under401(k) savings plan and similar items.

Messrs. Pedersen and Dunn

Pursuant to their respective employment agreemigéiis, Pedersen’s or Mr. Dunn’s employment term@safor any reason, the
executive is entitled to receive: (i) any baseryad@&crued through the date of termination; (iiy amnual bonus earned, but unpaid, as of the
date of termination; (iii) reimbursement of any eimbursed business expenses properly incurredebgxcutive; and (iv) such employee
benefits, if any, as to which the executive maghbttled under our employee benefit plans (the paynand benefits described in (i) through
(iv) being “accrued rights”).
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If Mr. Pedersen’s or Mr. Dunn’s employment is tematied by us without “cause” (as defined below) éotihan by reason of death
or while he is disabled) or if either executiveigas with “good reason” (as defined below) (anyhstermination, a “qualifying termination”),
such executive is entitled to the accrued rights aonditioned upon execution and non-revocatioa flease of claims in favor of us and our
affiliates, and continued compliance with the nempete, non-solicitation, non-disparagement, amdidentiality provisions set forth in the
employment agreements and described above underdtiVe Disclosure to Summary Compensation Tabte@rants of Plan-Based Awards”

. a pro rata portion of his target annual boraseld upon the portion of the fiscal year duringclvtihe executive was
employed (th¢“pro rata bont”);

. a lump-sum cash payment equal to 200% of teewtive’s then-current base salary plus 200% ofttieal bonus the
executive received in respect of the immediategcpding fiscal year (or, if a termination of emptmnt occurs prior to any
annual bonus becoming payable under his employagmeement, the target bonus for the immediatelggatiag fiscal
year); anc

. a lump-sum cash payment equal to the costeohéalth and welfare benefits for the executiveldadiependents, at the
levels at which the executive received benefitthendate of termination, for two years (“COBRA paymer”).

Under the employment agreements for Messrs. PaedarseDunn, “cause” means the executive’s contifaibale to substantially
perform his employment duties for a period of t&@)(days; any dishonesty in the performance obieeutive’s employment duties that is
materially injurious to us; act(s) on the execusvgart constituting either a felony or a misdenwanvolving moral turpitude; the executive’s
willful malfeasance or misconduct in connectionhwhiis employment duties that causes substantiatyinp us; or the executive’'s material
breach of any covenants set forth in the employragréements, including the restrictive covenant$osth therein. A termination for “good
reason” is deemed to occur upon specified evemtijding: a material reduction in the executiveés® salary; a material reduction in the
executive’s authority or responsibilities; spedifielocation events; or our breach of any of thavisions of the employment agreements. Eacl
of the foregoing events is subject to specifiedagoand cure periods.

In the event of the executivetermination of employment due to death or disgbihe will only be entitled to the accrued rightise
pro rata bonus payment, and the COBRA payment.

The following table lists the payments and benéfitg would have been triggered for Messrs. Pedeasd Dunn under the
circumstances described below assuming that thicaple triggering event occurred on December 31,32

Continuation Accrued Value of
But Unusec Acceleratec
Cash Prorated of Health

Severance Bonus Benefits Vacation Equity Total
Name ®AO) ®@ ®A) ®@ ®)®) )
Todd Pederser
Termination Without Cause or for Good Rea 1,441,000  500,00( 33,69¢ 47,34¢ — 2,022,04.
Change of Contrc — — — — — —
Death or Disability — 500,00 33,69¢ 47,34¢ — 581,04
Alex Dunn
Termination Without Cause or for Good Rea 1,346,50! 500,00( 33,69t 45,50: — 1,925,69
Change of Contrc — — — — — —
Death or Disability — 500,00( 33,69¢ 45,50: — 579,19°

(1) Cash severance reflects a lump sum cash payegeat to the sum of (x) 200% of the executvease salary of $500,000 and (y) 200¢
the executive’s respective actual bonus for theqamg year. For fiscal 2012, Mr. Pedersen recearednnual bonus of $220,500 and
Mr. Dunn received an annual bonus of $173,:

(2) Reflects the executi’s target bonus of for the twelve complete monthsnoployment for the 2013 fiscal ye

(3) Reflects the cost of providing the executiviicef with continued health and welfare benefitstfte executive and his dependents under
COBRA for two years and assuming 2014 ra

(4) Amounts reported in this column reflect thddaling number of accrued but unused vacation dslysPedersen, 25 days and Mr. Dunn,
18 days

(5) Upon a change of control each of Messrs. Ped&rsind Dunn’s unvested time-vesting Class B Umdsld become immediately vested.
However, because there was no public market foCthss B Units as of December 31, 2013, the masidele of such Class B Units was
not determinable. In addition, the unvested 2.0k 200x exit-vesting Class B Units would vest uparhange of control if the applicable
exit-vesting hurdles were met. Amounts reported asshatelie ex-vesting Class B Units do not vest upon a changmofrol.
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Messrs. Davies, Eyring and Santiago

If Messrs. Davies, Eyring and Santiago had terreh@mployment as of December 31, 2013 for any redkey would have only
been entitled to receive their respective accryedriused vacation as follows: Mr. Davies, $3,702faccrued but unused vacation days,
Mr. Eyring, $22,875 for 12 accrued but unused viaoadays and Mr. Santiago, $35,077 for 24 accrugdibused vacation days.

Upon a change of control all of Messrs. Eyring’dl &antiago’s unvested time-vesting Class B Unitaldidbecome immediately
vested. However, because there was no public minkéie Class B Units as of December 31, 2013heket value of such Class B Units
was not determinable. In addition, the unvested ar@dl 3.0x exit-vesting Class B Units would vesbupa change of control if the applicable
exit-vesting hurdles were met. We have assumedtikatxit-vesting Class B Units do not vest upahange of control.

In addition, as described above under “Narrativecldisure to Summary Compensation Table and Grémkan-Based Awards—
Equity Awards—Restrictive Covenants,” as a conditid receiving their units in Parent, Messrs. Egramd Santiago agreed to specified
restrictive covenants for specified periods updermination of employment, including an indefinitvenant on confidentiality of information,
and one-year non-competition and non-solicitatiomenants and a three-year non-disparagement cavenan

Director Compensation

The members of our Board of Directors other thami®®’Alessandro, who was elected to the Board o&Etors in fiscal 2013,
received no additional compensation for servingh@nBoard of Directors or our Audit Committee dgri2013.

In connection with Mr. D’Alessandro’s election, tBempany entered into a letter agreement settirt fbe compensation terms
related to his service on the Board of DirectorgsBant to the letter agreement, the Company waifl gn annual retainer of $150,000 per year,
and Mr. D’Alessandro will not be eligible for angitus amounts or be eligible to participate in afthe Company’s employee benefit plans.

In addition, an affiliate of Mr. DAlessandro was granted 500,000 Class B Units, wdiietsimilar to the Class B Units granted tc
named executive officers. The Class B Units ar@diy into a time-vesting portion (one-third of likass B Units granted), a 2.0x exit-vesting
portion (one-third of the Class B Units grantediid @ 3.0x exit-vesting portion (one-third of the&3 B Units granted). The vesting terms of
these units are substantially similar to the CR&snits granted in 2013 and are described underratize to Summary Compensation Table
and Grants of Plan-Based Awards—Equity Awards” gmed‘vesting reference date” is July 18, 2013. Hesveif Mr. D’Alessandro ceases to
serve on the Board of Directors, all unvested tirasting Class B Units will be forfeited, and a etage of the exit-vesting Class B Units will
be forfeited with such percentage equal to (i) 1q0%r to July 31, 2014, (ii) 80% prior to July 32015, (iii) 60% prior to July 31, 2016,

(iv) 40% prior to July 31, 2017, (v) 20% prior toly) 31, 2018 and (vi) 0% on or after July 31, 2018.

The following table provides information on the qmensation of our non-management directors in fi204B.

Change in
Pension
Value and
Non-Equity Nonqualified
Incentive Plan Deferred
Fees Earne: Option Compensatior All Other
Stock Awards Compensatior Compensatior
or Paid in Awards Earnings Total
Name Cash ($)(1) ($) ($) ($) $ $
David F. D’Alessandro $ 75,00( $136,66° $ — $ — $ — $ — $211,66

Bruce McEvoy(2) — — — — — — —
Joseph Trustey(Z — — — — — — _
Peter Wallace(2 — — — — — — _

(1) Represents the grant date fair value of the ClaldsiB calculated in accordance with FASB ASC Tofl& and utilizing the assumptic
discussed in footnote 13 to our audited consoldifiteancial statements included in this annual repo Form 10-K. As of December 31,
2013, Mr. D’Alessandro held 166,667 unvested timsting Class B Units and 333,333 unvested ClassiB Jubject to exit-vesting
criteria.

(2) Employees of Blackstone and Summit Partners doauaive any compensation from us for their servaresur Board of Director:

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Paitiation

In March 2014 our Board of Directors formed a congation committee that will be responsible for makall executive
compensation determinations. In 2013, howeverBtterd did not have a compensation committee. Atisiens about our executive
compensation in fiscal 2013 were made by the BddrdPedersen, who is a member of the Board andChiaf Executive Officer, and
Mr. Dunn, who is a member of the Board and our iBezd, generally participate in discussions andbdeations of the Board regarding
executive compensation. Other than Messrs. PedarskDunn, no other members of the Board wereyatiane during fiscal 2013, or at any
other time, one of our officers or employees. Werties to certain transactions with our Spodsscribed in “Certain Relationships and
Related Party Transactio” None of our executive officers has served as auiror member of a compensation committee (orrc



committee serving an equivalent function) of angitgnone of whose executive officers served onBoard.
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ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED

STOCKHOLDER MATTERS
Acquisition LLC owns 100% of the issued and outdiag shares of common stock of APX Parent Holdro,, lwhich, in turn,

owns 100% of the issued and outstanding sharesmfon stock of Parent Guarantor, which, in turn ®4@0% of the issued and outstanding
shares of common stock of the Issuer.

The following table sets forth certain informatias of March 17, 2014 with respect to Class A linhliability company interests in

Acquisition LLC (“Class A Units”) beneficially ownieby (i) each person known by us to be the berafisivner of more than 5% of the
outstanding Class A Units, (ii) each of our direstdiii) each of our named executive officers &njl all of our directors and executive officers
as a group.

The amounts and percentages of shares of Classta lémeficially owned are reported on the basiSBE regulations governing

the determination of beneficial ownership of seiesi Under SEC rules, a person is deemed to bereficial owner” of a security if that
person has or shares voting power or investmenepomhich includes the power to dispose of or tedtithe disposition of such security. A
person is also deemed to be a beneficial ownenytacurities of which that person has a rightciguire beneficial ownership within 60 days.
Securities that can be so acquired are deemeddatbtanding for purposes of computing such pessownership percentage, but not for
purposes of computing any other person’s percentaigger these rules, more than one person maydreeatbto be a beneficial owner of the
same securities and a person may be deemed tbdresficial owner of securities as to which suctsperas no economic interest.

Except as indicated in the footnotes to the taddeh of the unitholders listed below has sole go#ind investment power with

respect to Class A Units owned by such unitholdatess otherwise noted, the address of each bélefigner of is c/o APX Group, Inc. 49
North 300 West, Provo, Utah 846(

1)

(2)

Class A Units
Amount and

Nature of

Beneficial
Name and Address of Beneficial Owne¢ Ownership Percent of Clas
Principal Unitholders:
Blackstone Funds(1)(: 579,077,20 73%
Summit Funds(1)(3 50,000,00 6%
Directors and Named Executive Officers(4)
Todd Pederse 96,479,64 12%
Alex Dunn 9,000,001 1%
David F. ' Alessandrc — —
Bruce McEvoy(5) — —
Joseph Truste — —
Peter Wallace(t — —
Mark Davies — —
Matt Eyring — —
Todd Santiagt 1,500,00! *
All Directors and Executive Officers as a Group filetsons 109,954,64 14%

Indicates less than 1

The limited liability company agreement of Adsjtion LLC (the “LLC Agreement”) provides that theisiness and affairs of Acquisition
LLC will be managed by the Board of Directors, igliy comprised of five members, three of whom el appointed by Blackstone, one
of whom will be appointed by Mr. Pederson, and ofwwhom will be appointed by the Summit Funds, Btatkstone Capital Partners
L.P. (“"BCP VI") acting as managing member (in seelpacity, the “Managing Member”). The Managing Memis an affiliate of
Blackstone and will have the ability to appointatsn successor if it resigns its position as Mangdiember. Effective July 30, 2013,
the Managing Member increased the size of the BoaRirectors from five to six members and appaihkér. D’Alessandro to the Boa
of Directors. Pursuant to the LLC Agreement, MershErAcquisition LLC, including employee membersl| e deemed to have voted
their respective limited liability company interest Acquisition LLC in favor of all actions takday the Board of Directors and the
Managing Member. The Managing Member, the Blackstmtities described below, and Stephen A. Schwamzmay be deemed to
beneficially own all the outstanding shares of camrstock of the Issuer indirectly beneficially owlngy Acquisition LLC, directly held
by its wholly owned indirect subsidiary Parent Gargor and all of the limited liability company inésts in Acquisition LLC. Each of the
Managing Member, such Blackstone entities and Mhw&rzman disclaim beneficial ownership of suchrahaf common stock of the
Issuer and limited liability company interests inqiisition LLC (other than the Blackstone Fund#him extent of their direct holdings
Represents (i) 436,112,143.59 Class A Unitsatliy held by BCP VI, (ii) 2,644,957.26 Class A tnilirectly held by Blackstone Family
Investment Partnership VI—ESC L.P. (“BFIP VI—ES)i) 220,012.15 Class A Units directly held byaBkstone Family Investment
Partnership VI L.P. (“"BFIP VI”) and (iv) 140,100,0€lass A Units directly held by Blackstone VNT @mest, L.P. (“VNT") (BCP VI,
BFIP VI-ESC, BFIP VI and VNT are collectively refed to as the “Blackstone Funds”). BCP VI Side-ligeSGP L.L.C. is the general
partner of each of BFIP VI-ESC and BFIP VI. Bladkst Management Associates VI L.L.C. is the gergainer of each of BCP VI and
VNT. BMA VI L.L.C. is the sole member of BlackstoiManagement Associates VI L.L.C. Blackstone Holdifi§gL.P. is the managing
member of BMA VI L.L.C. and the sole member of B&€PSide-by-Side GP L.L.C. The general partner adidkistone Holdings Il L.P.



is Blackstone Holdings Ill GP L.P. The general partof Blackstone Holdings 11l GP L.P. is Blackstddoldings Ill GP Management
L.L.C. The sole member of Blackstone Holdings IP Glanagement L.L.C. is The Blackstone Group L.Re @éneral partner of The
Blackstone Group L.P. is Blackstone Group ManagermanC. Blackstone Group Management L.L.C. is wholwned by Blackstone’s
senior managing directors and controlled by itsfter, Stephen A. Schwarzman. Each of such Blackstatities and Mr. Schwarzman
may be deemed to beneficially own the limited lisgpcompany interests in Acquisition LLC benefitjaowned by the Blackstone Fun
directly or indirectly controlled by it or him, betch disclaims beneficial ownership of such lichiiability company interests in
Acquisition LLC (other than the Blackstone Fundstte extent of their direct holdings). The addmfssach of Mr. Schwarzman and e:
of the other entities listed in this footnote ie he Blackstone Group L.P., 345 Park Avenue, N@rkYNew York 10154
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(3)

(4)

(5)

Class A Units shown as beneficially owned by Summit Funds (as hereinafter defined) are helth&yollowing entities: (i) Summit
Partners Growth Equity Fund VIII-A, L.P. ("SPGE ¥A") owns 36,490,138.53 Class A Units, (ii) Summit ParsnGrowth Equity Fun
VIII-B, L.P. (“SPGE VIII-B") owns 13,330,631.47 C&a A Units, (iii) Summit Investors I, LLC (“SI”) oms 164,980 Class A Units and
(iv) Summit Investors | (UK), LP (“SI(UK)” and togieer with SPGE VIII-A, SPGE VIII-B and SlI, the “Sumit Funds”) owns 14,250
Class A Units. Summit Partners, L.P. is (i) the aging member of Summit Partners GE VIII, LLC, whishithe general partner of
Summit Partners GE VIII, L.P., which is the gengraiftner of each of Summit Partners Growth Equitgd=VIII-A, L.P. and Summit
Partners Growth Equity Fund VIII-B, L.P., and (e manager of Summit Investors Management, LLG¢hvis the managing member
of Summit Investors I, LLC and the general parmfeBummit Investors | (UK), L.P. Summit PartnersRL, through a three-person
investment committee currently composed of PeteEMung, Bruce R. Evans and Martin J. Mannion, ltisg and dispositive authority
over the Units held by the Summit Funds. Each ohssummit entities and therefore Summit Partnei3, inay be deemed to
beneficially own limited liability company interesin Acquisition LLC beneficially owned by the Suritiunds directly or indirectly
controlled by it, but each disclaims beneficial @nship of such limited liability company interesisAcquisition LLC (other than Sumn
Partners, L.P. and other than the Summit Fundse@xtent of their direct holdings). The addressaath of these entities and Messrs.
Chung, Evans and Mannion is 222 Berkeley Streah Efor, Boston, Massachusetts 021

Certain directors and executive officers alam @rofits interests in Acquisition LLC, having eemmic characteristics similar to stock
appreciation rights, in the form of Class B UnitsAcquisition LLC, as described under “Managementxe&utive Compensation—
Compensation Discussion and Analysis—Long-termrtigce Compensation.” Directors and executive officas a group hold an
aggregate of 63,659,562 Class B Units as of MaiG2Q14.

Messrs. McEvoy and Wallace are each employkafibates of the Blackstone Funds, but each ldises beneficial ownership of the
limited liability company interests in Acquisitidrl. C beneficially owned by the Blackstone Funds. Bderess for Messrs. McEvoy and
Wallace is c/o The Blackstone Group L.P., 345 Parénue, New York, New York 1015
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ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE
Support and Services Agreement

In connection with the Merger, we entered into ppsut and services agreement with Blackstone ManagePartners L.L.C.
(“BMP"), an affiliate of Blackstone. Under the sugypand services agreement, we paid BMP, at th&rgdoof the Merger, an approximately
$20.0 million transaction fee as considerationBMP undertaking due diligence investigations amaficial and structural analysis and
providing corporate strategy and other advice agbtiation assistance in connection with the Merleaddition, we have agreed to reimbt
BMP for any out-of-pocket expenses incurred by Bafid its affiliates and to indemnify BMP and itsilédfes and related parties, in each case
in connection with the Transactions and the prowisif services under the support and services aggee

Monitoring Services and Fees

In addition, under this agreement, we have eng&d4# to provide, directly or indirectly, monitoringdvisory and consulting
services that may be requested by us in the foligwireas: (a) advice regarding the structure,ibligion and timing of debt and equity
offerings and advice regarding relationships witin lenders and bankers, (b) advice regarding tiuetsiring and implementation of equity
participation plans, employee benefit plans anéoithcentive arrangements for certain of our kegceives, (c) general advice regarding
dispositions and/or acquisitions, (d) advice regaydhe strategic direction of our business, ofeRafGuarantor, of the Surviving Company and
such other advice directly related or ancillargite above advisory services as may be reasonaiphgsted by us. These services will generall
be provided until the first to occur of (i) the teranniversary of the closing date of the Merges@mber 16, 2022), (ii) the date of a first
underwritten public offering of shares of our commstock listed on the New York Stock Exchange osdéa’s national market system for
aggregate proceeds of at least $150 million (a®")Rand (iii) the date upon which Blackstone owesd than 9.9% of our common stock or
that of our direct or indirect controlling paremidasuch stock has a fair market value (as detedigeBlackstone) of less than $25 million
(each of the events specified in clauses (i) thina{ii) above, the “Exit Date”).

In consideration for the monitoring services weéhpaid BMP, at the closing of the Merger, a moiigifee (for advisory services
to the provided by BMP during the remainder of 8012 fiscal year) and will pay at the beginningath subsequent fiscal year a monitoring
fee (for advisory services to be provided by BMPimty such fiscal year). The monitoring fee paidhat closing of the Transactions was $0.7
million (which amount is equal to $2.7 million pated based on the portion of fiscal 2012 which oetliafter the Transactions). The
monitoring fee payable for monitoring services ity gaubsequent fiscal year of ours will be equahtgreater of (i) a minimum base fee of
$2.7 million (the “Minimum Annual Fee”), subject &mljustment as summarized below if we engage insbss combination or disposition
that is “significant” (as defined in the Supportla®ervices Agreement) and (ii) the amount of thaitocing fee paid in respect of the
immediately preceding fiscal year, without regardhe post-fiscal year “true-up” adjustment desaliin the paragraph below (which will not
yet have occurred at the time the annual monitdieegs paid). We refer to the adjusted monitofigfor any fiscal year of the Survivii
Company as the “Monitoring Fee” for such fiscaliyea

In the case of a significant business combinatiogigposition, if 1.5% of our pro forma consolidhteBITDA (as defined in the
Support and Services Agreement) after giving effetche business combination or disposition excémdhe case of a business combination)
or is less than (in the case of a disposition}iiea-current Monitoring Fee, the Monitoring Feetfoe year in which the significant business
combination or disposition occurs will be adjustgavard or downward, respectively, by the amourguah excess or shortfall, with such
adjustment prorated based on the remaining fytlaotial fiscal quarters remaining in our then-catréscal year. We will pay upward
adjustments to the Monitoring Fee promptly uponilabdity of the pro forma income statement preghire respect of such business
combination. Downward adjustments to the Monitorreg will be effected through a rebate of the f&@id po BMP in that fiscal year.
Subsequently, the Minimum Annual Fee applicablilidiscal years following any significant busireesombination or disposition will be
equal to 1.5% of our pro forma consolidated EBITBEger giving effect to the business combinationligposition (subject to further
adjustments for subsequent significant businesdawtions and dispositions). However, in all ca@eduding in the case of a current-year
rebate described above), the Monitoring Fee wiliagls be at least $2.7 million and in no event witebate for a downward adjustment result
in BMP retaining a monitoring fee of less than $&iflion for monitoring services in respect of gogrticular fiscal year.

In addition to the adjustments to the Minimum Anine@e and the Monitoring Fee in connection witm#igant business
combinations or dispositions and the related paysnenrebates described above, there may be atjigstanents to the Monitoring Fee based
on projected consolidated EBITDA and a post-figesdr “true-up.” If 1.5% of our projected consoliddtEBITDA, as first presented to our
board of directors by senior management durindasiethird of such fiscal year, is projected toesa the amount of the monitoring fee alread
paid to BMP in respect of monitoring services dubé rendered during that fiscal year, we will BP the amount of such excess as an
upward adjustment to the Monitoring Fee within tiusiness days of such presentation. Following timepdetion of each applicable fiscal yt
and within deadlines required by our revolving d@réatility, our chief financial officer will cerfy to BMP the amount of our consolidated
EBITDA for such fiscal year. If 1.5% of such ceigil consolidated EBITDA is greater than the Monitgr-ee previously paid to BMP for
monitoring services rendered during that fiscalryeecluding the adjustment in respect of projedRITDA described above), we will, jointly
and severally, pay BMP the amount of such excedsmtwo business days of such certification. §%.of such certified consolidated
EBITDA is less than the monitoring fee previousbichto BMP for services rendered during that figer (including the adjustment in resg
of projected consolidated EBITDA described abotted,amount of such shortfall will be applied agedit against the next payment by us of
the Monitoring Fee to BMP. However, BMP will alwalys entitled to retain the Minimum Annual Fee antim effect and BMP will have no
obligation to rebate any amount that would resuBMP having been paid Monitoring Fees for monitgrservices in an amount less than the
Minimum Annual Fee applicable to the relevant fisesar.



Upon (i) an IPO, or (ii) the date upon which Blackse owns less than 50% of the common stock o€drapany or its direct or
indirect controlling parent, and such stock haaiarharket value (as determined by Blackstonegs$ ithan $25 million, we will pay to BMP a
milestone payment equal to the present value dflafiitoring Fee payments that, absent such eventrdog, would otherwise have accrued
and been payable through the tenth anniversatyeofiate of the support and services agreement lo@sthe continued payment of a
Monitoring Fee in an amount equal to the then-applie estimate for the Monitoring Fee for the fisaar of the Surviving Company in which
such event occurs, discounted at a rate equaétgi¢hd to maturity on the close of business onséneond business day immediately preceding
the date the payment is payable of the class standing U.S. government bonds having a final nitgtalosest to such tenth anniversary date

Portfolio Operations Support and Other Services

Under the support and services agreement, we heiveactively to September 16, 2012 (the date efithnsaction agreement
relating to the Merger) and through the Exit Daegn earlier date determined by BMP), engaged Bdvirange for Blackstone’s portfolio
operations group to provide support services cuatitynprovided by Blackstone’s portfolio operatiogi®up to Blackstone’s private equity
portfolio companies of a type and amount determimeduch portfolio services group to be warranted @ppropriate. BMP will invoice us for
such services based on the time spent by the r@leeasonnel providing such services during thdiegiple period and Blackstone’s allocated
costs of such personnel, but in no event shall eveliligated to pay more than $1.5 million during aalendar year; this cap has been prorate
for 2012 for the portion of 2012 occurring aftee tderger.

Investor Securityholders’ Agreement

In connection with the closing of the Merger, 318géisition LLC and the Parent Guarantor enteread énSecurityholders’
Agreement (the “Securityholders’ Agreement”) witletinvestors. The Securityholders’ Agreement govesrtain matters relating to
ownership of 313 Acquisition LLC and the Parent fam¢or, including with respect to the election akdtors of our parent companies, tran:
of shares, including tag-along rights and drag-gloghts, other special corporate governance pimvisand registration rights (including
customary indemnification provisions).
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Other

Prior to 2013, we used a corporate plane ownechtsntity which was partially owned by us and certafi our shareholders. Duri
the Successor Period and Predecessor Period, wieddexpenses of approximately $0.03 million ahdl$nillion, respectively, related to this
arrangement. In addition, we established a chagit@ndation wherein we collect employee donationatch employee donations from time
to time, donate discretionary amounts and remitnalhies to the foundation, net of certain emplogee miscellaneous costs that we incur on
their behalf. During the year ended December 31320hd the Predecessor Period ended November 18, @@ incurred expenses of
approximately $2.0 million and $0.8 million, respeely. Expenses related to the foundation durlmgy$uccessor Period ended December 31
2012 and the year ended December 31, 2011 werggmoficant. Finally, we recognized revenue of apgmately $6.6 million during the
Predecessor Period ended November 16, 2012, feidimg monitoring services for contracts owned byckholders and employees of the
Company. See Note 15 to our audited consolidatezhéiial statements for additional information.

We engage in transactions with Solar in the ordiraurse of our business and provide to Solar icea@ministrative, managerial
and account management services. We also licenséncmtellectual property to Solar. In additiome sublease corporate office space to S

In addition, in December of 2012, we entered in§2@.0 million subordinated note and loan agreemétht Solar, which was
subsequently amended in July of 2013. Pursuatieteibordinated note and loan agreement, we hagedtp provide revolving borrowings
to Solar of up to $20.0 million from time to timati maturity which is January 1, 2016 or the earbccurrence of a change of control or an
event of default. Borrowings under the subordinatetd and loan agreement accrue interest, payaliied, at a rate per annum of 7.5%. Sola
may prepay borrowings under the subordinated nodd@an agreement at any time without penadtgyvidedthat Solar may not make any c:
payment of principal or interest unless and uritis@nior debt of Solar has been discharged. ABexfember 31, 2013, the principal and
payment-in-kind interest amount outstanding unbderSolar loan was $21.3 million.

Procedures with Respect to Review and Approval of &ated Person Transactions

From time to time, we may do business with certaimpanies affiliated with Blackstone. The boardioéctors has not adopted a
formal written policy for the review and approvélt@ansactions with related persons. However, thexrdb of directors reviews and approves
transactions with related persons as appropriate.

ITEM 14.  PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES
Disclosure of Fees Paid to Independent RegisterediBlic Accounting Firm

Aggregate fees billed to the Company for the fisesr ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 repres=nbiéed by the Company’s
principal independent registered public accountirrg, Ernst & Young LLP.

Year Ended
Fee Categor 2013 2012
Audit Fees (a) $ 970,75( $ 913,42
Audit-Related Fees (I — —
Total Audit and Aud-Related Fee 970,75( 913,42¢
Tax Fees (c 152,00( 21,11¢
All Other Fees (d 361,50( 1,575,28!
Total $1,484,25I $2,509,82!

(@) Audit Fees primarily consisted of audit workfpemed for the preparation of the Company’s anmaalsolidated financial statements anc
reviews of interim consolidated financial infornmatiand in connection with regulatory filing

(b) Audit-Related Fees consisted primarily of fees paid éopanting consultation services related to varjonagects.

(c) Tax Fees included tax compliance, planning and augervices

(d) All Other Fees consisted primarily of fees paidtielg to the Transactions and the issuance of

The audit committee pre-approves all audit and awadit services provided by its independent registgublic accounting firm. Tl
audit committee considered whether the non-audiices rendered by Ernst & Young LLP were compatilth maintaining Ernst & Young
LLP’s independence as the independent registerblicpaccounting firm of the Company’s consolidafedncial statements and concluded
they were.
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ITEM 15.

Exhibit
No.

3.1

3.2

3.3

3.4

4.1

4.2

4.3

4.4

4.5

4.6

4.7

4.8

4.9

4.1C

10.1

PART IV

EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
(a) Exhibits

Description

Fourth Amended and Restated Certificate of Incation of APX Group, Inc. (incorporated by referetaé=xhibit 3.1 to the
Registration Statement on Form S-4 of APX Groupdigs, Inc. and the other registrants listed time¢€ile Number: 333-
191132))

Bylaws of the APX Group, Inc. (incorporated by refece to Exhibit 3.2 to the Registration StatentenEForm S-4 of APX Group
Holdings, Inc. and the other registrants listeddahe(File Number: 33-191132))

Certificate of Incorporation of APX Group Holdindac. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.3He Registration Statement on
Form &4 of APX Group Holdings, Inc. and the other regists listed therein (File Number: -191132))

Bylaws of APX Group Holdings, Inc. (incorporated igference to Exhibit 3.4 to the Registration Steget on Form S-4 of APX
Group Holdings, Inc. and the other registrantgtigherein (File Number: 3-191132))

Indenture, dated as of November 16, 2012, among &RXIp, Inc., the guarantors named therein and Wgton Trust, National
Association, as trustee, relating to the Compa6y835% Senior Secured Notes due 2019 (incorpofatedference to Exhibit 4.1
to the Registration Statement on Form S-4 of APXuprHoldings, Inc. and the other registrants ligtemtein (File Number: 333-
191132))

First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of Dece@®e?012, among 313 Aviation, LLC and Wilmingtorust, National
Association, as trustee, relating to the Compa6yd35% Senior Secured Notes due 2019 (incorpotatedference to Exhibit 4.2
to the Registration Statement on Form S-4 of AP¥uprHoldings, Inc. and the other registrants ligtestein (File Number: 333-
191132))

Second Supplemental Indenture, dated as of Maga¥3, among Vivint Wireless, Inc. and Wilmingtoru$t, National
Association, as trustee, relating to the Compa6y835% Senior Secured Notes due 2019 (incorpofatedference to Exhibit 4.3
to the Registration Statement on Form S-4 of APXuprHoldings, Inc. and the other registrants ligtemtein (File Number: 333-
191132))

Form of Note relating to Company’s 6.375% Seniczused Notes due 2019 (attached as exhibit to Ex4il) (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.4 to the Registration Staetron Form S-4 of APX Group Holdings, Inc. and otieer registrants listed
therein (File Number: 3:-191132))

Indenture, dated as of November 16, 2012, among &RXp, Inc., the guarantors named therein and Wgton Trust, National
Association, as trustee, relating to the Compa8y’$% Senior Notes due 2020 (incorporated by rateréo Exhibit 4.5 to the
Registration Statement on Form S-4 of APX Groupdigs, Inc. and the other registrants listed time¢€ile Number: 333-
191132))

First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of Dece@®e?012, among 313 Aviation, LLC and Wilmingtorust, National
Association, as trustee, relating to the Compa8y7$% Senior Notes due 2020 (incorporated by raterd¢o Exhibit 4.6 to the
Registration Statement on Form S-4 of APX Groupditgs, Inc. and the other registrants listed time¢€ile Number: 333-
191132))

Second Supplemental Indenture, dated as of Mag@#3, among Vivint Wireless, Inc. and Wilmingtoru$t, National
Association, as trustee, relating to the Compa8y’$% Senior Notes due 2020 (incorporated by rateréo Exhibit 4.7 to the
Registration Statement on Form S-4 of APX Groupdigs, Inc. and the other registrants listed time¢€ile Number: 333-
191132))

Third Supplemental Indenture, dated as of May ®132among APX Group, Inc., the guarantors namereth and Wilmington
Trust, National Association, as trustee, relatmghe Company 8.75% Senior Notes due 2020 (incorporated byerée to Exhib
4.8 to the Registration Statement on Form S-4 of &Poup Holdings, Inc. and the other registrarggelil therein (File Number:
333-191132))

Fourth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of Deced®e?2013, among APX Group, Inc., the guarantorseththerein and
Wilmington Trust, National Association, as trustedating to the Company'’s 8.75% Senior Notes di@Zincorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Current Report omf-&-K of APX Group Holdings, Inc. (File Number: 3-19113:-02))

Form of Note relating to Company’s 8.75% Senioré$adue 2020 (attached as exhibit to Exhibit 4r&§diiporated by reference to
Exhibit 4.9 to the Registration Statement on Forth@& APX Group Holdings, Inc. and the other regiats listed therein (File
Number: 33-191132))

Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, deted June 28, 2013 among APX Group, Inc., therajlnarantors party thereto,
Bank of America, N.A., as Administrative Agent ah@ other lenders and parties thereto (incorporaye@ference to Exhibit 10.1



10.2

10.3

10.4

to the Registration Statement on Form S-4 of APX¥uprHoldings, Inc. and the other registrants ligtestein (File Number: 333-
191132))

Security Agreement, dated as of November 16, 28tng the grantors named therein and Bank of AmeNcA., as
Administrative Agent (incorporated by referenceesdnibit 10.2 to the Registration Statement on F&#h of APX Group Holdings,
Inc. and the other registrants listed therein (Rilanber: 33-191132))

Security Agreement, dated as of November 16, 28@ing the grantors named therein and Wilmingtors{T National
Association, as Collateral Agent (incorporated &fgrence to Exhibit 10.3 to the Registration Staeinon Form St of APX Groug
Holdings, Inc. and the other registrants listeddhe(File Number: 33-191132))

Intercreditor Agreement and Collateral Agency Agneat, dated as of November 16, 2012, among 313p3ray, the other
grantors named therein, Bank of America, N.A., esd@ Agreement Collateral Agent, Wilmington TruNftional Association, as
Notes Collateral Agent, and each Additional Coliatégent from time to time party thereto (incoratad by reference to Exhit
10.4 to the Registration Statement on Form S-4RXA&roup Holdings, Inc. and the other registraistedl therein (File Number:
33:-191132))
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Exhibit
No.

10.5

10.6**

10.7**

10.8**

10.9**

10.10*

10.11**

10.12**

10.13*

12.1*
21.1*
31.1*

31.2*

32.1*

32.2*

99.1*
101.1*

Description

Transaction Agreement, dated September 16, 201&nh8ymong 313 Acquisition LLC, 313 Group, Inc.3&olar, Inc., 313
Technologies, Inc., APX Group, Inc., V Solar Holgtn Inc. and 2GIG Technologies, Inc. (incorpordigdeference to Exhibit
2.1 to the Registration Statement on Form S-4 of APoup Holdings, Inc. and the other registrargtelil therein

(File Number: 33-191132))

Management Subscription Agreement (Co-InvestmeritsYdated as of November 16, 2012, between 3Xisiion LLC and
Todd Pedersen (incorporated by reference to Exhibi to the Registration Statement on Form SARX Group Holdings,
Inc. and the other registrants listed therein (Rilenber: 33-191132))

Management Subscription Agreement (Co-Investmeritis)dated as of November 16, 2012, between 3X1isiion LLC and
Alex Dunn (incorporated by reference to Exhibit6lth the Registration Statement on Form S-4 of AR¥up Holdings, Inc.
and the other registrants listed therein (File NemB3:-191132))

Management Subscription Agreement (Incentive Unitajed as of November 16, 2012, between AcquislticC and Todd
Pedersen (incorporated by reference to Exhibit idtfie Registration Statement on Form S-4 of AREUp Holdings, Inc. and
the other registrants listed therein (File Numi3&3-191132))

Management Subscription Agreement (Incentive Unitajed as of November 16, 2012, between AcquislticC and Alex
Dunn (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8n® Registration Statement on Form S-4 of APX Grdoflings, Inc. and the
other registrants listed therein (File Number:-191132))

Form of Management Subscription Agreement (Incentiwits) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 11d.%he Registration
Statement on Form-4 of APX Group Holdings, Inc. and the other regists listed therein (File Number: :-191132))

Form of Management Subscription Agreement (Co-ltnaeat Units) (incorporated by reference to Exhilfit10 to the
Registration Statement on Form S-4 of APX Groupdigs, Inc. and the other registrants listed time¢€ile Number: 333-
191132))

313 Acquisition LLC Unit Plan dated as of Novemfiér 2012 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1Gd the Registration
Statement on Form-4 of APX Group Holdings, Inc. and the other regists listed therein (File Number: :-191132))

Form of Aircraft Time-Sharing Agreement (incorpe@tby reference to Exhibit 10.12 to the Registratatement on Form S-4
of APX Group Holdings, Inc. and the other registsdisted therein (File Number 3-193639))

Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Char
Subsidiaries of APX Group, In

Certification of the Registrant’s Chief Executivéfi€er, Todd Pedersen, pursuant to Rule 13a-1%h@ecurities Exchange Act
of 1934

Certification of the Registrant’s Chief FinancidifiCer, Mark Davies, pursuant to Rule 13a-14 of 8exurities Exchange Act of
1934

Certification of the Registrarg’Chief Executive Officer, Todd Pedersen, purstad8 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted purs
to Section 906 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of 200z

Certification of the Registrarst’Chief Financial Officer, Mark Davies, pursuanfi®U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursue
Section 906 of the Sarbal-Oxley Act of 2002

Section 13(r) Disclosur

The following materials are formatted in XBRL (eXg#ble Business Reporting Language): (i) the Codat#d Balance Sheets,
(ii) the Consolidated Statements of Operationg,ttie Consolidated Statements of Comprehensivs,L(©g the Consolidated
Statements of Changes in Equity, (v) the Consddi&tatements of Cash Flows, (vi) Notes to Conatdidl Financial
Statements, and (vii) document and entity infororat{A)

* Filed herewith

**  |dentifies exhibits that consist of a managementreat or compensatory plan or arrangem

(A) Pursuant to Rule 406T of Regulation S-T, thietactive Data files on Exhibit 101.1 hereto arerded not filed or part of a registration
statement or prospectus for purposes of Sectioms 12 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amendesidaemed not filed for purposes of
Section 18 of the Securities and Exchange Act 8418s amended, and otherwise are not subje@hiity under those section

(b) Financial Statement Schedu
Financial schedules are omitted because they darm@ppdicable or not required, or because the in&diom is included herein in our
financial statements and/or the notes related there
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regiigthas duly caused this report
to be signed on its behalf by the undersignedeti@o duly authorized.

APX GROUP HOLDINGS, INC

By: /s/ MARK DAVIES

Mark Davies
Chief Financial Office
Date: March 24, 201

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed bbélpthe following persons on
behalf of the registrant and in the capacities@mthe dates indicated.

Signature Title Date
By: /s/ TODD PEDERSEN Chief Executive Officer and March 24, 2014
Todd Pederse Director (Principal Executive Officer)
By: /sl MARK DAVIES Chief Financial Officer March 24, 2014
Mark Davies (Principal Financial Officer)
By: /s/ PATRICK KELLIHER Chief Accounting Officer March 24, 2014
Patrick Kelliher (Principal Accounting Officer)
By: /sl  ALEX DUNN President and Director March 24, 2014
Alex Dunn
By: /s DAVID F. D’ALESSANDRO Director March 24, 2014

David F. [’ Alessandrc¢

By: /sl BRUCE MCEVOY Director March 24, 2014
Bruce McEvoy

By: /sl JOSEPH TRUSTEY Director March 24, 2014
Joseph Truste

By: /sl PETER WALLACE Director March 24, 2014
Peter Wallact
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Exhibit 12.1
COMPUTATION OF RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES

Successo Predecesso Predecesso
Period from Period from
November 17
January 1, Year Ended December 31
through through
December December November
31, 31, 16,
2013 2012 2012 2011 2010 2009

(dollars in thousands, except ratios

Fixed Charges:
Interest expens $114,47¢ $ 12,64 $106,62( $102,06¢ $69,53: $41,82:
Capitalized interes — — — — — —
Portion of rental expense which represents interest

factor (1) 2,02¢ 217 1,64¢ 1,67¢ 1,46( 64C
Total Fixed Charge $116,500 $ 12,86: $108,26¢ $103,74' $70,99. $42,46:
Earnings available for fixed charges:;
Pretax loss from continuing operatic (120,92) (41,009 (149,679 (63,227 (24,639 (48,219
Distributed equity income of affiliated compan — 21€ 6 39 15 134
Add: Fixed Charge 116,50: 12,86: 108,26 103,74! 70,99 42,46
Total Earnings available for fixed charg $ (441 $ (27,92) $ (41,399 $ 40,557 $46,370 $ (5,62)
Earnings for the period were insufficient to cofired
charges by the following amoun $(120,92) $ (40,789 $(149,66¢) $(63,18Y) $(24,627) $(48,08¢)
Ratio of earnings to fixed charges NM NM NM NM NM NM

(1) Represents the portion of rental expense deemiee attributable to intere
(2) NM - Not meaningfu



Name

Subsidiaries of APX Group, Inc.

Jurisdiction of Incorporation / Organization

Exhibit 21.1

313 Aviation, LLC

ARM Security, Inc.

Vivint, Inc.

Vivint Purchasing, LLC

AP AL LLC

Vivint Wireless, Inc.

Vivint Canada, Inc

Vivint Servicing, LLC

Vivint Funding US LLC
Vivint Funding Holdings LLC
Vivint Funding LLC

Vivint Funding GP Holdings Canada Ir
Vivint Funding Canada GP In
Vivint Funding Canada L!
Vivint Louisiana LLC

Vivint New Zealand Ltd

IPR, LLC

Farmington IP, LLC

Utah
Utah
Utah
Utah
Delaware
Delaware
Canade
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Ontario
Ontario
Ontario
Louisiana
New Zealanc
Delaware
Delaware



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF PERIODIC REPORT UNDER SECTION 302 OF
THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Todd Pedersen, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 1fdikthe year ended December 31, 2013 of APX Groaldidgs, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notador@ny untrue statement of a material fact or dméttate a material fact necessary to mak
the statements made, in light of the circumstanoger which such statements were made, not misigadih respect to the period covered by
this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statemeamis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations aadh flows of the registrant as of, and for, thegoks presented in this report;

4. The registran$ other certifying officer and | are responsibledstablishing and maintaining disclosure contamid procedures (as definet
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) foreéhéstrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedaresused such disclosure controls and procedaoites designed under our supervision, tc
ensure that material information relating to thgistrant, including its consolidated subsidiarissnade known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in whidtig report is being prepared;

b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registragisslosure controls and procedures and presentisineport our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proees] as of the end of the period covered by #psit based on such evaluation; and

c¢) Disclosed in this report any change in the tegig’s internal control over financial reportirttat occurred during the registrant’s most recer
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal qeaiin the case of an annual report) that has madlieaffected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal comaer financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer antdve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatimiernal control over financial reporting,
to the registrant’s auditors and the audit commititthe registrant’s board of directors (or pessperforming the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal comvelr financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regisfeaability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invaveanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: March 24, 2014

/s/ Todd Pedersen

Todd Pederse

Chief Executive Officer and Directt
(Principal Executive Officer




Exhibit 31.Z

CERTIFICATION OF PERIODIC REPORT UNDER SECTION 302 OF
THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Mark Davies, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 1fdikthe year ended December 31, 2013 of APX Groaldidgs, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notador@ny untrue statement of a material fact or dméttate a material fact necessary to mak
the statements made, in light of the circumstanoger which such statements were made, not misigadih respect to the period covered by
this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statemeamis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations aadh flows of the registrant as of, and for, thegoks presented in this report;

4. The registran$ other certifying officer and | are responsibledstablishing and maintaining disclosure contamid procedures (as definet
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) foreéhéstrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedaresused such disclosure controls and procedaoites designed under our supervision, tc
ensure that material information relating to thgistrant, including its consolidated subsidiarissnade known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in whidtig report is being prepared;

b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registragisslosure controls and procedures and presentisineport our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proees] as of the end of the period covered by #psit based on such evaluation; and

c¢) Disclosed in this report any change in the tegig’s internal control over financial reportirttat occurred during the registrant’s most recer
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal qeaiin the case of an annual report) that has madlieaffected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal comaer financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer antdve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatimiernal control over financial reporting,
to the registrant’s auditors and the audit commititthe registrant’s board of directors (or pessperforming the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal comvelr financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regisfeaability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invaveanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: March 24, 2014

/s/ Mark Davies

Mark Davies

Chief Financial Office
(Principal Financial Officer




Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of APX Groupl#ings, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form ¥0for the year ended December 31, 2013 1
with the Securities and Exchange Commission ord#tte hereof (the “Report”), I, Todd Pedersen, Chiagdcutive Officer and Director of the
Company, do hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S&£&tiSn 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 9@tecbarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

» The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh1934; anc
e The information contained in the Report faphgsents, in all material respects, the finana@aldition and results of operations of the
Company for the periods presented ther

Date: March 24, 2014

/s/ Todd Pedersen
Todd Pederse
Chief Executive Officer and Director
(Principal Executive Officer




Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of APX Groupl#ings, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form ¥0for the year ended December 31, 2013 1
with the Securities and Exchange Commission ord#tte hereof (the “Report”), I, Mark Davies, Chiéfdncial Officer of the Company, do
hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1380adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarlaxley Act of 2002, that:

» The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh1934; anc
e The information contained in the Report faphgsents, in all material respects, the finana@aldition and results of operations of the
Company for the periods presented ther

Date: March 24, 2014

/s/ Mark Davies
Mark Davies
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer




Exhibit 99.1

Section 13(r) Disclosure

The disclosures with respect to the fiscal quartarded September 30, 2013 and December 31, 204&dweged below were included in
our periodic report filed with the Securities anddiange Commission (the “SEC”) and/or otherwiselmlypfiled in accordance with
Section 13(r) of the Securities Exchange Act o#4183 amended. Travelport Limited may be considetedffiliate. We have not
independently verified or participated in the pregi#on of any of these disclosures.

Form 100 for the fiscal guarter ended September 30, 2013

Travelport Limited, which may be considered ouiliatke, included the disclosure reproduced belowsr-orm 10Q for the fiscal quarte
ended September 30, 2013. We have not independaartfied or participated in the preparation ofthisclosure.

“The following activities are disclosed as requi®dSection 13(r)(1)(D)(iii) of the Exchange Act.

As part of our global business in the travel indyswe provide certain passenger travel related @B&Airline IT Solutions services to
Iran Air. We also provide certain Airline IT Solatis services to Iran Air Tours. All of these seegi@re either exempt from applicable
sanctions prohibitions pursuant to a statutory gtem in the International Emergency Economic P@Meet permitting transactions
ordinarily incident to travel or, to the extent mtherwise exempt, specifically licensed by the.WDSice of Foreign Assets Control
(“OFAC"). Subject to any changes in the exemptfAmed status of such activities, we intend to caomtithese business activities, which
are directly related to and promote the arrangermk&mavel for individuals.

The gross revenue and net profit attributable és¢hactivities in the quarter ended September@®IB %ere approximately $164,000 and
$122,000, respectively.”

Form 10K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2013

Travelport Limited, which may be considered ouiliafle, included the disclosure reproduced belowtsi-orm 10-K for the fiscal year
ended December 31, 2013. We have not independeifjed or participated in the preparation of tHisclosure.

“The following activities are disclosed as requil®dSection 13(r)(1)(D)(iii) of the Exchange Act.

As part of our global business in the travel indysie provide certain passenger travel-related @Bbairline IT services to Iran Air.
We also provide certain airline IT services to IfanTours. All of these services are either exeffnpin applicable sanctions prohibitions
pursuant to a statutory exemption permitting tratisas ordinarily incident to travel or, to the emt not otherwise exempt, specifically
licensed by the U.S. Office of Foreign Assets CalnBubject to any changes in the exempt/licentsds of such activities, we intend to
continue these business activities, which are thireelated to and promote the arrangement of triorandividuals.

The gross revenue and net profit attributable ésé¢hactivities in 2013 were approximately $592,808 $435,000, respective”



